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PART I.
 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
 
Forward-Looking Statements
 
In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes certain “forward-looking statements.” Forward –looking
statements represent our beliefs regarding future events, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and outside of our control.
These forward-looking statements include, in particular, statements about our plans, strategies and prospects. When used in this report, the
words “expect,” “may,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “seek” and similar expressions, as well as statements regarding our focus
for the future, are forward-looking statements. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by
these forward-looking statements are reasonable, these forward-looking statements rely on assumptions and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that may cause our actual results to vary from our expected results.
 
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements we make in this Form 10-K are
set forth in “Item 1. Business,” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of
this Form 10-K. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” included
in Item 1. All forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the
cautionary statements found in the sections mentioned above. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update or revise our
forward-looking statements.
 
Overview
 
Global Power Equipment Group Inc. (referred to herein as “we,” “us,” “our,” “GPEG” and the “Company”) is a global designer, engineer
and fabricator of a comprehensive portfolio of equipment for gas turbine power plants and power-related equipment for industrial
operations, with over 30 years of power generation industry experience. We believe that we are a leader in our industry, offering one of the
broadest ranges of gas turbine power plant and other power-related equipment in the world. Management believes the Company holds the
number one or number two market position by sales in a majority of its product lines. Our equipment is installed in power plants and in
industrial operations in more than 40 countries on six continents. We believe that we have one of the largest installed bases of equipment
for power generation in the world. In addition, we provide our customers with value-added services including engineering, retrofit and
upgrade, and maintenance and repair.
 
We sell our products to the gas turbine power generation market. Our products are critical to the efficient operation of gas turbine power
plants and are highly engineered to meet customer-specific requirements. Our products include:
 

•      heat recovery steam generators;  •      exhaust systems;

•      filter houses;  •      diverter dampers;

•      inlet systems;  •      specialty boilers and related products; and

•      gas turbine, steam turbine, and generator enclosures;  •      industrial boilers.
 
We market and sell our products globally under the Deltak, Braden and Consolidated Fabricators brand names through our worldwide sales
network.
 
We fabricate our equipment through a combination of in-house manufacturing at our own factories in the United States, Mexico and China
and through extensive outsourcing relationships around the world. Our network of high-quality international manufacturing partners,
located in nearly 20 countries, allows us to manufacture equipment for power plant projects and power-related equipment worldwide at
competitive prices. Our international manufacturing partners enable us to meet increasing demand without being restricted by internal
manufacturing capacity limitations, thus minimizing our capital expenditure requirements. Our own facilities coupled with these external
manufacturing subcontractors also allow us to meet our customers’ global sourcing initiatives and provide localized supply sources. This
structure enables us to maintain relatively low fixed costs, which provides a significant benefit during times of decreased demand and to
rapidly increase manufacturing capacity in periods of increasing demand.
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We believe our proprietary design and engineering capabilities differentiate us from our competitors. By providing high-quality products
on a timely basis and offering a broad range of equipment for gas turbine power plants from a single company, we have forged
longstanding relationships with the leading power industry participants, including General Electric, Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Siemens-
Westinghouse and power generating companies within the United States and abroad.
 
2004 Developments
 
During 2004, approximately 82 percent of our revenues were from sales of equipment and services for gas turbine power plants. The
remaining 18 percent of our revenues were derived from the sale of industrial boilers in China and specialty boiler systems for co-
generation applications and for process industries. Approximately 40 percent of our revenues in 2004 were from sales in North America.
 
Beginning in late 2001 and continuing through 2004, the health of the U.S. merchant electrical generation industry deteriorated significantly
as falling power prices, coupled with sharply higher natural gas costs and reduced access to capital gave rise to postponements and
cancellations of planned new power generation capacity inside the United States. The cancellation of new electrical generation projects
inside the United States during 2002 and 2003 affected our order bookings during 2003 and into early 2004, which had a negative impact
on our revenue and earnings during 2004. At the time we receive an order representing a commitment from a customer (a “booking”), that
order is added to our backlog. During the second half of 2004, demand from international markets improved significantly boosting our
2004 bookings to $365.4 million, compared to approximately $167.2 million in 2003 and $305.1 million in 2002. Because of the improved
demand from international customers, our firm backlog at the end of December 2004 stood at $308.9 million, compared to $178.5 million
at the end of 2003. International orders in our firm backlog at the end of 2004 represented approximately 70 percent of the total compared
to 56 percent at the end of 2003 and 25 percent at the end of 2002.
 
A number of factors contributed to the improved market activity during 2004 including continued strong economic growth across Asia,
particularly in China where electricity shortages are prevalent. As a result of the widespread shortage of electricity, the Chinese
Government has taken deliberate steps to increase the supply of electricity, much of which is based upon natural gas. The commissioning of
a new natural gas pipeline across China during late 2004, the first of its kind in that country, is contributing to a growing demand for natural
gas-fired power plants. In addition to China, demand for new power generation produced significant orders for the Company during 2004
from the Middle East, including Iraq, and from regions around the globe including Europe and North America.
 
In addition to restructuring charges discussed in Item 7 of this Form 10-K, rapidly rising costs for steel during 2004 impacted our gross
margin and significantly reduced our profitability. We purchase a significant quantity of steel in varying grades, shapes and form required
to manufacture our products. On average, steel is the single largest input cost and as a result, if we are unable to pass through higher than
expected costs in the period between developing a proposal and purchasing the steel upon receiving an award, our profitability can be
sharply reduced. Such was the case during 2004 when prices for all grades of steel, particularly stainless steel, rose much faster than we or
others anticipated. The benchmark price for hot rolled flat plate steel, which we use in a variety of our products, as published by MEPS
International, more than doubled from the end of 2003 to the end of 2004, rising from $367 per metric ton in December 2003 to $750 per
metric ton in December 2004. During the course of the year, neither we nor our customers, fully contemplated such sharp increases for this
vital input. As a consequence, we were not able to fully recoup the increased costs for steel and ultimately, our gross product margins
declined sharply.
 
Since no futures market exists for steel, it is difficult to implement forward hedging programs to purchase steel that we may require on any
given project on which we bid. Additionally, given the competitive nature of the bidding process, we have chosen not to speculate on steel
prices by placing large quantities of steel into inventory in anticipation that we may win any particular award. During the later part of 2004,
we implemented various programs to minimize the impact of rising steel costs, including working more closely with our suppliers, our
manufacturing partners and our customers. We are evaluating other steps to minimize the impact of rising steel costs. As an example, we
have shortened the time between proposal and order acceptance on projects that we pursue. At the beginning of 2005, we remain vulnerable
to rising steel costs and believe our gross margins will remain lower than our average rate for the last several years. If and when steel prices
stabilize and then decline, we believe the pressure on our gross margin will subside. However, given the volume of lower margin jobs that
were booked into our backlog during late 2004, we believe it could take several quarters for our profitability to improve given the impact of
higher than expected steel costs and the related competitive market conditions.
 
On November 23, 2004, we entered into a Purchase Agreement with Williams Group International LLC, a Georgia limited liability
company, to purchase all of the outstanding limited liability company interests of three Georgia limited liability companies, which we refer
to collectively as Williams Industrial Services Group, or “WISG.” Founded in 1958, Williams Industrial Services Group provides routine
and specialty maintenance services to firms engaged in power generation, pulp and paper manufacturing and to
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government agencies, primarily the Department of Energy. Approximately 80% of WISG’s annual revenue is derived from services
provided to firms in power generation and includes work at nuclear power plants, coal-fired power plants and other fossil fuel plants as
well as hydro-based generating facilities.
 
The purchase price will consist of an “Equity Purchase Price” payable at closing and a “Deferred Purchase Price.” The Equity Purchase
Price is $65.0 million, subject to certain customary adjustments. The Deferred Purchase Price will range from zero to $0.9 million and will
be payable by us in cash in 2006. The Deferred Purchase Price is contingent on the attainment by WISG of certain gross profit targets for
2005.
 
On November 23, 2004, we completed a private placement of 4.25% convertible senior subordinated notes in the aggregate principal
amount of $69.0 million due 2011. We intend to use the net proceeds of the offering, together with borrowings under our credit facility and
cash on hand, to fund the purchase of WISG described above. The convertible notes bear interest at a rate of 4.25% per year, payable semi-
annually on May 23 and November 23 of each year, beginning on May 23, 2005. The convertible notes are convertible into shares of our
common stock at an initial conversion price of $10.61 per share of common stock, which is equal to approximately 122% of the volume
weighted average price of our common stock on November 22, 2004. The conversion price is subject to adjustment under certain
circumstances.
 
The WISG Purchase Agreement is subject to customary closing conditions. We expect to close the acquisition in April of 2005. We are
required to escrow $7.65 million of the net proceeds from the sale of the convertible notes, for future interest payments for the benefit of
the convertible noteholders if the closing does not occur by April 30, 2005. If the acquisition is not consummated by June 30, 2005, we will
be required to pay certain outstanding loans under our senior credit agreement with the net proceeds from the sale of the convertible notes.
 
Upon the occurrence of an “Event of Default,” or a “Change of Control,” the noteholders may require us to redeem all or any portion of the
convertible notes. A “Triggering Event” will be deemed to occur if we incur any indebtedness in addition to “Permitted Indebtedness,” and
at the time of such incurrence, our trailing 12 months “Consolidated EBITDA” does not equal or exceed $30.0 million or, as a result of the
incurrence, our “Consolidated Leverage Ratio” exceeds 4.75 to 1.0. Within 30 days of the occurrence of a Triggering Event, we will be
required to offer to redeem all or any portion of the convertible notes then outstanding at a redemption price equal to the principal balance
of the notes plus all accrued and unpaid interest. If at any time prior to the incurrence of a Triggering Event, the weighted average price of
our common stock equals or exceeds 150% of the conversion price then in effect for a period of 15 out of 30 consecutive trading days, the
restrictions on “Permitted Indebtedness” will be removed. We may redeem all or any portion of the convertible notes, at our option, at any
time on or after November 23, 2007 if the weighted average price of our common stock exceeds 165% of the conversion price then in effect
for a period of 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days. At any time beginning on May 23, 2005 and continuing until August 2, 2005, the
noteholders may, at their option, require us to redeem up to $9.0 million of the convertible notes. Beginning on November 23, 2009, the
noteholders may, at their option, require us to redeem all or any portion of the convertible notes. In such event, we may elect, at our option
and subject to certain conditions, to pay up to 50% of the redemption price in shares of our common stock valued at 94% of the weighted
average price of the common stock for the 20-day trading period immediately preceding the redemption date.
 
Supply and Demand Trends
 
 
United States
 
According to the Energy Information Administration (EIA), an arm of the U.S. Department of Energy, an estimated 41 gigawatts of new
generation capacity was added in the United States during 2004, down approximately 9 percent from the 45 gigawatts of new capacity that
was added during 2003. The EIA expects new gas turbine combined-cycle generation capacity additions in the United States will average
approximately five gigawatts of capacity over the next two years and thereafter grow only marginally in the following decade, at which
time the EIA estimates that retirements of older generation capacity will significantly outpace planned additions. Given the extended lead-
times required for developing new electrical power generation capacity for a particular market, our bookings and revenues can rise or fall
sharply prior to the actual commissioning of new capacity. Limited development, deferral of planned projects and unexpected cancellations
may reduce the potential recognition of revenues and profits. In market economies such as the United States, the lags between price signals
and the construction of new power plants can cause boom-and-bust cycles for the suppliers of equipment for power generation. Given this
situation, our revenues will not necessarily correlate precisely with changes in reported actual or forecasted new capacity. A copy of the
EIA’s latest assessment of electrical generation supply and demand trends for the United States can be found on the Department of
Energy’s website at http://www.eia.doe.gov/oiaf/aeo/index.html.
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International Markets
 
According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), in its World Energy Investment Outlook 2003,  approximately $10 trillion will be
required over the next three decades to expand and upgrade the global electricity sector. This estimated level of spending is approximately
three times the level of spending in real terms than was invested in the electricity sector in the prior thirty years. Approximately one-half, or
$5 trillion, will be spent in developing countries, two-thirds, or approximately $3 trillion, of which in developing Asia alone. The IEA
estimates that the greatest investment in new generating and transmission capacity will be made in China and will approach $2 trillion.
 
In its World Energy Outlook 2004 study, the IEA estimates nearly 3,600 gigawatts of new generating capacity will be added by 2030, or an
average of approximately 128 gigawatts per year. Almost half of the annual addition is expected to be based upon natural gas. The IEA
estimates that 4,700 gigawatts of new generation capacity will be required worldwide by 2030 and the importance of natural gas-based
generating plants will rise from 24 percent in 2002 to 35 percent by 2030. Most of this new gas turbine capacity will employ combined-
cycle technology. The IEA’s latest assessment of worldwide generation supply and demand trends, along with the expected capacity
additions through 2030 can be found on the Internet at www.iea.org.
 
Our Strategy
 
Given the EIA’s assessment of supply and demand trends, and the existing merchant industry conditions inside the United States, we
believe the market opportunities inside the United States for us over the next several years will remain subdued. In view of this outlook, as
well as the IEA’s outlook for international supply and demand, we will take a number of initiatives to maximize shareholder value and
enhance our market position as a supplier and service provider in the global power generation industry. We will:
 

 
•  Leverage our presence and experience in international power markets.  We have a successful record of selling our products to

customers in over 40 countries during the past two decades. Through our large international network of manufacturing
relationships and direct sales channels, we are uniquely positioned to undertake power generation projects throughout the world.

 
Recognizing the market opportunities for gas turbine generating capacity additions globally, we continued to expand our presence
in a number of regions outside of the United States during 2004, particularly in China. During the second half of 2004, we booked
a significant volume of business in a number of international markets, which resulted in a higher firm backlog at the end of 2004
than a year earlier. In July 2004, we purchased 90 percent of Nanjing Boiler Works, a strategic step to further expand our
manufacturing capacity inside China to capitalize on the robust outlook for the construction of new power generating capacity in
that country in the years ahead. Starting in January 2006, we may purchase the remaining 10% interest in Nanjing Boiler Works
at our sole discretion. In addition to our Nanjing, China manufacturing plant, we continue to maintain strong manufacturing
partnerships in nearly 20 countries outside of the United States, including four within China. This global supply capability, in
close proximity to key markets, where we can supply our full-range of products and provide customer support, allows us to serve
our multinational customers’ needs in a timely and efficient manner and are critical prerequisites for obtaining project awards.
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•  Leverage our design and engineering capabilities to expand our product lines. We intend to expand our product lines to capture a

larger share of our customers’ equipment purchases. Through our design and engineering capabilities and
experience in gas turbine technology, we have developed a number of complementary product lines, including inlet cooling
systems, pulse filters, air filter elements and diverter dampers. Throughout our history, we have successfully introduced new end-
use applications for our underlying technologies, including products for the process, marine, pulp and paper and pharmaceutical
industries. We are actively pursuing potential opportunities in new gas turbine applications, including integrated gasification
combined-cycle processes that employ coal as the fuel source into a gas turbine.

 

 

•  Position the Company to be the preferred supplier in the U.S. market for the long-term. Our design and engineering expertise
positions us to bid on and execute virtually any major gas turbine power plant project, as well as specific applications
incorporating our specialty boilers, which are frequently installed for co-generation projects. Since 2001, the downturn in U.S.
power generation markets has negatively impacted several of our competitors to the point where some have been forced to exit
the market or are, in our opinion, less viable going forward. Our low-cost sourcing and manufacturing capability enhances our
competitive market position and enables us to participate in virtually every location where new power projects will be added.

 

 

•  Pursue strategic acquisitions. The acquisition of a company in the power plant maintenance business has been an integral part of
the Company’s strategy to strengthen and diversify the Company. In November 2004, we announced a definitive agreement to
purchase WISG, an enterprise that principally performs routine and specialty services to firms engaged in power generation. We
expect to close the WISG transaction in early April 2005. We will continue to evaluate select acquisitions, which could increase
our market share in existing product lines, further increase our overall product and service offerings, penetrate difficult markets
more easily or expand our geographic reach. The power generation equipment industry is highly fragmented, comprised largely
of small companies or corporate divisions with relatively limited product lines. The fragmented nature of the industry provides us
with numerous acquisition opportunities.

 
Gas Turbine Technology
 
Gas turbine power plants are well positioned to benefit from the need for new or more efficient power generation infrastructure. The
advantages of power generation plants utilizing gas turbine technologies versus other technologies include:
 
 •  lower construction costs;
 
 •  shorter construction periods;
 
 •  improved operating efficiency;
 
 •  lower environmental impact;
 
 •  ability to expand plant capacity; and
 
 •  rapid start-up and shutdown time.
 
Gas turbine power plants can have either a simple-cycle or combined-cycle configuration, both of which utilize a gas turbine and a
generator to produce electricity. A simple-cycle gas turbine plant incorporates many of the products we manufacture, including filter
houses, inlet and exhaust systems and turbine enclosures. A simple-cycle plant converts approximately 33% of the fuel’s energy content
into electricity. A combined-cycle plant has the same components as a simple-cycle plant, with the addition of a heat recovery steam
generator, or HRSG. In a combined-cycle plant, the hot exhaust from the gas turbine is routed through the HRSG where steam is generated
which is used to power a steam turbine and produce more electricity. Like the simple-cycle plant, the combined-cycle plant also
incorporates many of the products that we manufacture. A combined-cycle power plant converts up to 58% or more of the fuel’s energy
content into electricity. As a result of the general availability of natural gas supplies, lower capital costs, environmental factors and
increased efficiency, the EIA projects that gas-fired technology will outpace all other competing technologies through 2030. As a leading
provider of equipment for simple- and combined-cycle power plants, we are well positioned to benefit from these trends.
 
Products and Services
 
We conduct our business through two operating segments: our Heat Recovery Equipment segment and our Auxiliary Power Equipment
segment. We offer a broad range of products and services that are integral parts of gas turbine power plants as well as power-related
equipment for industrial operations. We also provide advanced engineering, retrofit and upgrade, maintenance and repair services to the
power generation industry. For more information regarding our revenues, profitability and total assets by segment, see Note 11 to our
consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.
 
 
Heat Recovery Equipment Segment
 
Our Heat Recovery Equipment segment is a leader in the production of HRSGs and specialty boilers. Our products in this segment are
marketed under the Deltak brand name.
 

 
•  Heat Recovery Steam Generators. An HRSG is a boiler that creates steam in a combined-cycle power plant using the hot exhaust

emitted by a gas turbine. This steam generates additional electricity by driving a steam turbine in a combined-cycle power plant.
Each HRSG is custom designed and engineered to meet the specifications of the customer, taking into account
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the type of gas turbine and environmental locale. We design and manufacture HRSGs for all size applications for both new
combined-cycle and retrofitted simple-cycle power plants. We believe we are the overall market leader with the largest installed
base of gas turbine HRSGs in the world.

 

 

•  Specialty Boilers and Related Products. Specialty boilers are a highly customized class of equipment that capture waste heat and
convert it into steam. We produce specialty boilers used in process heat recovery and incineration systems, small power
generation systems and marine co-generation systems. Our specialty boilers, which require creative engineering solutions, are
used in a wide range of markets, including oil and gas, pulp and paper, chemicals, petrochemical, marine and food industries. We
have an installed base of more than 600 specialty boilers in over 30 countries. In addition, we design and manufacture catalytic
recovery systems for gas turbine exhaust systems, which reduce emissions.

 

 
•  Industrial Boilers. Designed and manufactured by Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd., industrial boilers are boilers that

produce steam or heat utilizing coal or other types of fossil fuels. The primary uses of these boilers are heating and producing
steam for industrial commercial usage.

 
Auxiliary Power Equipment Segment
 
Our Auxiliary Power Equipment segment includes a variety of products and services critical to the operation of gas turbine power plants.
These products are marketed under the Braden and Consolidated Fabricators brand names.
 

 

•  Filter Houses. A filter house cleans debris, dirt and other contaminants from the air that enters the turbine, using either a barrier
filter or a pulse filter. Barrier filters use a series of filter elements contained in a large filter house to remove airborne
contaminants. Pulse filters are self-cleaning filters that use a blast of air to expel dirt or ice from the filter element. In addition, a
filter house may include evaporative coolers, chiller coils, fog cooling systems, anti-icing systems and a broad range of other
equipment that treats the air that is pulled through the turbine.

 

 
•  Inlet Systems. Inlet systems are large air intake ducts that connect the filter house to the gas turbine and provide silencing for the

noise emanating from the gas turbine through the inlet. The major components of an inlet system are inlet silencers, expansion
joints and inlet ductwork.

 

 
•  Gas and Steam Turbine Enclosures. Gas and steam turbine enclosures protect the turbines from the environment. In addition, they

provide acoustical treatment to reduce the noise produced by gas and steam turbines. Fire suppression systems are also an integral
feature of most enclosures.

 

 
•  Exhaust Systems. Exhaust systems direct the hot exhaust from the turbine to the atmosphere. The main components of an exhaust

system are exhaust ductwork, acoustic silencing equipment and the stack. Exhaust systems are highly engineered and very
complex due to the severe turbulence and heat exposure that they must endure.

 

 
•  Diverter Dampers. Diverter dampers divert the hot exhaust from the gas turbine into a HRSG when the power plant is operated as

a combined-cycle facility or into the exhaust stack in the case of simple-cycle operation. We also design and manufacture various
other types of dampers.

 
Backlog
 
The time frame between receipt of an order and actual completion or delivery of our products can stretch from a few weeks to a year or
more. At the time we receive an order representing a commitment from a customer (a “booking”), that order is added to our backlog. Our
backlog consists of firm orders from our customers. Backlog may vary significantly quarter to quarter due to the timing of customer
commitments. Our backlog at the end of 2004 totaled $308.9 million as compared to $178.5 million at the end of 2003.
 
Sales and Marketing
 
We have an extensive sales network consisting of employees and independent representatives worldwide. We have sales offices in Brazil,
China, Egypt, the Netherlands, Singapore, South Korea and the United States. Our international sales force travels extensively and allows
us to assess local market conditions, utilize local contacts and respond quickly to our customers’ needs. We focus our sales and marketing
efforts on end users of our products, including the developers and operators of gas turbine power plants, and on gas turbine original
equipment manufacturers (OEM), which may order our products directly or specify the use of our products.
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Customers
 
Customers for both our Heat Recovery Equipment segment and our Auxiliary Power Equipment segment include OEMs, engineering and
construction firms, operators of power generation facilities and firms engaged across several process related industries. The end users of
most of our products are developers and operators of gas turbine power plants. Our top ten customers vary from year to year due to the
relative size and duration of our projects. The Company has certain customers that represent more than 10 percent of consolidated
revenues. The revenues generated from our three most significant customers as a percentage of the consolidated revenues for 2004, 2003
and 2002 are as follows:
 

   

Revenues

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
General Electric   32% 32% 35%
The Southern Company   3% 7% 14%
Exxon Mobil   3% 10% 1%

 
For information with respect to our sales by geographic regions, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.
 
Engineering and Design Capabilities
 
Our business is driven by design and engineering expertise, an area in which we believe we are an industry leader. Our products are
custom-designed and engineered to meet the precise specifications of our customers and may require a significant number of engineering
hours to design. As of December 31, 2004, we employed 156 degreed engineers specialized in thermal, structural, electrical, mechanical,
acoustical, industrial and chemical engineering. Our engineers utilize an extensive PC-based network and engineering programs such as
AutoCad™, ANSYS™, StruCAD™ and several internally developed proprietary programs. Our proprietary programs enable us to use design
elements from previous projects thereby increasing our engineering efficiency on subsequent projects.
 
Manufacturing and Outsourcing
 
Our products are fabricated utilizing a combination of in-house manufacturing and subcontractors. Most of our subcontracting work is
performed outside the United States which provides a lower-cost basis for finished goods. Our extensive use of outsourcing relationships
provides us the following benefits:
 
 

•  flexibility to rapidly expand or contract our manufacturing capacity which limits our capital expenditure requirements and fixed
expenses;

 
 •  ability to manufacture in low cost countries, thereby reducing the overall cost of our products; and
 
 •  ability to satisfy local content requirements.
 
In 2004, subcontractors accounted for approximately 70% of our manufacturing costs. Our subcontractors manufacture products on a fixed-
price basis for each project. Typically, our subcontractors agree not to manufacture competing products. We provide on-site technical
advisors at our subcontracted facilities to ensure high levels of quality and workmanship. We are constantly pursuing new international
subcontractor relationships to enhance our ability to manufacture equipment at the lowest cost while maintaining high-quality standards and
on-time delivery.
 
While a majority of our manufacturing is outsourced, we maintain significant in-house capabilities. Our in-house manufacturing capability
allows us to internally develop production methods, train personnel and subcontractors, protect highly sensitive designs and fabricate
products whose complexity may preclude their production by subcontractors.
 
Segment Financial Data and Sales by Geographic Region
 
See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-
K, for detailed financial information regarding each business segment and our sales by geographic region.
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Raw Materials and Suppliers
 
The principal raw materials for our products are stainless steel sheet products, carbon steel plate and structural shapes, insulation and finned
tubing. We obtain these products from a number of domestic and foreign suppliers. The market for most of the raw materials we use is
comprised of numerous participants, and we believe that we can obtain each of the raw materials we require from more than one supplier.
While our ability to obtain steel has not diminished, steel prices increased significantly in 2004 causing our gross margins to decrease.
 
Competition
 
We compete with a large number of U.S. and international companies along all of our major product lines. We compete based on the price,
quality, reliability and reputation of our products. We believe that no single competitor offers our breadth of products to the gas turbine
power generation industry.
 
Employees
 
As of December 31, 2004, we had 1,805 employees. Other than 4 of our remaining permanent manufacturing employees located in Tulsa,
Oklahoma and 149 permanent production employees at our facility in Mexico, none of our employees are represented by unions. However,
from time-to-time, we hire union employees on a temporary basis. We believe our employee relations are satisfactory.
 
Intellectual Property
 
We depend upon a combination of patents, trademarks and nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements with our employees,
subcontractors, customers and others, as well as various security measures to protect our proprietary rights. Designs and processes are
developed for specific projects and are charged directly to such projects. Due to the unique nature of each project, we typically create new
designs specifically for each project. Also, our customers are contractually obligated to treat these designs as confidential and proprietary.
We believe that intellectual property protection is less important than our ability to continue to develop new design applications that meet
the demands of our customers. As a result, we do not believe that any single patent or trademark is material to our business.
 
We typically enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with our employees and subcontractors with access to sensitive
design software and technology. However, this protection does not preclude others from creating programs which perform the same
function. In addition, our agreements may be breached and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach.
 
Environmental Matters
 
Our operations are subject to laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to the
protection of the environment or human health. These laws include U.S. federal statutes such as the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, the Comprehensive Environment Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, or CERCLA, the Clean Water Act and
the Clean Air Act, and the regulations implementing them, as well as similar laws and regulations at the state and local levels and in other
countries in which we operate.
 
Any failure to comply with environmental laws or regulations could subject us to significant liabilities for fines, penalties or damages, or
result in the denial or loss of significant operating permits. In addition, some environmental laws, including CERCLA, impose liability for
the costs of investigating and remediating releases of hazardous substances without regard to fault and on a joint and several basis, so that
in some circumstances we may be liable for costs attributable to hazardous substances released into the environment by others.
 
Our manufacturing facilities use and produce wastes containing various substances classified as hazardous or otherwise regulated under
environment laws and regulations, and are subject to ongoing compliance costs and capital expenditure requirements. We believe we are in
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations and that the costs of compliance are not material to us. However, any newly
discovered environmental conditions could result in unanticipated expenses or liabilities that could be material. Moreover, the
environmental laws and regulations to which we are subject are constantly changing, and it is impossible to predict the effect of these
changes on us. We cannot give any assurances that our operations will comply with future laws and regulations or that these laws and
regulations will not significantly adversely affect us.
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Available Information
 
Our Internet address is www.globalpower.com. We make available, free of charge through our website, our annual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are electronically
filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
 
Risk Factors
 
Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be impacted by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the
following, any of which could cause actual results to vary materially from historical and current results or anticipated future results.
 
Substantially all of our revenues are from sales of equipment for gas turbine power plants. During periods of declining construction of
new gas turbine power plants, the market for our products is significantly diminished.
 
The demand for our products and services depends on the continued construction of gas turbine power generation plants. In 2004,
approximately 82% of our revenues were from sales of equipment and provision of services for gas turbine power plants. The power
generation equipment industry has experienced cyclical periods of slow growth or decline. In periods of decreased demand for new gas
turbine power plants, our customers may be more likely to decrease expenditures on the types of products and systems that we supply and,
as a result, our future revenues may decrease. In addition, the gas turbine power industry depends on natural gas. A rise in the price or a
shortage in the supply of natural gas could affect the profitability or operations of gas turbine power plants, which could adversely affect
our future revenues.
 
Environmental laws and regulations have played a part in the increased use of gas turbine technology in various jurisdictions. These laws
and regulations may change or other jurisdictions may not adopt similar laws and regulations. Changes in existing laws and regulations
could result in a reduction in the building and refurbishment of gas turbine power plants. In addition, stricter environmental regulation
could result in our customers seeking new ways of generating electricity that do not require the use of our products. Furthermore, although
gas turbine power plants have lower emissions than coal-fired power plants, emissions from gas turbine power plants remain a concern and
attempts to reduce or regulate emissions could increase the cost of gas turbine power plants and result in our customers’ switching to
alternative sources of power.
 
Other current power technologies, improvements to these technologies and new alternative power technologies that compete or may
compete in the future with gas turbine power plants could affect our sales and profitability. Furthermore, in 2004, approximately 32% of
our revenues were from sales of Heat Recovery Equipment used in combined-cycle power plants. Any change in the power generation
industry which results in a decline in the construction of new combined-cycle power plants or a decline in the upgrading of existing simple-
cycle power plants to combined-cycle power plants could materially adversely affect our sales.
 
A small number of major customers account for a significant portion of our revenues, and the loss of any of these customers could
negatively impact our business.
 
We depend on a relatively small number of customers for a significant portion of our revenues. In fiscal year 2002, two customers
accounted for approximately 49% of our consolidated revenues. In fiscal year 2003, two customers accounted for approximately 42% of
our consolidated revenues and approximately 33% of our backlog at the end of the year. In 2004, two customers accounted for
approximately 39% of our consolidated revenues and approximately 45% of our backlog at the end of the year. As of December 31, 2004,
five customers accounted for approximately 77% of our backlog. Other than their obligations under firm orders placed in our backlog, none
of our customers have a long-term contractual obligation to purchase any material amounts of products from us. All of our firm orders
contain cancellation provisions, which permit us to recover only our costs and a portion of our anticipated profit in the event a customer
cancels its order. If a customer elects to cancel, we may not realize the full amount of future revenues included in our backlog. We expect to
continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of our revenues. Because our major customers
represent a large part of our business, the loss of any of our major customers could negatively impact our business and results of
operations. Several of our customers have the ability to produce some of our products in-house. Any increase in this activity could reduce
our sales.
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If our costs exceed the estimates we use to set the fixed prices of our contracts, our earnings will be reduced.
 
We enter into nearly all of our contracts on a fixed-price basis. As a result, we benefit from cost savings, but have a limited ability to
recover any cost overruns. Contract prices are established based in part on our projected costs, which are subject to a number of
assumptions. The costs that we incur in connection with each contract can vary, sometimes substantially, from our original projections.
Because of the large scale and long duration of our contracts, unanticipated changes may occur, such as customer budget decisions, design
changes, delays in receiving permits and cost increases, which may delay delivery of our products. In addition, we often are contractually
subject to liquidated damages for late delivery.
 
Unanticipated cost increases or delays may occur as a result of several factors, including:
 
 •  increases in the cost or shortages of components, materials or labor;
 
 •  unanticipated technical problems;
 
 •  required project modifications not initiated by the customer; and
 
 •  suppliers’ or subcontractors’ failure to perform.
 
Given the rapid economic growth in China and Southeast Asia, steel prices have increased sharply and may continue to increase in the
future. For example, carbon steel prices at the end of 2004 were 102% higher than the 2003 average. In 2004, our ability to recover these
higher steel prices from our customers was limited, which had a significant, negative impact on our gross margin. While we will continue
to work with our suppliers and customers to reduce the impact of higher steel prices on our gross margin, there can be no assurance that our
gross margin will not continue to be adversely affected by steel and other material prices. In fact, we believe that our 2005 gross margin
will be lower than our average rate for the last several years, and this trend may continue beyond 2005.
 
Cost increases or overruns that we cannot pass on to our customers or our payment of liquidated damages under our contracts will lower
our earnings.
 
Competition could result in decreased sales or decreased prices for our products and services.
 
We face and will continue to face significant competition for the sale of our products and services. Competition could result in a reduction
in the demand for, or the prices that we can charge for, our products and services. Our success is dependent in large part on our ability to:
 
 

•  anticipate or respond quickly to our customers’ needs and enhance and upgrade our existing products and services to meet those
needs;

 
 •  continue to price our products and services competitively and find low cost subcontractors that can produce quality products; and
 
 •  develop new products and systems that are accepted by our customers and differentiated from our competitors’ offerings.
 
Our competitors may:
 
 •  develop more desirable, efficient, environmentally friendly or less expensive products;
 
 •  be willing to accept lower prices to protect strategic marketing positions or increase market share;
 
 •  be better able to take advantage of acquisition opportunities; or
 
 •  adapt more quickly to changes in customer requirements.
 
In recent months, as demand for our products and services has increased from historically low levels, some of our competitors have shown a
willingness to accept lower prices or extend progress payments to maintain their market position and absorb their fixed costs. As a result of
our competitors’ business practices, we may need to lower our prices, extend progress payments and/or devote significant resources to
marketing our products in order to remain competitive. Lower prices and/or higher costs would reduce our revenues and our profitability. If
due to competitive market conditions we elect to extend progress payment schedules, our ability to finance work from operating sources
may be affected, which would also result in a reduction of operating cash flows.
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If we are unable to control the quality or timely production of products manufactured for us by subcontractors, our reputation could be
adversely affected and we could lose customers. If we are unable to recover any advance progress payments made to subcontractors, our
profitability would be adversely affected.
 
We rely on subcontractors to manufacture and assemble a substantial portion of our products. In 2004, subcontractors accounted for
approximately 70% of our manufacturing costs. Although we have on-site supervision of our subcontractors to review and monitor their
quality control systems, the quality and timing of their production is not totally under our control. Our subcontractors may not always meet
the level of quality control and the delivery schedules required by our customers. The failure of our subcontractors to produce quality
products in a timely manner could adversely affect our reputation and result in the cancellation of orders for our products and the loss of
customers.
 
In addition, we make advance progress payments to subcontractors in anticipation of their completion of our orders. We may be unable to
recover those advances in the event a subcontractor fails to complete an order, which may adversely affect our profitability.
 
The dollar amount of our backlog, as stated at any time, is not necessarily indicative of our future earnings.
 
When we receive a firm order for a project from a customer, that order is added to our backlog. However, customers may cancel or delay
projects for reasons beyond our control and we may be unable to replace any canceled orders with new orders. To the extent projects are
delayed, the timing of our revenues could be affected. If a customer cancels an order, we may be reimbursed for the incurred costs.
Typically, however, we have no contractual right to the full amount of the revenues reflected in our backlog that we would have received if
the order had not been canceled. In addition, projects may remain in our backlog for extended periods of time. Revenue recognition occurs
over extended periods of time and is subject to unanticipated delays. Fluctuations in our quarterly backlog levels also result from the fact
that we may receive a small number of relatively large orders in any given quarter that may be included in our backlog. Because of these
large orders, our backlog in that quarter may reach levels that may not be sustained in subsequent quarters. Our backlog, therefore, is not
necessarily indicative of our future revenues.
 
Our future revenues and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter.
 
Our quarterly revenues and earnings have varied in the past and are likely to vary in the future. Our contracts stipulate customer-specific
delivery terms which, coupled with other factors beyond our control that may occur at any time over a contract cycle of up to a year or
more, may result in uneven realization of revenues and earnings over time. Customer-imposed delays can significantly impact the timing
of revenue recognition. Due to our large average contract size, our sales volume during any given period may be concentrated in relatively
few orders, intensifying the magnitude of these fluctuations. Consequently, our quarterly performance may not be indicative of our success
in achieving year-over-year growth objectives. Furthermore, some of our operating costs are fixed. As a result, we may have limited ability
to reduce our operating costs in response to unanticipated decreases in our revenues or the demand for our products in any given quarter.
Therefore, our operating results in any quarter may not be indicative of our future performance. In addition, because we must make
significant estimates related to potential charges when we recognize revenue on a percentage of completion basis, we may have difficulty
accurately estimating revenues and profits from quarter to quarter. In addition, most of our revenues are based on fixed price contracts, and
the relative profitability can vary significantly between contracts. As a result, our profitability can vary from quarter to quarter based on the
specific contracts being recognized.
 
Compliance with environmental laws and regulations is costly, and our ongoing operations may expose us to environmental liabilities.
 
Our operations are subject to laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to the
protection of the environment or human health and safety. As discussed on above under the caption, “Environmental Matters,” we are
subject to various U.S. federal statutes and the regulations implementing them, as well as similar laws and regulations at the state and local
levels and in other countries in which we operate.
 
If we fail to comply with environmental laws or regulations, we may be subject to significant liabilities for fines, penalties or damages, or
lose or be denied significant operating permits. In addition, some environmental laws, including CERCLA, impose liability for the costs of
investigating and remediating releases of hazardous substances without regard to fault and on a joint and several basis, so that in some
circumstances we may be liable for costs attributable to hazardous substances released into the environment by others. Moreover, the
environmental laws and regulations to which we are subject are constantly changing, and we cannot predict the effect of these changes on
us.
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A defect in our products could result in unanticipated warranty costs or product liability not covered by our insurance, which could
adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.
 
We generally provide warranties for terms of three years or less on our products. These warranties require us to repair or replace faulty
products. Warranty claims could result in significant unanticipated costs. The need to repair or replace products with design or
manufacturing defects could also temporarily delay the sale of new products and adversely affect our reputation.
 
In addition, we may be subject to product liability claims involving claims of personal injury or property damage. Because our products are
used primarily in power plants, claims could arise in different contexts, including the following:
 
 •  fires, explosions and power surges that can result in significant property damage or personal injury; and
 
 •  equipment failure that can result in personal injury or damage to other equipment in the power plant.
 
If a very large product liability claim were sustained, our insurance coverage might not be adequate to cover our defense costs and the
amount awarded. Additionally, a well-publicized actual or perceived problem could adversely affect our reputation and reduce demand for
our products.
 
The restrictions and covenants contained in our senior credit facility and convertible notes agreement limit our ability to borrow
additional money, sell assets and make acquisitions. Compliance with these restrictions and covenants may limit our ability to
implement elements of our business strategy.
 
Our senior credit facility and convertible notes agreement contain a number of significant restrictions and covenants limiting our ability and
that of our subsidiaries to:
 
 •  borrow more money or make capital expenditures;
 
 •  incur liens;
 
 •  pay dividends or make other restricted payments;
 
 •  merge or sell assets;
 
 •  enter into transactions with affiliates; and
 
 •  make acquisitions.
 
In addition, our senior credit facility contains other restrictive covenants, including covenants that require us to maintain specified financial
ratios, including leverage, asset coverage and fixed charge ratios and mandatory repayment provisions that will require us to repay our
indebtedness with proceeds from certain asset sales, certain debt issuances and certain insurance casualty events.
 
Historically, advance billings from our HRSG equipment sales have been a source of cash to finance our business. Recently, more of our
HRSG equipment contracts have payment terms that result in essentially neutral cash flows. Furthermore, our HRSG equipment backlog
increased significantly during the fourth quarter of 2004. Most of our larger HRSG projects require us to give our customers a standby
letter of credit. As a result, our working capital has increased over the last several months, and our cash flows forecast indicates the need
for us to borrow on our line of credit. The need for additional working capital and new standby letters of credit resulting from the growth in
our base business as well as the pending WISG acquisition, coupled with our lower than normal level of EBITDA in 2004 caused us to
renegotiate our existing fixed charge and leverage ratios and our letter of credit sub-limit. Our lenders approved a second amendment to our
senior credit agreement that waived our fixed charge covenant for one quarter, increased our leverage ratios and increased our letter of
credit sub-limit on the revolving line of credit.
 
If we are unable to remain in compliance with our financial covenants currently in effect under our senior credit facility or obtain additional
amendments or waivers from our lenders, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures and business acquisitions, sell assets,
restructure or refinance our indebtedness, decline certain business opportunities from customers or seek additional equity capital.
 
In addition, the convertible notes agreement allows the investors to require us to redeem the notes starting in November 2009, even if our
stock price has not attained the conversion price of $10.61. While under certain circumstances, we can pay up to 50% of the principal
balance in the form of common stock, we will be required to pay the remaining amount in cash. In addition, we may be required to offer to
redeem the notes in cash at a redemption price equal to the unpaid principal balance plus all accrued interest within 30 days of the
occurrence of a “Triggering Event.” A “Triggering Event” will be deemed to occur if we incur any indebtedness in addition to “permitted
indebtedness,” and at the time of such incurrence, our trailing 12 months “Consolidated EBITDA” does not
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equal or exceed $30.0 million or, as a result of the incurrence, our “Consolidated Leverage Ratio” exceeds 4.75 to 1.0. Finally, the
convertible notes agreement stipulates that an event of default under the senior credit facility would result in a default under the convertible
notes agreement. There can be no assurance that we will have the cash on hand or the ability to refinance any redemption obligation in the
event we are required to redeem the notes.
 
Our revenues would be adversely affected if we are unable to protect the proprietary design software programs that we use in our
business.
 
We have developed several proprietary software programs to help us design our products. Our ability to protect our proprietary rights to
these programs is important to our success. We protect these rights through the use of internal controls and confidentiality and non-
disclosure agreements and other legal protections. The legal protections afforded to our proprietary rights and the precautions we have
taken may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our proprietary rights. We generally enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality
agreements with our employees and subcontractors with access to sensitive design software and technology. However, these contractual
protections do not prevent independent third-parties from developing functionally equivalent or superior technologies, programs, products
or professional services. Third-parties may also infringe upon or misappropriate our proprietary rights and use them to develop competing
products. If we were required to commence legal actions to enforce our intellectual property or proprietary rights or to defend ourselves
against claims that we are infringing on the intellectual property or proprietary rights of others, we could incur substantial costs and divert
management’s attention from operations.
 
The loss of the services of our key executive officers could have a negative effect on our business.
 
Our success depends to a significant extent on the continued services of Larry Edwards, our chief executive officer and chairman of the
board who will relinquish the CEO position on June 30, 2005, but will remain chairman; Al Brousseau, our president and chief operating
officer and CEO effective July 1, 2005; Jim Wilson, our chief financial officer; and Monte Ness, Gene Schockemoehl and John Matheson,
three of our senior executives. Our failure to retain the services of Messrs. Edwards, Brousseau, Wilson, Ness, Schockemoehl or Matheson,
or attract highly qualified management in the future, could adversely affect our ability to grow and manage our operations. Although we
have employment agreements containing non-competition clauses with Messrs. Edwards, Brousseau, Wilson, Ness, Schockemoehl and
Matheson, courts are sometimes reluctant to enforce these agreements.
 
A failure to attract and retain employees who fill key requirements of our business may make it difficult to sustain or expand
operations.
 
We must attract and retain highly qualified, experienced mechanical, design, structural and software engineers, service technicians,
marketing and sales personnel and other key personnel to expand our operations. If we are unable to attract and retain necessary personnel,
we may not be able to sustain or expand our operations.
 
We may not be able to maintain or expand our business outside the United States because of numerous risk factors outside our control.
 
Our international operations are subject to a number of risks inherent in doing business outside the United States including:
 
 •  labor unrest;
 
 •  regional economic uncertainty;
 
 •  political instability;
 
 •  restrictions on the transfer of funds into or out of a country;
 
 •  currency exchange rate fluctuations;
 
 •  export duties and quotas;
 
 •  expropriations;
 
 •  domestic and foreign customs and tariffs;
 
 •  current and changing regulatory environments;
 
 •  potentially adverse tax consequences; and
 
 •  availability of financing.
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These factors may result in a decline in revenues or profitability and could adversely affect our ability to expand our business outside the
United States.
 
In particular, the Middle East has experienced periods of extreme political instability in recent years. Moreover, political insurgents in Iraq
have targeted and may continue to target energy assets, which may in turn disrupt our activities in that country.
 
Increased operations in China and Southeast Asia could adversely impact our operating margins.
 
In early 2004, we commenced a strategic initiative to increase the amount of products and services that we sell in China and Southeast
Asia. In addition, in July 2004, we purchased a 90% interest in Nanjing Boiler Works which was later renamed Deltak Power Equipment
(China) Co. Ltd. While the economic outlook for power generation projects in this region appears more favorable than the current market
in the United States, there can be no assurance that our strategy will be successful in obtaining significant increases in revenue and profits.
In addition to the risks associated with operations outside the United States noted previously, there are numerous additional challenges to
doing business in China, such as strict tax, currency and operating regulations. In addition, the Chinese legal system is relatively new, and
the Chinese central and local government authorities retain a greater degree of control over business operations than is customary in more
developed countries, making the process of securing bookings and obtaining regulatory approval for business operations inherently
unpredictable in some circumstances. We continue to develop strategies for best overcoming the challenges we face for successfully
increasing our presence in China. Until those strategies are fully implemented, our gross revenues and profit margin in China may be
negatively impacted.
 
If we were required to write down our goodwill or long-lived assets or place additional valuation allowances against our deferred tax
assets, our results of operations and stockholders’ equity could be materially adversely affected.
 
As a result of our June 1998 acquisition of the power generation division of Jason Incorporated and our October 2000 acquisition of CFI
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, we have approximately $45.0 million of goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2004. Due to the implementation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” goodwill is no longer amortized but must be tested for impairment at least annually based on a fair value concept. Our
fair value calculations incorporate several inputs based on estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include earnings
forecasts for the next 10 years, discount rates on future cash flows, income tax rates and EBITDA multiples. Any significant future
changes in these estimates and assumptions may require us to write down a portion or the entire balance of our goodwill.
 
Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and intangible assets, are evaluated for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows
from the use of these assets.
 
Realization of the deferred tax assets at their December 31, 2004 amounts is based on the ability of the Company to generate
approximately $158.0 million future taxable income. At some point in the future, the Company may decide that its future taxable income
will not be sufficient in order to utilize the deferred tax assets. If this determination were made, the Company would place an additional
valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
 
If we were required to write down our goodwill or long-lived assets or place additional valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets,
our results of operations and financial position could be materially adversely affected.
 
We are exposed to market risks from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.
 
We are subject to market risks from changes in interest rates. Our senior credit facility’s variable-rate debt bears interest, at our option, at
either the Eurodollar rate or an alternate base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. Assuming our level of borrowings at December
31, 2004, a 100 basis point increase in interest rates under these borrowings would increase our interest expense for 2005 by approximately
$0.8 million.
 
We are also subject to market risks from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Portions of our operations are located in foreign
jurisdictions and a portion of our billings is paid in foreign currencies. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic
conditions in foreign markets could therefore cause fluctuations in those revenues derived from foreign operations. In addition, sales of
products and services are affected by the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies. Changes in foreign currency rates can also
affect the costs of our products purchased or manufactured outside the United States. At December 31, 2004, we had approximately $29.6
million of forward contracts to sell Euros in the future for a specific number of U.S. dollars. The business purpose of forward
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agreements is to lock in the gross margin in U.S. dollars on a portion of orders pursuant to which we are paid in a currency different from
our expenses. A one percent, five percent and ten percent change in the forward rate would result in an additional unrealized gain or loss of
$0.3 million, $1.3 million and $2.7 million, respectively, based on the amount hedged at December 31, 2004.
 
Our pending acquisition of WISG might not be consummated. If the WISG acquisition is completed, there can be no assurance that our
combined results will conform to our expectations. There may be additional risks associated with operating the WISG business.
 
The consummation of the WISG acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including the accuracy of the various
representations and warranties of the parties contained in the purchase and sale agreement on the closing date. In addition, the purchase and
sale agreement may be terminated by either party in most circumstances if the closing does not occur by April 30, 2005. Although we
believe that the conditions to closing the WISG acquisition will be satisfied and that the closing will occur in April of 2005, there can be no
assurance that the transaction will be consummated. If on or prior to April 30, 2005, the contemplated acquisition of WISG has not been
consummated, we will be required to escrow $7.65 million of the net proceeds from the sale of the convertible notes for future interest
payments for the benefit of the convertible note holders until the WISG acquisition is consummated. If the acquisition is not consummated
by June 30, 2005, we will be required to pay certain outstanding loans under our credit agreement with the net proceeds from the sale of the
convertible notes.
 
If the WISG acquisition is consummated, there can be no assurance that our actual results will match our expectations. Successful
acquisitions require an assessment of a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control and are inherently uncertain. Factors that
may cause our actual results to differ materially from our expected results include the curtailment of major maintenance projects by one or
more of WISG’s major customers or unanticipated difficulties or delays in integrating the operations of WISG with our own.
 
There may be additional risks associated with the operation of the WISG business if the acquisition is consummated, including:
 
 •  the loss of major customers or contracts;
 
 •  potential liability stemming from work-related accidents involving WISG’s contract employees;
 
 •  loss of the services of certain of WISG’s key management;
 
 •  labor issues resulting from WISG’s heavy reliance on union contract employees; and
 
 •  environmental issues arising from certain services performed by WISG.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 
Our executive offices currently occupy 10,870 square feet in Tulsa, Oklahoma. The lease for this facility expires in October 2007. We have
6 other U.S. facilities, as well as facilities in the Netherlands, Mexico and China. Information about our material facilities at December 31,
2004 is described below:
 

Location

  

Square Feet

  

Leased / Owned
(Expiration Date)

  

Principal Uses

Heat Recovery Equipment Segment          

Plymouth, Minnesota   44,000  leased (9/30/09)   Engineering and administrative office
   92,000  leased (01/31/06)  Manufacturing
   84,900  owned   Manufacturing
Nanjing, China

  

500,000
  

owned
  

Manufacturing, engineering and
administrative office

Auxiliary Power Equipment Segment          

Auburn, Massachusetts
  

69,000
  

owned
  

Manufacturing, engineering and
administrative office

Clinton, South Carolina   71,000  owned*   Manufacturing and engineering
Heerlen, The Netherlands   10,000  leased (10/31/09)  Engineering
Monterrey, Mexico   100,000  owned   Manufacturing
Shanghai, China   3,000  leased (05/31/05)  Administrative office
Tulsa, Oklahoma

  

160,000
  

leased (08/31/11)
  

Manufacturing, engineering and
administrative office

 
In addition to the foregoing, the Company leases other facilities in various cities, which are not considered significant. The Company
considers each of its facilities to be in good operating condition and sufficient for its current use.
 
* The Company executed an agreement to sell this property as of November 22, 2004.
 
 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
We are a party to routine litigation arising out of the normal and ordinary operation of our business. We believe that none of these
proceedings will result in a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
 
 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 
We did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2004.
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ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
 
The following table sets forth as of the date hereof certain information regarding the executive officers of the Company. Officers are
elected annually by the Board of Directors and serve at its discretion.
 
Name

    

Age

    

Position

Larry Edwards     55     Chief Executive Officer* and Chairman of the Board
Al Brousseau     54     President and Chief Operating Officer**
Monte Ness     48     Senior Vice President and President, Deltak
Gene Schockemoehl     55     Senior Vice President and President, Braden
James Wilson     45     Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance
John Matheson     39     Senior Vice President
Candice Cheeseman     49     General Counsel and Secretary
 
* Mr. Edwards will relinquish his position as chief executive officer on June 30, 2005.
 
**Mr. Brousseau will relinquish his position as chief operating officer and become chief executive officer on July 1, 2005.
 
Larry Edwards has served as our chief executive officer and chairman of the Board of Directors since December 2004. Mr. Edwards served
as our president, chief executive officer and chairman of the board of directors from October 2003 until December 2004. From May 2001 to
October 2003, Mr. Edwards served as president and chief executive officer of the Company. From 1998 to the Company’s public offering
in May 2001, Mr. Edwards served as a director of and chief executive officer of Global Energy Equipment Group (GEEG) Holdings, LLC
and as president and chief executive officer of GEEG, Inc., the predecessor of Global Power Equipment Group Inc., which was formed
following a management-led buy-out from Jason Incorporated in June 1998. From February 1994 until June 1998, Mr. Edwards served as
the president of Jason Incorporated’s power generation division, and he played a critical role in that group’s successful acquisition by
GEEG. Prior to 1994, Mr. Edwards held a number of critical management positions including vice president of operations, general manager
and president of Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C. Mr. Edwards earned a B.S. in Industrial Engineering and Management from Oklahoma
State University and an M.B.A. with honors from Oklahoma City University.
 
Al Brousseau is our president and chief operating officer. Mr. Brousseau joined the Company in mid-December 2004. Prior to his current
role, Mr. Brousseau served as vice president and an officer of Lockwood Greene in Atlanta from 1999 to 2004 and was responsible for
managing the operations of Lockwood Greene’s Atlanta office. Prior to his service with Lockwood Greene, Mr. Brousseau was employed
by ABB Combustion Engineering from 1970 to 1999 in various roles of increasing responsibilities, including engineering, sales,
management, sales support and project management, much of which involved power projects in Asia. Mr. Brousseau earned a B.S. in Civil
Engineering from the University of Hartford and an A.S. in Civil Engineering from Hartford State Technical College.
 
Monte Ness is our senior vice president and served as Deltak president since October 2003. Mr. Ness began his employment with Deltak in
1986 as a marketing manager and progressed through the organization in sales, project engineering and project management. Mr. Ness was
appointed vice president of the Gas Turbine Heat Recovery product line in 1993. Mr. Ness worked at Brown Boveri Turbomachinery in the
Gas Turbine and Steam Turbine groups and at Garrett Turbine Engine Company in the aircraft propulsion group. Mr. Ness is a graduate of
North Dakota State University with B.S. degrees in Mechanical Engineering and Business Administration. He also holds an M.B.A. from
Arizona State University and completed the Minnesota Management Institute program from the Carlson School of Management at the
University of Minnesota. He is a registered Professional Engineer.
 
Gene Schockemoehl is our senior vice president and president of Braden. Mr. Schockemoehl has served as president of Braden since
January 1994 and as a director and vice president of GPEG’s predecessor from June 1998 to May 2001. He began his employment at
Braden in 1968, progressing through the plant production area into management positions, and became vice president of operations in 1990.
He served as vice president of sales from mid-1991 until his appointment to president in January 1994. Mr. Schockemoehl has a
manufacturing and general business educational background, having attended both Tulsa Community College and Rogers State College.
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James Wilson is our chief financial officer and vice president of finance. Previously, Mr. Wilson was the vice president of administration
from September 2000 through December 2003. Mr. Wilson also served GPEG and its predecessor as secretary from June 1998 until 2001.
He joined Braden in 1986 as controller and became vice president of finance of Braden in 1989 where he served until September 2000.
Between 1982 and 1986, Mr. Wilson was employed as a senior auditor with Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Wilson has received the C.P.A.
designation and has been a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1983. He earned a B.S. in Accounting
from Oral Roberts University.
 
John Matheson is our senior vice president overseeing corporate strategic initiatives and corporate operations in Asia. Prior to his current
role, Mr. Matheson served as our general counsel and secretary from November 2001 to May 2004. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Matheson
served as senior attorney for The Williams Companies, an international energy and telecommunications company, where he directed the
business development legal group of Williams Communications, which was responsible for mergers, acquisitions and securities law
matters. Prior to 1999, he was a shareholder with the law firm of Conner & Winters, P.C., in Tulsa, Oklahoma. From January 1988 to May
1989, he was a tax consultant with Price Waterhouse. Mr. Matheson has received the C.P.A. designation and holds a bachelor of
accountancy degree, with highest honors, from the University of Oklahoma, and a juris doctorate from Georgetown University Law Center.
 
Candice Cheeseman is our general counsel and secretary. Prior to joining our company in May 2004, Ms. Cheeseman was a shareholder
with the law firm of Hall, Estill, Hardwick, Gable, Golden & Nelson in Tulsa, Oklahoma. Prior to joining Hall Estill, Ms. Cheeseman was
employed by WilTel Communications Group where she served in a variety of capacities including general counsel and secretary,
commencing in November 2002. She has been a practicing attorney for two decades serving in various capacities for Williams
Communications, Marriott International and law firms in the Washington D.C. area. Ms. Cheeseman received her juris doctorate degree
from the University of Tulsa College of Law where she graduated with honors and served on the Tulsa Law Journal. She also holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in History from the University of Delaware, where she graduated with honors and was a member of the Phi Beta
Kappa Society.
 
 

PART II.
 
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
 
Market Information
 
Our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “GEG” on May 18, 2001, following completion of
our initial public offering (IPO). The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices per share of our common stock, as reported in
the New York Stock Exchange composite transactions, for the periods indicated:
 

   

2004

  

2003

   

High

  

Low

  

High

  

Low

First Quarter   $11.38  $6.68  $5.87  $4.70
Second Quarter   $ 9.12  $6.36  $6.42  $4.61
Third Quarter   $ 8.15  $6.66  $6.05  $4.65
Fourth Quarter   $ 9.90  $7.00  $6.79  $5.07

 
A majority of the Company’s stockholders maintain their shares in “street name” accounts and are not, individually, stockholders of record.
As of February 28, 2005, our common stock was held by 55 shareholders of record.
 
Dividends
 
We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock and currently intend to retain all earnings for use in our business. Accordingly,
we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The declaration of dividends is at the discretion of our Board of
Directors. Our credit agreement currently prohibits us from paying cash dividends to our shareholders. Any future determination as to
payment of dividends will depend upon our financial condition and results of operations and such other factors as are deemed relevant by
the Board of Directors.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
 
The following table sets forth selected historical consolidated financial data of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. as of the dates
indicated. The financial data for fiscal years 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements. Such data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.
 

   

Fiscal Years

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 
   (in thousands, except per common share data)  
Results of Operations Data:      
Revenues   $233,692  $263,778  $586,805  $723,504  $416,591 
Cost of sales    194,435   192,281   455,339   591,958   345,688 
         

Gross profit    39,257   71,497   131,466   131,546   70,903 
Selling and administrative expenses    39,162   38,083   42,212   40,333   27,045 
Recapitalization charge (1)    —     —     —     —     38,114 
Amortization expense    —     —     —     1,716   1,250 
         

Operating income    95   33,414   89,254   89,497   4,494 
Interest expense    1,281   1,504   4,210   15,896   12,175 
Loss on debt extinguishment    —     —     —     29,607   2,477 
         
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest    (1,186)  31,910   85,044   43,994   (10,158)
Income tax provision (benefit)    (451)  12,126   33,167   11,358   (1,374)
Income tax benefit from tax status change (2)    —     —     —     (88,000)  —   
         
Income (loss) before minority interest    (735)  19,784   51,877   120,636   (8,784)
Minority interest    (30)  —     —     —     —   
         
Net income (loss)    (705)  19,784   51,877   120,636   (8,784)
Preferred stock dividend    —     —     —     (2,947)  (3,386)
         
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (705) $ 19,784  $ 51,877  $117,689  $ (12,170)
         
Per Common Share Data (3), (4):                      
Earnings (loss) per common share:                      

Basic income (loss) per common share                      
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (.02) $ 0.44  $ 1.18  $ 3.00  $ (0.03)

         
Diluted income (loss) per common share                      

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (.02) $ 0.43  $ 1.14  $ 2.87  $ (0.03)
         
Weighted average common shares outstanding:                      

Basic    46,195   44,521   43,959   39,275   388,456 
Diluted    46,195   45,911   45,636   41,011   388,456 
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Fiscal Years

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 
   (in thousands)  
Other Financial Data:                      
Depreciation and amortization   $ 4,276  $ 4,202  $ 4,625  $ 6,684  $ 4,311 
Capital expenditures    1,942   411   2,869   11,559   2,187 
Net cash provided by (used in):                      

Operating activities    (11,004)  24,381   103,088   12,018   24,789 
Investing activities    (84,979)  195   (2,661)  (11,559)  (19,840)
Financing activities    68,002   (34,667)  (45,548)  (24,332)  10,246 

Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):                      
Property, plant and equipment, net    22,983   20,740   25,469   27,810   19,433 
Total assets    366,894   280,996   369,704   430,631   245,693 
Total debt    95,604   24,963   60,073   105,629   219,094 

(1) In fiscal year 2000, we incurred a non-recurring recapitalization charge associated with the cancellation of options outstanding as of the
closing date of the August 2000 recapitalization.

(2) Due to the Company’s change in tax status from a limited liability company (LLC) to a taxable entity on the date of its IPO, the
Company was required to record all deferred tax assets and liabilities, which were previously the responsibility of the LLC members.
As a result, the Company recorded a net deferred tax asset on the date of the reorganization of approximately $88.0 million and
recorded a corresponding $88.0 million income tax benefit.

(3) Income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing income after adjusting for preferred dividends by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during each period. Preferred dividends were $3.4 million and $2.9 million for fiscal years 2000
and 2001, respectively. No preferred dividends were paid in 2002, 2003 or 2004.

(4) The share and per share amounts for 2000 are not comparable to the other years presented as the weighted average common shares
outstanding for 2000 do not reflect the conversion of the common units to common shares at a ratio of 28.1 to 1.0.

 
 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the selected consolidated
financial data and consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Overview
 
We design, engineer and fabricate a comprehensive portfolio of Heat Recovery and Auxiliary Power Equipment and provide related
services. We conduct our business through two operating segments: our Heat Recovery Equipment segment and our Auxiliary Power
Equipment segment.
 
The demand for our products and services depends, to a significant degree, on the level of construction of gas turbine power generation
plants. In 2004, approximately 82% of our revenues were from sales of equipment and provision of services for gas turbine power plants.
The power generation equipment industry has experienced cyclical periods of growth or decline. Beginning in 2002 and continuing through
2004, liquidity concerns in the merchant power generation industry coupled with concerns relating to the availability and relative price of
natural gas have reduced the availability of financing for power plant development in the United States and have caused the domestic
market for our products to significantly decline. While industry forecasts indicate a substantial long-term need for additional gas-fired
power plants on a world-wide basis, the significant decline in domestic demand for such plants in 2002 through 2004 negatively impacted
our bookings and revenues until the middle of 2004. During the last six months of 2004,
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we experienced a significant increase in our bookings, leaving our year-end backlog in excess of $300 million. 76% of our 2004 bookings
came from international customers, and we anticipate that increasing demand for new power plants outside the United States will continue
and, accordingly, we have placed additional focus on increasing our business outside the United States, particularly in China and Southeast
Asia.
 
Continuing our efforts to maximize profitability by shifting manufacturing capacity to even lower-cost sources, we announced in the second
quarter of 2004 our plans to merge the operations of our subsidiaries, Consolidated Fabricators, Inc. and Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C. The
merger occurred in June 2004. During the fourth quarter of 2004, we closed our manufacturing facilities in Toluca, Mexico and Clinton,
South Carolina and recorded charges of approximately $0.7 million. The production from these plants was moved to other Company
facilities and to subcontractors. The restructuring charges incurred to complete the merger were approximately $1.6 million primarily for
the write down of the Clinton facility, severance and lease cancellations, and we estimate annual cost savings of at least $2.0 million. We
do not expect to incur any significant restructuring charges in 2005 related to this merger.
 
On July 30, 2004, we completed the purchase of a 90% interest in Nanjing Boiler Works (NBW). The purchase price was $10.9 million.
We may purchase the remaining 10% interest in NBW starting in January 2006. We later changed the name of NBW to Deltak Power
Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. This acquisition is important to the Heat Recovery Equipment segment of the business from a strategic
perspective. Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. owns licenses necessary to manufacture and sell boilers in China and to export its
products to most countries including the United States. Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. owns a fully functioning, state-of-the-art
manufacturing plant. In addition, this acquisition is expected to give us a cost advantage and better access to customers within China.
However, the fact that Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. is qualified to manufacture and sell boilers in China does not guarantee
that it will be successful in obtaining a significant number of new orders.
 
In November 2004, we signed a definitive agreement with Georgia-based Williams Group International to purchase WISG for
approximately $65 million in cash at closing, subject to a working capital adjustment. Of the total purchase price, $59.5 million will be
paid in cash to the seller at closing, $5.5 million will be deposited by the Company with an escrow agent and released subject to the terms
of the purchase agreement. In addition, zero to $0.9 million of additional consideration will be paid to the seller in 2006 contingent upon
WISG meeting certain gross profit targets in 2005. WISG provides routine and specialty maintenance services to companies engaged in
power generation, pulp and paper manufacturing and government agencies, primarily the Department of Energy. Approximately 80% of
WISG’s annual revenue is derived from services provided to companies in power generation and includes work at nuclear power plants,
coal-fired power plants and other fossil fuel plants as well as hydro-based generating facilities. For several years, we have searched for a
company such as WISG to strengthen and diversify our company. The WISG business model offers the following advantages: excellent
revenue visibility, significant backlog, recurring revenue tied to evergreen contracts, low fixed costs, a variable cost outsourcing
component, minimal capital expenditure requirements and strong cash flow. The WISG acquisition will also allow us to expand our reach
beyond gas turbine components as it services all segments of the power industry. The WISG transaction is expected to close in April 2005.
We expect to finance this transaction with the proceeds from the convertible senior subordinated notes, issued in November 2004,
borrowings from our senior credit facility and cash on hand.
 
In October 2003, we announced a management restructuring plan pursuant to which certain employees were offered either one-time
termination or retirement benefits. Certain employees that were offered the retirement incentive packages entered into consulting
agreements with us subsequent to their retirement. The expense of the consulting agreements will be recognized as the services are
provided over the term of the agreements. In addition, retiring employees were offered the right to amend their stock option agreements to
extend the date such options remain exercisable from the original period of 90 days after termination of employment to a new period
extending to one year after termination of employment. In some cases, this plan also provided for the acceleration of vesting for certain
unvested stock options. Under APB Opinion No. 25 (APB 25), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” we expensed the fair value of
the options at the new measurement date. We recorded charges of approximately $3.9 million during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2003
and $3.2 million during 2004 related to the restructuring plan for severance payments, consulting fees and stock option expenses. We
expect to incur approximately $3.4 million of expenses related to this restructuring plan in 2005.
 
Under the 2003 management restructuring plan, a retirement benefits agreement was entered into with our Chief Executive Officer (CEO),
Larry Edwards, pursuant to which he determines his own future retirement date. In March 2005, Mr. Edwards notified the board of
directors that he would retire from his position as CEO effective June 30, 2005. Mr. Edwards will continue as chairman of the board. Upon
his retirement as CEO, Mr. Edwards will receive a payment of approximately $1.9 million, which was expensed in 2003 and accrued in
other current liabilities as of December 31, 2004. This amount is included in the $3.9 million of 2003 restructuring costs, mentioned above.
In addition, we agreed to pay Mr. Edwards approximately $0.8 million within 30 days after signing a consulting service agreement and a
release agreement on June 30, 2005. This amount will be expensed in the second quarter of 2005. On June 30, 2005, we will enter into a
one-year consulting agreement with Mr. Edwards.
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The consulting fees payable to Mr. Edwards over the term of his consulting service agreement which are currently estimated to total an
additional $0.9 million, will be expensed as the services are rendered over the term of the agreement. The actual amount will be based on
his actual salary and target bonus at June 30, 2005.
 
Under our current stock option plans, participants may exercise their vested options up to 90 days after their termination date. As part of his
retirement benefits package, Mr. Edwards will execute an extension agreement, on the retirement date, whereby certain of his stock options
become immediately fully vested. In addition, instead of the normal 90-day exercise period, Mr. Edwards will have one year from his
retirement date to exercise his options. When this extension agreement is executed and these modifications are made to Mr. Edwards’
original stock option agreements, the Company could incur significant compensation expense in accordance with APB 25. The
compensation expense will be measured on the retirement date, as the excess of the fair value of the stock over the exercise prices times the
number of stock options outstanding. Assuming the expected number of unvested options outstanding at June 30, 2005 ($4.87/share
options – 30,000 shares; $6.10/share options – 60,000 shares and $9.76/share options – 75,000 shares) and the closing stock price of $9.81
as of February 28, 2005, we estimate that this pre-tax charge would be approximately $0.5 million. This amount would vary based on the
number of unexercised unvested options and the actual stock price as of June 30, 2005.
 
Historical Overview
 
The following summary is intended to provide information concerning the historical background of the Company, as certain transactions
occurring in fiscal year 2001 had a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations for that year.
 
The Company’s predecessor, GEEG Holdings, L.L.C., was formed for the purpose of acquiring Jason Incorporated’s power generation
products division by the management of the division and other outside investors. This acquisition was consummated on June 5, 1998. Jason
Incorporated’s power generation division consisted of Braden Manufacturing L.L.C., Deltak L.L.C. and other subsidiaries.
 
In July 2000, the owners of GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. sought purchasers for the company, as a result of which, in August 2000, investment
entities controlled by Harvest Partners, Inc. acquired control of GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. in a recapitalization transaction. GEEG Holdings,
L.L.C. partially financed the recapitalization with $140.0 million of borrowings under a senior credit facility and a $67.5 million senior
subordinated loan. In October 2000, GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. acquired CFI Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiary, Consolidated Fabricators, Inc.,
for $25.2 million.
 
On May 18, 2001, the Company completed a reorganization, pursuant to which Global Power Equipment Group Inc. became the successor
to GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. On May 23, 2001, the Company completed its IPO of 7,350,000 shares of its common stock. As part of the
reorganization transaction, the following occurred:
 
•  GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. declared a distribution on its preferred units in an aggregate amount of $6.3 million, which was equal to the

accrued and unpaid dividend on those units, which was paid from the proceeds of the offering;
 
•  GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. declared a distribution to its members on account of their remaining fiscal year 2001 tax liability, a portion of

which was paid during the second fiscal quarter after completion of the IPO. The remaining balance was paid during the fourth fiscal
quarter out of available cash; and

 
•  The holders of common and preferred units of GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. exchanged their units for shares of the Company’s common

stock.
 
In connection with the reorganization and the IPO, the Company refinanced a portion of its outstanding indebtedness. The Company used a
portion of the net proceeds from the IPO to repay $27.5 million of its outstanding senior subordinated loan and $85.4 million of the
outstanding balance of its outstanding senior term loans under its senior credit facility. The Company refinanced the remaining balance on
its senior term loans under its senior credit facility using the proceeds of a term loan under an amended and restated senior credit facility.
For additional information, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below. This refinancing of the Company’s outstanding indebtedness in
May 2001 resulted in an approximate $13.7 million loss from the write-off of deferred financing costs and debt discount, as well as
prepayment premiums relating to the prepayment of long-term debt.
 
On June 15, 2001, the Company retired the remaining $40.0 million of its senior subordinated loan with the proceeds of a $35.0 million
increase to the new term loan facility and $5.0 million on the Company’s revolving credit facility. This debt extinguishment resulted in an
approximate $15.9 million loss from the write-off of deferred financing costs and debt discount, as well as prepayment premiums relating
to the prepayment of long-term debt. These amounts were charged to earnings in the second quarter of fiscal 2001.
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Critical Accounting Policies
 
The following discussion of accounting policies is intended to highlight certain portions of the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
presented as Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this
Form 10-K. These policies were selected because a fluctuation in actual results versus expected results could materially affect our operating
results and because the policies require significant judgments and estimates to be made each quarter. Our accounting related to these
policies is initially based on our best estimates at the time of original entry in our accounting records. Adjustments are periodically recorded
when our actual experience differs from the expected experience underlying the estimates. These adjustments could be material if our
experience were to change significantly in a short period of time. On a monthly basis we compare our actual experience and expected
experience in order to further mitigate the likelihood of material adjustments.
 
Revenue Recognition - GPEG currently has two segments: Heat Recovery Equipment and Auxiliary Power Equipment. Revenues and cost
of sales for our Heat Recovery Equipment segment are recognized on the percentage-of-completion method based on the percentage of
actual hours incurred to date in relation to total estimated hours for each contract. Our estimate of the total hours to be incurred at any
particular time has a significant impact on the revenue recognized for the respective period. The percentage-of-completion method is only
allowed under certain circumstances in which the revenue process is long-term in nature (often in excess of one year), the products sold are
highly customized and a process is in place whereby revenues, costs and margins can be accurately estimated. Changes in job performance,
job conditions, estimated profitability and final contract settlements may result in revisions to costs and income, and the effects of such
revisions are recognized in the period that the revisions are determined. Under percentage-of-completion accounting, management must
also make key judgments in areas such as percent complete, estimates of project costs and margin, estimates of total and remaining project
hours and liquidated damages and backcharge assessments. Any deviations from estimates could have a significant positive or negative
impact on our results of operations. A one percent variation from of our estimate of percent complete on those Heat Recovery Equipment
contracts in which we apply the percentage-of-completion method would have increased or decreased our 2004 revenues by approximately
$1.2 million.
 
Revenues for our Auxiliary Power Equipment segment are recognized on the completed-contract method due to the short-term nature of
the product production period. Under this method, no revenue is recognized until the contract is complete and the customer takes risk of
loss and title. Similar to our Heat Recovery Equipment segment, changes in job performance, job conditions, estimated profitability and
final contract settlements may result in revisions to job costs and income amounts that are different than were originally estimated.
 
During the course of a project or when a project has been completed, management may become aware of circumstances in which it should
make provisions for estimated costs. Costs of this nature are common in our industry and inherent in the nature of our business. The
Company records the estimated costs in the period in which they are identified. The costs are typically the result of warranty claims, final
contract settlements and liquidated damages due to late delivery. Unanticipated cost increases or delays may occur as a result of several
factors, including:
 
 •  increases in the cost or shortages of components, materials or labor;
 
 •  unanticipated technical problems;
 
 •  required project modifications not initiated by the customer; and
 
 •  suppliers’ or subcontractors’ failure to perform.
 
In some cases, cost overruns can be passed on to our customers, which are recognized in the period when agreement is reached with the
customers as to the amount of the claims. The agreement may occur after project completion. Cost overruns that we cannot pass on to our
customers or the payment of liquidated damages under our contracts will lower our gross profit and resulting operating income.
 
From time to time, customers have claims against the Company that result in litigation. The Company recognizes these claims as a charge
to cost of sales in the period when it is probable they will result in a loss and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
 
While management has made its best efforts to record known adjustments to revenues and cost of sales for claims, settlements and damages
for projects in process, it is possible that there are significant unknown adjustments that will be made in the future for those projects. These
adjustments could have a material impact on gross profit percentages and resulting profitability in a given annual or quarterly reporting
period.
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Nearly all of our contracts are entered into on a fixed-price basis. As a result, we benefit from cost savings, but have limited ability to
recover for any cost overruns, except in those contracts where the scope has changed. Contract prices are established based in part on our
projected costs, which are subject to a number of assumptions. The costs that we incur in connection with each contract can vary,
sometimes substantially, from our original projections. Because of the large scale and long duration of our contracts, unanticipated changes
may occur, such as customer budget decisions, design changes, delays in receiving permits and cost increases, which may delay delivery of
our products and, in turn, delay revenue recognition.
 
Warranty- Estimated costs related to product warranties are accrued as revenue is recognized and included in our cost of sales. Estimated
costs are based upon past warranty claims and sales history. Warranty terms vary by contract but generally provide for a term of three years
or less. We manage our exposure to warranty claims by having our field service and quality assurance personnel regularly monitor our
projects and maintain ongoing and regular communications with the customer. In 2004, a one percent variation from our warranty expense
would have increased or decreased our cost of goods sold by approximately $15,000. A reconciliation of the changes to our warranty
accrual for 2004 and 2003 is as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Balance at beginning of period   $15,004  $ 19,460 
Changes to previous estimates    (1,831)  (2,559)
Accruals during the period    3,377   9,614 
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during the period    (6,792)  (11,511)
    
Ending balance   $ 9,758  $ 15,004 
    

 
In 2004, the Company changed its previous estimates due to the lapse of warranty periods and lower than expected settlements under
warranty claims. During 2004, the warranty accrual for the Auxilliary Power Equipment segment was reduced by $1.7 million based on a
review of historical warranty claims. The Company continues to review its warranty policy in light of its changing business operations and
settlement experience.
 
Income Taxes- Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The Company classifies deferred tax assets and liabilities into current and non-current amounts based on the
classification of the related assets and liabilities. Certain judgments are made relating to recoverability of deferred tax assets, the level of
our expected future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. These judgments are routinely reviewed by management.
 
Stock-based Compensation- Stock-based compensation is accounted for using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”. No compensation expense is recorded for stock options
when granted as option prices have been set at the market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant.
 
SFAS 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, requires the measurement of the fair value of options to be included in the
statement of operations or disclosed in the notes to financial statements. The Company elected the disclosure-only alternative under SFAS
123.
 
In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB 123R (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment.” FASB 123R is a revision of FASB 123
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and it supercedes APB Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” FASB
123R provides guidance on transactions whereby companies exchange equity instruments for goods and services. This new rule requires
companies to expense the fair market value of stock options issued to employees. The Company will be required to adopt FASB 123R in
the third quarter of 2005. The Company is in the process of evaluating its alternatives under FASB 123R and determining the impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Goodwill and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets- We perform annual impairment analyses on our recorded goodwill and long-lived assets
whenever events and circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. The Company prepared the analysis as of December 31, 2004 with
the assistance of an independent third party valuation company.
 
The analysis includes assumptions related to future revenues, cash flows, and net assets. This analysis is based primarily on assumptions
about future events such as revenue and cash flow growth rates, discount rates and terminal value of the Company. Actual deviations from
the assumptions used in the analysis could have a significant impact on the estimated fair values calculated. Factors that would cause a
more frequent test for impairment include, among other things, a significant negative change in the estimated future cash flows of a
reporting unit that has goodwill because of an event or a combination of events. We did not record any impairment provisions upon the
adoption of SFAS 142 nor have we recorded any in 2004 or 2003 as the future estimated cash flows as well as current market values were
in excess of the reporting units’ asset carrying values.
 
Results of Operations
 
The table below represents the operating results of the Company for the periods indicated (in thousands except per share amounts):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Revenues   $233,692  $263,778  $586,805
Cost of sales    194,435   192,281   455,339
      

Gross profit    39,257   71,497   131,466
Selling and administrative expenses    39,162   38,083   42,212
      

Operating income    95   33,414   89,254
Interest expense    1,281   1,504   4,210
      

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest    (1,186)  31,910   85,044
Income tax provision (benefit)    (451)  12,126   33,167
      

Income (loss) before minority interest    (735)  19,784   51,877
Minority interest    (30)  —     —  
      

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (705) $ 19,784  $ 51,877
      
Per Common Share Data :             
Earnings per common share:             

Basic income (loss) per common share   $ (.02) $ 0.44  $ 1.18
      

Diluted income (loss) per common share   $ (.02) $ 0.43  $ 1.14
      
Weighted average common shares outstanding:             

Basic    46,195   44,521   43,959
Diluted    46,195   45,911   45,636
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2004

  

2003

  

2002

EBITDA calculation:             
Net income (loss)   $ (705) $19,784  $51,877
Add:             

Interest expense    1,281   1,504   4,210
Income tax provision (benefit)    (451)  12,126   33,167
Depreciation and amortization    3,583   3,563   3,682

      
EBITDA (1)   $3,708  $36,977  $92,936

      
 
(1) EBITDA is a supplemental, non-generally accepted accounting principle financial measure. EBITDA is defined as earnings (loss)

before taxes, interest expense, depreciation and amortization. We have presented EBITDA because we believe that it is an important
supplemental indicator of the operational strength of our business. EBITDA is also used by the financial community as a method of
measuring our performance and of evaluating the market value of companies considered to be in similar businesses. We believe that the
line item on our consolidated statements of operations entitled “net income (loss)” is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to
EBITDA. Since EBITDA is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP, it should not be considered in
isolation of, or as a substitute for, net earnings as an indicator of operating performance. EBITDA, as we calculate it, may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other companies. In addition, this measure does not necessarily represent funds
available for discretionary use, and is not necessarily a measure of our ability to fund our cash needs. EBITDA does not reflect our
capital expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments. As EBITDA excludes certain financial
measures, users of this financial information should consider the type of events and transactions which are excluded. Our non-GAAP
performance measure, EBITDA, has certain material limitations as follows:

 

 
•  It does not include interest expense. Because we have borrowed money to finance our operations, interest expense is a necessary

and ongoing part of our costs and has assisted us in generating revenue. Therefore, any measure that excludes interest expense has
material limitations.

 
 

•  It does not include taxes. Because the payment of taxes is a necessary and ongoing part of our operations, any measure that
excludes taxes has material limitations.

 

 
•  It does not include depreciation and amortization expense. Because we use capital assets, depreciation and amortization expense is

a necessary element of our costs and ability to generate revenue. Therefore, any measure that excludes depreciation and
amortization expense has material limitations.

 
A reconciliation of EBITDA to net income (loss) is set forth in the table above.
 
Prior to 2004, the Company used a 52-/53-week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in December. As a result, references in this report to
fiscal year 2003 refers to the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, and fiscal year 2002 refers to the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.
The fiscal years 2003 and 2002 included 52 weeks, and 2004 included 53 weeks.
 
During fourth quarter of 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a change in the fiscal year-end from the last Saturday in
December to December 31, which will be effective for the fourth quarter of 2004 and periods beyond. Accordingly, references to 2004 or to
fiscal year 2004 refer to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.
 
2004 compared to Fiscal Year 2003
 
The demand for our products and services depends, to a significant degree, on the continued construction of gas turbine power generation
plants. In 2004, approximately 82% of our revenues were from sales of equipment and provision of services for gas turbine power plants.
The power generation equipment industry has experienced cyclical periods of growth or decline. In periods of decreased demand for new
gas turbine power plants or difficulty in raising capital to finance new power plants, our customers may be more likely to decrease
expenditures on the types of products and systems that we supply and, as a result, our revenues may decrease.
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In addition, the gas turbine power industry depends on natural gas. A rise in the price or shortage in the supply of natural gas could affect
the profitability or operations of gas turbine power plants, which could adversely affect our future revenues. Liquidity concerns in 2002 and
continuing into 2003 in the merchant power production sector have reduced the availability of financing for power plant development in
the United States and have caused the market for our products to decline. While it is believed that the long-term need for gas fired power
plants on a world-wide basis is substantial, lower demand in the United States during 2003 and 2004 negatively impacted our bookings
until the second half of 2004 and revenue for both 2003 and 2004. We anticipate that demand for new power plants outside of the United
States will continue to provide a good market for our products.
 
Revenues
 
Revenues decreased 11.4% to $233.7 million for 2004 from $263.8 million for the fiscal year 2003. Revenues in both years were negatively
impacted by the downturn in the demand for gas turbine power generation equipment in the United States. Demand for our products from
international customers was fairly strong for the first six months of 2004 and very strong during the last half of 2004. The significant
amount of new orders booked in the last six months of 2004 is expected to result in a significant increase in 2005 revenues.
 
The following table sets forth our revenues for 2004 and fiscal year 2003 (dollars in thousands) by segment and by major product group:
 

   

Revenues

  Percentage
Change

    

2004

  

2003

  
Heat Recovery Equipment Segment:             

HRSGs   $ 74,103  $ 86,667  -14.5%
Specialty boilers    35,651   33,226  7.3%
Industrial boilers    7,562   —    NA 

         
Total segment revenues   $117,316  $119,893  -2.1%

         
Auxiliary Power Equipment Segment:             

Exhaust systems   $ 39,412  $ 48,463  -18.7%
Inlet systems    42,997   58,897  -27.0%
Other    33,967   36,525  -7.0%

         
Total segment revenues   $116,376  $143,885  -19.1%

         
Total revenues   $233,692  $263,778  -11.4%

         
 
Heat Recovery Equipment segment revenues decreased 2.1% to $117.3 million for the 2004. Revenues for HRSGs decreased 14.5% to
$74.1 million. The number and size of orders booked into backlog decreased dramatically during 2002 and 2003, which resulted in lower
revenues for 2003 and 2004 compared to earlier periods. However, we expect our 2005 HRSG revenues to increase significantly as
compared to 2004 based on the increased level of bookings at the end of 2004. While there was only a 7.3% increase in revenues from 2003
to 2004 for Specialty boilers, the demand for Specialty boilers in 2004 was much stronger as compared to 2003, but the lag between the
time an order is booked and revenue is recognized can be more than one year. The revenues from the sale of Industrial boilers relate
exclusively to our acquisition of Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. on July 30, 2004. In light of increased bookings for Specialty
boilers and the ownership of Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. for all of 2005, we expect Specialty boiler and Industrial boiler
revenues to increase in 2005.
 
Auxiliary Power Equipment segment revenues decreased 19.1% to $116.4 million for 2004. Revenues for exhaust systems decreased by
18.7% to $39.4 million. This decline is primarily due the downturn of the domestic power market resulting in a significantly lower level of
orders. Revenues for inlet systems and other equipment decreased by 27.0% to $43.0 million and 7.0% to $34.0 million, respectively. The
significant decrease is also due to a significantly lower level of domestic orders booked during 2003 and 2004.
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The following table presents our revenues by geographic region (dollars in millions):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  
Percent

Revenue Change

    

Revenue

  

Percent
of Total

  

Revenue

  

Percent
of Total

  
North America   $ 93.5  40.0% $180.8  68.5% -48.3%
Asia    66.6  28.5%  17.7  6.7% 276.3%
Middle East    39.8  17.0%  14.4  5.5% 176.4%
Europe    24.3  10.4%  39.0  14.8% -37.7%
South America    0.7  0.3%  1.4  0.5% -50.0%
Other    8.8  3.8%  10.5  4.0% -16.2%
         

Total   $233.7  100.0% $263.8  100.0% -11.4%
         
 
Revenues in North America comprised 40.0% of our revenues for 2004 and 68.5% of our revenue for fiscal year 2003. Revenues in North
America decreased 48.3% to $93.5 million for 2004, primarily as a result of the decrease in the development of gas turbine power plants in
the U.S. gas turbine power generation equipment industry beginning in the latter half of 2001 and continuing into 2004. A number of
factors have contributed to this situation such as debt and liquidity issues of several merchant power producing companies. While it is
believed that the long-term need for power plants on a world-wide basis is substantial, the current demand in the United States has slowed
considerably and is expected to remain depressed in 2005. We expect Mexico and Canada to remain good markets for our products in 2005.
 
Revenues in Asia increased 276.3% for 2004 to $66.6 million, as the Company began to recognize significant revenue from orders we
received from Chinese and other Asian customers in the first quarter of 2004. Due to its growing economy and acute shortage of power
generating capacity, Asia represents a significant growth opportunity and is expected to account for an increasingly large proportion of the
Company’s revenues over the next several years. Revenues in Europe decreased by 37.7% to $24.3 million primarily as a result of a
decreased demand for our products in Europe, but we expect this to improve in 2005 based on recent orders received. Middle East revenues
were $39.8 million for 2004 as compared to $14.4 million for fiscal year 2003. Most of the revenue relates to several large orders in Saudi
Arabia. The Middle East remains one of the most active markets for new power projects.
 
Gross Profit
 
Gross Profit decreased 45.1% to $39.3 million for 2004 from $71.5 million for fiscal year 2003. While total revenues decreased
approximately 11.4%, the gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased from 27.1% in 2003 to 16.8% in 2004. The primarily reasons
for the decrease in gross margins are as follows:
 
 

•  Steel prices in 2004 were much higher than expected. Steel prices rose dramatically throughout 2004. Our ability to recover these
higher costs from our customers on fixed price contracts was limited.

 
 

•  Increased competition led to lower overall pricing for projects in 2004 as the source of revenues shifted dramatically from the
United States and Europe to Asia and the Middle East.

 
 

•  Our product mix in 2003 resulted in a more favorable gross margin as compared to 2004. During 2004, our product mix shifted to
lower margin components relative to the prior year.

 

 
•  The 2003 gross profit benefited from actual project costs being lower than originally estimated and recorded on prior year

projects due to favorable outcome of backcharges, claims and various other contingencies. The 2004 gross margin benefited from
these items somewhat in 2004, but that benefit was much lower as compared to 2003.
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Throughout a project’s life cycle, gross profit percentages are continually monitored and, as actual project costs are incurred and other
unforeseen events occur, our cost estimates and corresponding margins and revenues will continue to be positively and negatively
impacted. We expect gross profit percentage in 2005 to be lower than prior years due to continued high steel prices and intense competition.
 
Selling and Administrative Expenses
 
Selling and administrative expenses increased 2.8% to $39.2 million for fiscal year 2004 from $38.1 million for fiscal year 2003. Excluding
the effect of restructuring costs of $4.8 million and $3.4 million, respectively, total selling and administrative expenses in 2004 were
comparable to 2003.
 
As a percentage of revenues, selling and administrative expenses increased to 16.8% for 2004 from 14.4% for the comparable period of
fiscal year 2003 as a result of our decreasing revenues and higher restructuring costs in 2004 compared to 2003.
 
Operating Income
 
Operating income decreased to $0.1 million for 2004 from $33.4 million in fiscal year 2003. The decrease in revenues and gross profit were
the main contributors to this decrease. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we experienced an operating loss of approximately $2.4 million.
Included in that loss were unrealized losses on several forward foreign currency contracts, management restructuring and operational
restructuring costs. Except for the unpredictable impact of future unrealized gain or loss on forward foreign currency contracts, we do not
expect to incur these types of charges in 2005 and, therefore, believe that our operating income will be positive in future quarters.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense decreased to $1.3 million for 2004 from $1.5 million for fiscal year 2003. For the first nine months of 2004, interest
expense was at a much lower run rate than 2003 due to a significant reduction of debt during 2003 and the first half of 2004 resulting from
voluntary principal payments. This trend reversed in the fourth quarter of 2004 due to higher total debt as well as higher debt issuance cost
amortization from the refinancing of our senior credit facility and the issuance of the convertible notes to finance the acquisition of WISG.
In addition, our overall debt level at year-end 2004 was much higher than year-end 2003 with the inclusion of the convertible notes.
 
Our year-end 2004 borrowing rate increased approximately 197 basis points from year-end 2003 due to general market conditions and the
borrowing terms of the new senior credit facility. At December 31, 2004, the average interest rate on our term debt was 4.43%, and our
convertible notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.25%.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company is currently reflecting a 38% effective tax rate in the 2004 tax provision. Our continued amortization of goodwill, for income
tax reporting purposes, will allow us to reduce cash paid for future taxes by approximately $6.4 million annually, but will not reduce future
income tax expense. We had approximately $37.3 million of federal net operating loss carrybacks and $0 of federal loss carryforwards at
December 31, 2004. The related income tax receivable is reflected in other current assets. The Company also has state net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $35.2 million, which will begin expiring in the years 2008 through 2023 and foreign net operating loss
carryforwards of $1.6 million, which will expire in 2014. The related tax benefit is reflected in the deferred tax assets.
 
Backlog
 
Backlog increased to approximately $308.9 million at December 31, 2004, compared to $178.5 million at December 27, 2003. Based on
current production and delivery schedules, we believe that up to $228.8 million, or 74%, of our backlog at December 31, 2004, will be
recognized as a portion of our revenues in 2005. Our backlog consists of firm orders from our customers for projects in progress. Bookings
of projects can only be reflected in the backlog when the customers have made a firm commitment. Backlog may vary significantly quarter
to quarter due to the timing of customer commitments. During 2004, we removed bookings of approximately $17 million, with zero
bookings removed in the fourth quarter. Cancellation fees and revenue recognition have normally exceeded our out-of-pocket costs on
projects removed from backlog.
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Fiscal Year 2003 compared to Fiscal Year 2002
 
Revenues
 
Revenues decreased 55.0% to $263.8 million for the fiscal year 2003 from $586.8 million for the fiscal year 2002. This decrease was due to
a continued decline in new orders for both Heat Recovery and Auxiliary Power equipment, primarily in the United States market. Demand
in the gas turbine power generation equipment industry began to decrease during the latter half of 2001, and that trend continued into 2003.
Consequently, the development of domestic gas turbine power plants slowed considerably beginning in the latter half of 2001. As a result,
our revenues in fiscal 2003 were significantly lower than revenues in 2002 due to the downturn in new power plant construction within the
United States.
 
The following table sets forth our segment revenues for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):
 

   

Revenues

  Percentage
Change

    

2003

  

2002

  
Heat Recovery Equipment Segment:             

HRSGs   $ 86,667  $231,019  -62.5%
Specialty boilers    33,226   77,609  -57.2%

         
Total segment revenues   $119,893  $308,628  -61.2%

         
Auxiliary Power Equipment Segment:             

Exhaust systems   $ 48,463  $ 67,375  -28.1%
Inlet systems    58,897   134,153  -56.1%
Other    36,525   76,649  -52.3%

         
Total segment revenues   $143,885  $278,177  -48.3%

         
Total revenues   $263,778  $586,805  -55.0%

         
 
Heat Recovery Equipment segment revenues decreased 61.2% to $119.9 million for the fiscal year 2003. Revenues for HRSGs decreased
62.5% to $86.7 million. The volume and size of orders booked into backlog decreased dramatically during 2002 and 2003, which results in
lower revenues in the following periods. Revenues for specialty boilers decreased by 57.2% to $33.2 million. This decrease was due in part
to a lower level of revenues for selective catalytic reduction (SCR) units. The large decrease in SCR units was expected, and was due to
one-time environmental compliance related investments made in the U.S., which were largely completed in 2001 and 2002.
 
Auxiliary Power Equipment segment revenues decreased 48.3% to $143.9 million for fiscal year 2003. Revenues for exhaust systems
decreased by 28.1% to $48.5 million. This decline was primarily due the downturn of the domestic power market resulting in a significantly
lower level of orders. Revenues for inlet systems and other equipment decreased by 56.1% to $58.9 million and 52.3% to $36.5 million,
respectively. The significant decrease was also due to a significantly lower level of domestic orders booked during 2002 and 2003.
 
The demand for our products and services depends, to a significant degree, on the continued construction of gas turbine power generation
plants. In fiscal year 2003, approximately 87% of our revenues were from sales of equipment and provision of services for gas turbine
power plants. Liquidity concerns in 2002 and continuing into 2003 in the merchant power production sector reduced the availability of
financing for power plant development in the United States and caused the market for our products to decline. While it is believed that the
long-term need for gas fired power plants on a world-wide basis is substantial, lower demand in the United States during 2002 and 2003
negatively impacted our bookings and revenue.
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The following table presents our revenues by geographic region (dollars in millions):
 

   

2003

  

2002

  Percent
Revenue
Change

    

Revenue

  

Percent
of Total

  

Revenue

  

Percent
of Total

  
North America   $180.8  68.5% $483.5  82.4% -62.6%
South America    1.4  0.5%  8.8  1.5% -84.1%
Europe    39.0  14.8%  48.5  8.3% -19.6%
Asia    17.7  6.7%  30.8  5.2% -42.5%
Other    24.9  9.5%  15.2  2.6% 63.8%
         

Total   $263.8  100.0% $586.8  100.0% -55.0%
         
 
Revenues in North America comprised 68.5% of our revenues for fiscal year 2003 and 82.4% for fiscal year 2002. Revenues in North
America decreased 62.6% to $180.8 million for fiscal year 2003, primarily as a result of a significant decrease in the volume of products
sold. This volume decrease was caused primarily by the decrease in the development of gas turbine power plants in the U.S. gas turbine
power generation equipment industry beginning in the latter half of 2001 and continuing into 2003. A number of factors contributed to this
situation such as debt and liquidity issues of several merchant power producing companies.
 
Revenues in Asia decreased 42.5% for fiscal year 2003 to $17.7 million. For 2003, delays in booking new business in Asia impacted
revenues. While the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) was not a significant factor, delays for other components on
certain Asia projects from other vendors impacted the timing of recording bookings and corresponding revenue. Revenues in Europe
decreased by 19.6% to $39.0 million primarily as a result of a significant decrease in the volume of products sold.
 
Other revenues increased to $24.9 million for fiscal year 2003 primarily as a result of an increase in the number of projects in the Middle
East.
 
Gross Profit
 
Gross Profit decreased 46% to $71.5 million for fiscal year 2003 from $131.4 million for fiscal year 2002. While total revenues decreased
approximately 55%, the gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased by 4.7%. The 2003 gross profit as a percentage of revenue
benefited primarily from lower production costs by shifting fabrication to lower cost sources as well as improved product mix within the
two operating segments. Additionally, the 2003 gross profit as a percentage of revenue benefited by approximately $7.4 million, or 2.8%,
from actual project costs being lower than originally estimated and recorded on prior year projects due to the favorable outcome of
backcharges, claims and other various contingencies. However, this benefit was partially offset by overhead charges (including severance
pay and other underutilized plant costs) of approximately $6.1 million or (2.3%) as a result of significant reduction of manufacturing in our
Clinton, South Carolina, Tulsa, Oklahoma and Toluca, Mexico plants.
 
As a result of our focus to shift our manufacturing capacity to lower cost sources, in March 2002, management approved and executed a
plan to shut down our facility in Fort Smith, Arkansas, effective April 30, 2002. The assets, which were included in our Auxiliary Power
Equipment segment, have been disposed. Additionally, in connection with the lay offs of the employees, the Auxiliary Power Equipment
segment recorded $875,000 of severance costs (included as a component of cost of goods sold), related to the elimination of approximately
100 employee positions at the Fort Smith plant, during the first quarter of 2002. All severance costs were paid in 2002.
 
Selling and Administrative Expenses
 
Selling and administrative expenses decreased 9.8% to $38.1 million for fiscal year 2003 from $42.2 million for fiscal year 2002. Not
including approximately $1.0 million of costs incurred related to our strategic acquisition efforts incurred in fiscal year 2003, selling and
administrative costs decreased approximately $5.1 million. This decrease was due to decreases in sales and administrative personnel
occurring in the latter part of 2002 as well as other cost savings measures implemented in response to the downturn in the U.S. power
market. Excluding fourth quarter restructuring costs of $3.4 million, selling and administrative expenses were $34.7 million for 2003.
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As a percentage of revenues, selling and administrative expenses increased to 14.4% for fiscal year 2003 from 7.2% for the comparable
period of fiscal year 2002 as a result of our decreasing revenues and as a result of the previously detailed restructuring costs incurred in the
fourth quarter of 2003.
 
Operating Income
 
Operating income decreased to $33.4 million for fiscal year 2003 from $89.3 million in fiscal year 2002. The decrease in revenues and
associated gross profit were the main contributors to this decrease.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense decreased to $1.5 million for fiscal year 2003 from $4.2 million for fiscal year 2002. This decrease was due primarily to
voluntary principal payments that reduced total debt by $35.1 million during 2003. Additionally, our borrowing rate decreased by
approximately 100 basis points due to general market interest rate reductions. At December 27, 2003, our term debt bore interest at an
average rate of 2.46%.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company used a 38% effective tax rate in the 2003 tax provision compared to the 39% effective tax rate used in fiscal years 2002 and
2001. The decrease is due to the lower marginal tax rate at lower income levels. Our continued amortization of goodwill, for income tax
reporting purposes, will allow us to reduce cash paid for future taxes by approximately $6.4 million annually, but will not reduce future
income tax expense. We did not have any net operating loss carryforwards at December 27, 2003.
 
Backlog
 
Backlog decreased to approximately $178.5 million at December 27, 2003, compared to $275.1 million at December 28, 2002. Our backlog
consists of firm orders from our customers for projects in progress. Bookings of projects can only be reflected in the backlog when the
customers have made a firm commitment. Backlog may vary significantly quarter to quarter due to the timing of customer commitments.
During fiscal year 2003, we removed bookings of approximately $35 million, with less than $1 million removed in the fourth quarter.
Cancellation fees and revenue recognition have normally exceeded our out-of-pocket costs on the projects removed.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Our primary sources (uses) of cash are net cash flow from operations and borrowings under our credit facilities. Our primary uses of this
cash are principal and interest payments on indebtedness, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes.
 
Operating Activities
 
Net cash provided by (used in) operations decreased to $(11.0) million for 2004 from $24.4 million for fiscal year 2003. Lower earnings
was the primary reason for this decrease. The other primary component of the decrease was the increase in working capital. The increase in
working capital is related to the significant amount of new orders booked during late 2003 and early 2004. The payment terms on these
orders are less favorable when compared to historical orders in other markets, which typically provide for greater upfront payments. Also
contributing to the increase in working capital are customer imposed shipping delays on some of our Auxiliary Power Equipment orders. In
most instances, we may bill the customers for these orders only when the equipment is shipped. If this trend in working capital continues,
we will most likely be required to borrow on our revolving line of credit. In addition, as previously discussed and in anticipation of this
unfavorable trend in working capital, in March 2005, we amended our credit agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, our lenders waived
compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio for the period ended March 31, 2005, modified our leverage ratio covenants and increased
our letter of credit sub-limit within the revolving line of credit.
 
Net cash provided by operations decreased 76.3% to $24.4 million for fiscal year 2003 from $103.1 million for fiscal year 2002. Lower
earnings and higher working capital were the primary reasons for the change. However, working capital in 2002 was unusually low given
the level of revenues. During the second quarter of 2002, we received $69.0 million from progress payments on three large Heat Recovery
Equipment projects.
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Investing Activities
 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities was $(85.0) million for 2004 as compared to $0.2 million for fiscal year 2003 due to the
acquisition of Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co, Ltd., the increase in restricted cash to be used to acquire WISG in April 2005 and an
increase in capital expenditures. Net cash provided by investing activities increased to $0.2 million for fiscal year 2003 from $(2.7) million
for fiscal year 2002 due to our decrease in capital expenditures in 2003 and proceeds from the sale of Ft. Smith assets during 2003.
 
Financing Activities
 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was $68.0 million for 2004 as compared to $(34.7) million for fiscal year 2003 due to
the refinancing of the Company’s senior credit facility and the issuance of $69.0 million of convertible notes. Net cash provided by (used
in) financing activities was $(34.7) million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $(45.5) million in fiscal year 2002. Long-term debt payments of
$35.1 million and proceeds of $0.4 million from the issuance of common stock comprised the activity for 2003. Activity in 2002 consisted
of net payments on our revolving line of credit facility of $8.5 million as well as payments on our term debt of $37.0 million.
 
On October 1, 2004, the Company refinanced certain indebtedness outstanding under its existing amended and restated senior credit facility
using proceeds from a new credit agreement entered into with Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, as well as four other
lenders. In addition, on November 23, 2004, the Company issued $69 million of convertible senior subordinated notes. The terms and
conditions of the new senior credit facility and convertible senior subordinated notes are explained in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements. Based on the terms of the senior credit and convertible notes agreements, $74.4 million of our cash at December 31, 2004 was
restricted. We expect to use $57.7 million of the restricted cash for the purchase of WISG in April 2005. Of the remaining $16.7 million of
restricted cash, $9.0 million is escrowed until August 2005 to be used in the event that the noteholders redeem up to $9.0 million of the
notes. In the event that the WISG transaction is not consummated by April 30, 2005, an additional $7.7 million will be held in escrow for
the benefit of the convertible note investors until the WISG acquisition is consummated.
 
Both the senior credit facility and the convertible senior subordinated notes require the Company to comply with various operating and
financial covenants. Some of the covenants in our credit agreement were modified in March 2005. Management currently anticipates that
the Company will comply with these amended covenants for the remainder of 2005. However, because our financial performance is
impacted by various economic, financial, and industry factors, we cannot say with certainty whether we will satisfy these covenants in the
future. Noncompliance with these covenants would constitute an event of default, allowing the lenders to accelerate the repayment of any
borrowings outstanding under the related senior credit facility and convertible notes. While no assurances can be given, we believe that we
would be able to successfully negotiate amended covenants or obtain waivers if an event of default were imminent; however, we might be
required to make certain financial concessions. Our business, results of operations and financial condition would be adversely affected if we
were unable to successfully negotiate amended covenants or obtain waivers on acceptable terms.
 
Cash Obligations
 
Under various agreements, we are obligated to make future cash payments in fixed amounts. These include principal and interest payments
under our senior credit facility and convertible senior subordinated notes, our agreement with Harvest Partners, Inc. (Harvest), the 2003
management restructuring plan (including retirement and severance benefits and consulting fees) and rent payments required under
operating lease agreements.
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The following table summarizes our fixed cash obligations as of December 31, 2004 over various future periods (dollars in thousands):
 

   

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Cash Obligations

  

Less than
1 Year

  

1 - 3
Years

  

4 - 5
Years

  

After 5
Years

  

Total

Long-term debt (1)   $20,764  $25,384  $ 9,698  $62,932  $118,778
Restructuring costs    3,420   425   —     —     3,845
Operating leases    2,149   4,777   2,116   —     9,042
           

Total contractual cash obligations   $26,333  $30,586  $11,814  $62,932  $131,665
           
 
(1) Represents principal payments due under the senior credit facility, the convertible senior subordinated notes and the related interest.

The interest on the senior credit facility for all periods has been computed using the interest rate in effect at December 31, 2004, and the
interest rate on the convertible senior subordinated notes is fixed at 4.25%.

 
In addition to the contractual cash obligations in the table above, we are contractually committed to annual payments of certain fees for
financial advisory and strategic planning services to Harvest which is explained in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. In the
fourth quarter of 2004, the fee was restructured from a fixed annual fee to an amount comprised of a fixed annual fee plus a variable
amount based on the Company’s EBITDA.
 
While estimated costs related to product warranty are accrued as revenue is recognized, the actual cash payments for warranty claims can
vary widely from year to year. A reconciliation of the changes to our warranty liability for 2004 and 2003 is located in the Critical
Accounting Policies section in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this
Form 10-K.
 
The Company has various future obligations in connection with its 2003 management restructuring plan. A full discussion of the
management restructuring plan is located in the Overview section of “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”
 
At December 31, 2004 we had a contingent liability for stand-by letters of credit totaling $40.8 million that have been issued and are
outstanding that generally were issued to secure our performance on customer contracts. Currently, there are no amounts drawn upon these
letters of credit. In addition, upon the acquisition of WISG which is expected to occur in April 2005, we will be required to collateralize its
bonding requirements.
 
At December 31, 2004, the Company had available cash on hand of approximately $24.3 million and approximately $34.2 million of
available capacity under its revolving credit facility. Given the significant amount of new orders booked in the last six months of 2004 and
thus far in 2005, coupled with the less favorable payment terms on some of our larger Heat Recovery Equipment orders, the Company
expects to utilize the revolving line of credit to fund its 2005 working capital needs. The Company estimates that capital expenditures in
2005 will be approximately $1.4 million. The amount of cash flows generated from operations is subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including the continued construction of gas turbine power generation plants as well as other risks described under “Item 1.
Business- Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K. In 2005, the Company expects to consumate the acqusition of WISG. The Company may
actively seek and consider additional acquisitions of or investments in complementary businesses, products or services. The consummation
of any acquisition using cash will affect the Company’s liquidity.
 
Related Parties
 
Affiliates of Harvest are our largest stockholders. In addition, two of the directors that serve on our board are general partners of Harvest.
During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, we incurred consulting expenses from Harvest in the amounts of $1.0 million, $1.3 million and
$1.3 million, respectively. Under a management agreement with Harvest we are contractually committed to annual payments of certain fees
for financial advisory and strategic planning services to Harvest as explained in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Legislation
 
In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB 151 “Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4.” FASB 151 requires companies to expense all abnormal amounts of inventory costs such as idle facility, freight,
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handling costs and spoilage. ARB No. 43 allowed companies to capitalize these costs under certain circumstances. FASB 151 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect FASB 151 to have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
 
In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB 153 “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.” FASB 153
amends APB No. 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general
exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. FASB 153 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect adoption of FASB 153 to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
 
In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB 123R (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment.” FASB 123R is a revision of FASB 123
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and it supercedes APB Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” FASB
123R provides guidance on transactions whereby companies exchange equity instruments for goods and services. This new rule requires
companies to expense the fair market value of stock options issued to employees. FASB 123R is effective for interim periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. The impact of FASB 123R on the Company is more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
 
On October 22, 2004, President Bush signed the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S.
corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned abroad by providing an 85% dividends received deduction for certain dividends from
controlled foreign corporations, replacement of the extraterritorial income exclusion (ETI) with a domestic manufacturing deduction and
various other tax incentives to generate American job growth. The deduction is subject to a number of limitations and, as of today,
uncertainty remains as to how to interpret numerous provisions of the Act. As such, we will assess our position on repatriation of foreign
earnings in 2005. Currently, we estimate the range of dividends to be repatriated to be $0 to $5 million.
 
 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
We are exposed to market risks. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market prices and interest and foreign
currency rates. We do not enter into derivative or other financial instruments for speculative purposes. Our market risk could arise from
changes in the creditworthiness of customers, interest rates, foreign currency exchange and steel prices.
 
Credit Risks
 
Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade receivables. Given the nature of our
business, we typically have significant amounts due from a relatively low number of customers. At December 31, 2004, 34% of our trade
receivables were due from three customers. In order to reduce our risk of non-collection, we perform extensive credit investigation of all
new customers.
 
Interest Rate Risk
 
We are subject to market risk exposure related to changes in interest rates. Assuming our current level of borrowings, a 100 basis point
increase in interest rates under our adjustable rate borrowings would have increased our interest expense for 2004 by approximately $0.8
million. However, under the terms of our senior credit facility, we are allowed to lock into interest rates for a period of up to twelve months
on our long-term debt. In December 2004, we entered into fixed rate agreements yielding an average rate of 4.43% with varying maturity
dates extending as long as nine months on all of our term loan as of the end of 2004.
 
The interest rate on our convertible senior subordinated notes is fixed at 4.25% for the life of the notes.
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
 
Portions of our operations are located in foreign jurisdictions including Europe, Mexico and China. Our financial results could be affected
by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets. In addition, sales of
products and services are affected by the value of the United States dollar relative to other currencies. Changes in currency rates may affect
our cost of materials or labor purchased in foreign countries. We attempt to manage portions of our foreign currency exposure through
denomination of cash receipts and cash disbursements in the same currency. Periodically, we manage our foreign currency exposure
through the use of foreign currency forward exchange agreements. Forward agreements totaling $30.8 million were in place at December
31, 2004 with varying amounts due through August 2007. Of the $30.8 million, $29.6 million represents forward contracts to sell Euros in
the future for a specific number of U.S dollars. Currently, the Company recognizes changes in the fair values of the forward agreements
through cost of sales. The fair value of unrealized losses on the forward agreements of approximately $0.6 million at December 31, 2004 is
included in earnings.
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Given the significant increase in the value of our forward agreements from 2003 to 2004, our future earnings may be dramatically impacted
by unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in the Euro. A one percent, five percent and ten percent change in the forward rate
would result in an additional unrealized gain or loss of $0.3 million, $1.3 million and $2.7 million, respectively, based on the amount
hedged at December 31, 2004.
 
Steel Price Risk
 
Since no futures market exists for steel, it is difficult to implement forward hedging programs to purchase steel that we may require on any
given project on which we bid. Additionally, given the competitive nature of the bidding process, we have chosen not to speculate on steel
prices by placing large quantities of steel into inventory in anticipation that we may win any particular award. During the later part of 2004,
we implemented various programs to minimize the impact of rising steel costs, including working more closely with our suppliers, our
manufacturing partners and our customers. We are evaluating other steps to minimize the impact of rising steel costs. As an example, we
have shortened the time between proposal and order acceptance on projects that we pursue.
 
At the beginning of 2005, we remain vulnerable to rising steel costs and believe our gross margins will remain lower than our historical
average. If and when steel prices stabilize and then decline, we believe the pressure on our gross margin will subside. However, given the
volume of lower margin jobs that were booked into our backlog during late 2004, we believe it could take several quarters for our
profitability to improve given the impact of higher than expected steel costs and the related competitive market conditions.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
Management of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those written policies and procedures that:
 
 

•  Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
assets;

 
 

•  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 

•  Provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors; and

 
 

•  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets
that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
Management assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. Management based this
assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design
and testing of the operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its
assessment with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
 
Based on this assessment, management determined that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting.
 
The scope of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 excludes
Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. which the Company acquired on July 30, 2004. Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd is a
90% owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues represent 6.8% and 3.2%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial
statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004.
 
Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is located immediately
following this report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Global Power Equipment Group Inc.:
 
We have completed an integrated audit of Global Power Equipment Group Inc.’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002 consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions,
based on our audits, are presented below.
 
Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and December 27, 2003, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15 (a)2
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Internal control over financial reporting
 
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing
under Item 8 that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is
to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over
financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Deltak Power Equipment
(China) Co., Ltd. from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 which was acquired by the
Company in a purchase business combination during 2004. We have also excluded Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. from our
audit of internal control over financial reporting. Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. is a 90% owned subsidiary whose total assets
and total revenues represent 6.8% and 3.2%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2004.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 11, 2005
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands)
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 27,
2003

 
ASSETS          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 24,331  $ 51,315 
Restricted cash    16,669   —   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $894 and $1,325    40,260   42,582 
Inventories    8,857   3,013 
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings    60,861   40,706 
Deferred income taxes    10,576   17,315 
Other current assets    15,966   3,983 

    
Total current assets    177,520   158,914 

Property, plant and equipment, net    22,983   20,740 
Deferred income taxes    51,030   55,094 
Goodwill    45,000   45,000 
Restricted cash    57,688   —   
Other assets    12,673   1,248 
    

Total assets   $ 366,894  $ 280,996 
    
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY          
Current liabilities:          

Current maturities of long-term debt   $ 16,854  $ 14 
Accounts payable    27,852   18,974 
Accrued compensation and employee benefits    4,545   7,285 
Accrued warranty    9,758   15,004 
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings    52,707   53,293 
Other current liabilities    8,005   5,203 

    
Total current liabilities    119,721   99,773 

Other long-term liabilities    4,374   1,888 
Long-term debt, net of current maturities    78,750   24,949 
Minority interest    1,629   —   
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 5 and 9)          
Stockholders’ equity:          

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized,
no shares issued or outstanding    —     —   

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
46,770,314 and 45,207,930 shares issued and outstanding for 2004 and 2003    468   452 

Paid-in capital deficit    (17,698)  (25,492)
Deferred compensation    (91)  —   
Accumulated comprehensive income    3,636   2,616 
Retained earnings    176,105   176,810 

    
Total stockholders’ equity    162,420   154,386 

    
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 366,894  $ 280,996 

    
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2004

  

For the Year
Ended

December 27,
2003

  

For the Year
Ended

December 28,
2002

Revenues   $ 233,692  $ 263,778  $ 586,805
Cost of sales    194,435   192,281   455,339
      

Gross profit    39,257   71,497   131,466
Selling and administrative expenses    39,162   38,083   42,212
      

Operating income    95   33,414   89,254
Interest expense    1,281   1,504   4,210
      

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest    (1,186)  31,910   85,044
Income tax provision (benefit)    (451)  12,126   33,167
      

Income (loss) before minority interest    (735)  19,784   51,877
Minority interest    (30)  —     —  
      

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (705) $ 19,784  $ 51,877
      
Earnings per weighted average common share:             

Basic:             
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (0.02) $ 0.44  $ 1.18

      
Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding-basic    46,195   44,521   43,959

      
Diluted:             
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (0.02) $ 0.43  $ 1.14

      
Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding-diluted    46,195   45,911   45,636

      
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)
 

   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2004

  

For the Year
Ended

December 27,
2003

  

For the Year
Ended

December 28,
2002

Net income (loss)   $ (705) $ 19,784  $ 51,877
Foreign currency translation adjustments    1,020   1,794   902
      
Comprehensive income   $ 315  $ 21,578  $ 52,779
      
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, except share amounts)
 

   

Common Shares

  Paid-in
Capital
(Deficit)

 

 
Retained
earnings

 

 
Deferred

compensation

 

 

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

 

 

Total

    

Shares

  

Amount

      
Balance, December 29, 2001   43,953,340  $ 440  $(28,329) $105,149  $ —    $ (80) $ 77,180 

Exercise of options   23,339   —     8   —     —     —     8 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   —     —     —     —     —     902   902 
Net income   —     —     —     51,877   —     —     51,877 

           
Balance, December 28, 2002   43,976,679   440   (28,321)  157,026   —     822   129,967 

Exercise of options   1,231,251   12   431   —     —     —     443 
Tax benefit on exercise of stock options   —     —     2,393   —     —     —     2,393 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     5   —     —     —     5 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   —     —     —     —     —     1,794   1,794 
Net income   —     —     —     19,784   —     —     19,784 

           
Balance, December 27, 2003   45,207,930   452   (25,492)  176,810   —     2,616   154,386 

Exercise of options   1,552,384   16   1,729   —     —     —     1,745 
Tax benefit on exercise of stock options   —     —     5,392   —     —     —     5,392 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     580   —     —     —     580 
Restricted stock award   10,000   —     93   —     (93)  —     —   
Amortization of restricted stock   —     —     —     —     2   —     2 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   —     —     —     —     —     1,020   1,020 
Net loss   —     —     —     (705)  —     —     (705)

           
Balance, December 31, 2004   46,770,314  $ 468  $(17,698) $176,105  $ (91) $ 3,636  $162,420 
           
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 

   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2004

  

For the Year
Ended

December 27,
2003

  

For the Year
Ended

December 28,
2002

 
Operating activities:              

Net income (loss)   $ (705) $ 19,784  $ 51,877 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

(used in) provided by operating activities-              
Write-down of fixed assets (Note 2)    489   —     —   
Depreciation and amortization    4,276   4,202   4,625 
Deferred income taxes    10,803   11,464   3,334 
Loss on disposal of equipment    577   402   494 
Changes in operating items (Note 10)    (25,111)  (13,364)  42,758 
Other long-term liabilities    (1,915)  1,888   —   
Stock-based compensation    582   5   —   

     
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities    (11,004)  24,381   103,088 

     
Investing activities:              

Purchase of a business, net of cash acquired    (8,710)  —     —   
Net change in restricted cash (Notes 2 and 7)    (74,357)  —     —   
Proceeds from sale of equipment    30   606   208 
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment    (1,942)  (411)  (2,869)

     
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities    (84,979)  195   (2,661)

     
Financing activities:              

Proceeds from revolving credit facility    4,369   —     124,000 
Payments on revolving credit facility    (1,524)  —     (132,550)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt    94,000   —     —   
Payments on long-term debt    (26,204)  (35,110)  (37,006)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    1,745   443   8 
Increase in deferred financing costs    (4,384)  —     —   

     
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    68,002   (34,667)  (45,548)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    997   2,364   1,728 

     
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (26,984)  (7,727)  56,607 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    51,315   59,042   2,435 
     
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 24,331  $ 51,315  $ 59,042 
     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
1. BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATION
 
Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company” or “GPEG”, formerly GEEG Holdings, L.L.C.) designs, engineers
and manufactures heat recovery and Auxiliary Power Equipment. Our products include:
 

•      heat recovery steam generators;  •      exhaust systems;

•      filter houses;  •      diverter dampers;

•      inlet systems;  •      specialty boilers and related products; and

•      gas turbine, steam turbine and generator enclosures;  •      industrial boilers.
 
The Company’s corporate headquarters are located in Tulsa, Oklahoma, with operating facilities in Plymouth, Minnesota; Tulsa,
Oklahoma; Auburn, Massachusetts; Monterrey, Mexico; Shanghai, China; Nanjing, China and Heerlen, Netherlands.
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Principles of Consolidation
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and its wholly owned
and majority owned subsidiaries: Deltak; Deltak Construction Services, Inc.; Deltak Europe – BV; Deltak Israel, Ltd.; Braden
Manufacturing, L.L.C. (Braden); Braden Construction Services, Inc.; Braden Europe – BV; Braden Manufacturing S.A. de C.V.; Global
Power Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Fiscal Year End
 
Effective for the fourth quarter of 2004 and periods beyond, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a change in the fiscal year-end
from the last Saturday in December to December 31. Accordingly, references to 2004 or to fiscal year 2004 refer to the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004. Prior to 2004, the Company used a 52-/53-week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in December. As a result,
references in this report to fiscal year 2003 refers to the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, and fiscal year 2002 refers to the fiscal year
ended December 28, 2002. The fiscal years 2003 and 2002 include 52 weeks, and 2004 includes 53 weeks.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments that are convertible into known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of investments in commercial paper.
 
Restricted Cash
 
Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents that are not available for withdrawal by the Company. The noncurrent portion of the
restricted cash is expected to be used to finance the WISG acquisition.
 
Inventories
 
Inventories consist of raw materials and are stated at the lower of first-in, first-out cost, average cost or market.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method for financial reporting purposes over the estimated useful lives.
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The Company’s property, plant and equipment balances, by significant asset category, are as follows:
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 27,
2003

  

Lives

   (in thousands)    
Land   $ 1,650  $ 2,418  —  
Buildings and improvements    16,760   12,121  5-39 years
Machinery and equipment    14,845   13,462  5-12 years
Furniture and fixtures    6,645   6,514  2-10 years
      
    39,900   34,515   
Less accumulated depreciation    (16,917)  (13,775)  

      
Property, plant and equipment, net   $ 22,983  $ 20,740   

      
 
Depreciation expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $3.6 million, $3.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively. Costs of significant additions,
renewals and betterments are capitalized. When an asset is sold or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are
removed from the respective accounts and the gain or loss on disposition is reflected in earnings. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
operations when incurred.
 
Goodwill
 
Goodwill represents the costs of acquisitions in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired and prior to fiscal year 2002 was
amortized using the straight-line method over 30 years. Accumulated amortization as of December 29, 2001 was $4.7 million. Upon
adoption of SFAS 142 on December 30, 2001, the Company no longer amortizes goodwill. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or
as events dictate; however, no impairment adjustments were required in 2002, 2003 or 2004.
 
Deferred Financing Costs
 
Deferred financing costs are amortized by the effective interest method over the terms of the related debt facilities. Total interest expense
associated with the amortization of these costs was $0.7 million, $0.6 million and $0.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 
Long-Lived Assets
 
Long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, are evaluated for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows
from the use of these assets. No impairments were required in 2003 or 2002.
 
During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company placed its Clinton, South Carolina plant and an insignificant amount of equipment for sale.
Since the property met the requirements of an “asset held for sale” in accordance with FASB 144 “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets,” the Company wrote down the property to its fair market value less costs to sell and ceased depreciation. The
remaining net book value of the property of approximately $1.2 million has been reclassified to other assets on the balance sheet.
 
Warranty Costs
 
The Company typically warrants labor and fabrication for three years or less. Estimated costs of warranty repairs are accrued and included
on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as Accrued warranty.
 
Income Taxes
 
The current provision for income taxes is based on current federal and state statutory rates which are adjusted based on changes in tax laws
and significant fluctuations in taxable income.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The Company classifies deferred tax liabilities and assets into current and non-current amounts based on the classification of the
related assets and liabilities. Certain judgments are made relating to recoverability of deferred tax assets, level of expected future taxable
income and available tax planning strategies. These judgments are routinely reviewed by management.
 
Insurance
 
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are self-insured for health and workers’ compensation up to certain policy limits. Amounts charged to
expense include insurance premiums and claims in 2004, 2003 and 2002 for these items of $2.1 million, $1.9 million and $3.0 million,
respectively, and were based on actual and estimated claims incurred. The Company has provided a $3.0 million letter of credit at
December 31, 2004, as security for possible workers’ compensation claims.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
GPEG has two segments: Heat Recovery Equipment and Auxiliary Power Equipment. Heat Recovery Equipment products include heat
recovery steam generators, heat recovery boilers, and other types of waste heat products. Auxiliary Power Equipment products include
exhaust and inlet systems, filter houses, retrofit activity, diverter dampers, turbine enclosures and other power equipment.
 
Revenues for the Company’s Heat Recovery Equipment segment are recognized on the percentage-of-completion method based on the
percentage of actual hours incurred to date in relation to total estimated hours for each contract. Changes in job performance, job
conditions, estimated profitability and final contract settlements may result in revisions to costs and income, and the effects of such
revisions are recognized in the period that the revisions are determined. Revenues for the Company’s Auxiliary Power Equipment segment
are recognized on the completed-contract method due to the short-term nature of the product production period. The Company recognizes
various types of service revenues as the services are provided. Service revenues are not significant in any period presented.
 
Major Customers
 
The Company has certain customers that represent more than 10 percent of consolidated revenues. The revenue for these customers, as
well as corresponding accounts receivable, as a percentage of the consolidated revenues and accounts receivable balances, for 2004, 2003
and 2002 are as follows:
 

   

Revenues

  

Accounts Receivable

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2004

  

For the Year
Ended

December 27,
2003

  

For the Year
Ended

December 28,
2002

 
General Electric   32% 32% 35% 16% 27% 9%
The Southern Company   3% 7% 14% 0% 0% 0%
Exxon Mobil   3% 10% 1% 3% 9% 0%
 
Customers for both our Heat Recovery Equipment segment and our Auxiliary Power Equipment segment include OEMs, engineering and
construction firms, operators of power generation facilities and firms engaged across several process related industries. The end users of
most of our products are developers and operators of gas turbine power plants. Our top ten customers vary from year to year due to the
relative size and duration of our projects.
 
Accounts Receivable
 
Accounts receivable are reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance is based on current conditions, review of specific
accounts and other estimates based on the judgment of management.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and short-term
debt approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
 
The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on the discounted value of the future cash flows expected to be paid on
the loans. The discount rate used to estimate the fair value of the loans is the rate currently available to the Company for loans with similar
terms and maturities. The fair value at December 31, 2004 and December 27, 2003 approximated the carrying value.
 
Income Per Common Share
 
Basic and diluted income per common share are calculated as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Numerator:             

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (705) $ 19,784  $ 51,877
      
Basic earnings per common share:             
Denominator:             

Weighted average shares outstanding    46,195,357   44,520,607   43,958,918
Basic earnings per common share:             

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (0.02) $ 0.44  $ 1.18
      
Diluted earnings per common share:             
Denominator:             

Weighted average shares outstanding    46,195,357   44,520,607   43,958,918
Dilutive effect of options to purchase common stock    —     1,390,217   1,676,626

      
Weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution    46,195,357   45,910,824   45,635,544

      
Diluted earnings per common share:             

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders   $ (0.02) $ 0.43  $ 1.14
      
 
Anti-dilutive stock options for 2004, 2003 and 2002 are 2,678,130, 1,299,000 and 566,000, respectively. The Company must include the
impact of the conversion of the convertible notes in its earnings per share calculation. Currently, the $69.0 million of convertible notes are
convertible into 6,503,299 common shares. The Company did not present the dilutive effect of stock options and convertible shares for the
2004 income (loss) per share calculation as the presentation of any dilutive stock options and convertible shares would have been anti-
dilutive.
 
Derivative Financial Instruments
 
SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that
every derivative instrument be recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at fair value. SFAS 133 requires that
changes in a derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Special
accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative’s gains and losses to be deferred in other comprehensive income until the transaction
occurs (“cash flow hedge”) or to offset related results on the hedged item in the income statement (“fair value hedge”). Hedge accounting
requires that a company formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting treatment.
 
Periodically, the Company uses derivative financial instruments in the management of its foreign currency exchange and interest rate
exposures. As of December 31, 2004, there were foreign currency forward exchange contracts with notional amounts totaling
approximately $30.8 million with varying amounts due through August 2007. Of the $30.8 million, $29.6 million represents forward
contracts to sell Euros in the future for a specific number of U.S. dollars. Currently, the company recognizes changes in fair values of the
forward agreements through earnings. The fair value of the forward agreements was an unrealized loss of approximately
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$0.6 million at December 31, 2004. As of December 27, 2003, there were foreign currency forward exchange contracts with notional
amounts totaling approximately $1.4 million with varying amounts due through May 2004. The fair value of the forward agreements was
an unrealized gain of approximately $0.1 million at December 27, 2003.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
Stock-based compensation is accounted for using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”. No compensation expense is recorded for stock options when granted, as option prices have
historically been set at the market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant.
 
SFAS 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, requires the measurement of the fair value of options to be included in the
statement of operations or disclosed in the notes to financial statements. The Company elected the disclosure-only alternative under SFAS
123.
 
In determining compensation cost pursuant to SFAS 123, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants during 2004, 2003 and 2002.
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Risk free interest rate    2.95% -3.50%   3.25%   2.50%
Expected dividend yield    None   None   None
Expected lives    1 - 3.2 years   5 years   5 years
Expected volatility    46%   34%   65%
Option fair value at grant date   $ 1.89 - $3.49  $ 2.16  $ 2.73
 
The decrease in the expected lives of the stock options from 2003 to 2004 was due to the vesting term of each issuance of that stock
options. The expected volatility decreased significantly from 2002 to 2003 due to a more stable Company stock price in 2003.
 
Had compensation cost been determined consistent with SFAS 123, the Company’s pro forma net income (loss) would have been as
follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (in thousands, except per common share data)  
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders:              

As reported   $ (705)  $ 19,784  $ 51,877 

Stock-based compensation expense included in net income (loss) as reported    361   3   —   

Additional stock-based compensation expense had the fair value been applied to all
awards    (1,232)   (642)   (167)

     
Pro forma net income (loss)   $ (1,576)  $ 19,145  $ 51,710 

     
Basic income (loss) per common share :              

As reported   $ (0.02)  $ 0.44  $ 1.18 
Pro forma net income (loss)    (0.03)   0.43   1.18 

Diluted income (loss) per common share:              
As reported   $ (0.02)  $ 0.43  $ 1.14 
Pro forma net income (loss)    (0.03)   0.42   1.13 

 
In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB 123R (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment.” FASB 123R is a revision of FASB 123
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and it supercedes APB Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”
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FASB 123R provides guidance on transactions whereby companies exchange equity instruments for goods and services. This new rule
requires companies to expense the fair market value of stock options issued to employees. The Company will be required to adopt FASB
123R in the third quarter of 2005, and it has chosen the “modified prospective” transition method whereby no prior periods will be restated.
The Company is in the process of evaluating its alternatives under FASB 123R and determining the impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
 
Foreign Currency
 
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated at year-end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are
translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity and other comprehensive income on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Gains and losses from
foreign currency transactions are included in earnings. Such gains and losses have not been significant in any period.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. The most significant estimates relate to projected total costs of projects, including percentage of completion on contract accounting,
warranty and contingency costs and goodwill impairment analyses. Ultimate results could differ from those estimates.
 
3. GOODWILL
 
The balances by operating segment for the years ended December 28, 2002, December 27, 2003 and December 31, 2004 by operating
segment are as follows (in thousands):
 

Heat
Recovery

Equipment

 

Auxiliary
Power

Equipment

 

Corporate

 

Total

$ 25,230 $ 18,623 $ 1,147 $45,000
   

 
The Company reviews its goodwill for potential impairment on at least an annual basis.
 
4. INCOME TAXES
 
The following summarizes the income tax provision (benefit) for the fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Current:             
Federal   $(10,206) $ (2,571) $23,002
State    (1,797)  207   2,682
Foreign    749   3,026   4,148

     
Total current    (11,254)  662   29,832

Deferred    10,803   11,464   3,335
     
Income tax provision (benefit)   $ (451) $12,126  $33,167
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Income (loss) before the provision for income taxes for the tax years 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as follows (in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Domestic   $ (833) $23,478  $72,630
Foreign    (353)  8,432   12,414
      
Total   $(1,186) $31,910  $85,044
      

 
As of December 31, 2004 and December 27, 2003, respectively, the components of deferred income taxes consist of the following (in
thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Assets:          

Cost in excess of net assets of business acquired   $52,135  $58,718 
Inventories    4,497   9,637 
Reserves and other accruals    4,856   6,840 
Accrued compensation and benefits    1,115   633 
State net operating loss carryforward    1,331   —   
Foreign net operating loss    1,338   —   
Other expenses not currently deductible    (16)  211 

    
Total assets    65,256   76,039 

Liabilities:          
Property and equipment    (2,882)  (3,630)

    
Net deferred tax assets    62,374   72,409 

Valuation allowance    (768)  —   
    
Net deferred tax assets after valuation allowance   $61,606  $72,409 
    

 
A valuation allowance has been established for uncertainties in realizing the benefit of foreign net operating loss carryforwards. During
2004, international subsidiaries sustained $3.9 million of net operating losses. A valuation allowance has been recorded against $2.3
million of the loss carryforwards. Management believes it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized from these losses.
Changes in the estimates of future taxable income or in tax laws may alter this expectation. The remaining foreign net operating loss
carryforward of $1.6 million will expire in 2014. The Company also has state net operating loss carryforwards of $35.2 million, which will
begin expiring in the years 2008 through 2023.
 
The Company expects a federal net operating loss of approximately $37 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The loss will be
fully utilized via carry back to the 2002 U.S. tax return. A tax benefit of approximately $13 million has been recorded in other current
assets.
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Statutory federal income tax rate   (34.0)% 34.0%  35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefits   (2.5)% 3.5%  3.5%
Foreign taxes   (2.4)% (1.9)% —   
Miscellaneous permanent items and other   0.9%  2.4%  0.5%
     

Effective tax rate cost/(benefit)   (38.0)% 38.0%  39.0%
     

 
The Company is currently reflecting a (38%) effective tax rate in the 2004 tax provision due to the lower marginal tax rate at lower income
levels. However, for purposes of determining the deferred tax assets, the Company used a 39% effective income tax rate as we expect to
have higher income levels when the deferred tax assets are realized.
 
The Company provides income taxes on the undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries except to the extent that such earnings are
indefinitely reinvested outside the United States. As of December 31, 2004, none of the undistributed earnings of international subsidiaries
were considered to be reinvested indefinitely.
 
The Company’s federal income tax returns for 2001 through 2003 are currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service. The
Company currently believes the resolution of such audits will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows. There are no other significant domestic or foreign tax audits in process or pending.
 
The Company establishes accruals for certain tax contingencies for losses that are probable and the amounts are reasonably estimable. The
tax contingency accruals are adjusted due to changing circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law and emerging legislation.
A number of years may elapse before a particular matter, for which the Company has recorded a contingent liability, is audited and finally
resolved. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of the resolution of any particular tax matter, the Company
believes its tax contingency accruals are adequate to address known tax contingencies. Favorable resolution of such contingencies could be
recognized as a reduction in our effective tax rate in the year of resolution. Unfavorable settlement of any particular issue could increase the
effective tax rate and may require the use of cash in the year of resolution.
 
On October 22, 2004, President Bush signed the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S.
corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned abroad by providing an 85% dividends received deduction for certain dividends from
controlled foreign corporations, replacement of the extraterritorial income exclusion (ETI) with a domestic manufacturing deduction and
various other tax incentives to generate American job growth. The deduction is subject to a number of limitations and, as of today,
uncertainty remains as to how to interpret numerous provisions of the Act. As such, we will assess our position on repatriation of foreign
earnings in 2005. Currently, we estimate the range of dividends to be repatriated to be $0 to $5 million.
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5. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
Certain of the Company’s investors provide consultation services to the Company, for which the Company is charged management fees.
Total expenses under these arrangements were $1.0 million, $1.3 million and $1.3 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Under a
management agreement with Harvest, we are contractually committed to make annual payments to Harvest of certain fees for financial
advisory and strategic planning services. Commencing August 2004, the annual fee is comprised of two components. First, the Company
pays Harvest a fixed fee of $625,000. In addition, the Company will pay Harvest an additional fee of between $0 and $625,000 depending
on the amount of the Company’s EBITDA as follows:
 

   

Additional
Fee

EBITDA equal to or less than $20 million   $ —  
EBITDA greater than $20 million but equal to or less than $30 million    125,000
EBITDA greater than $30 million but equal to or less than $50 million    375,000
EBITDA greater than $50 million    625,000

 
The management agreement terminates on February 1, 2006, subject to automatic renewals of additional one-year periods commencing on
February 1, 2006, and continuing indefinitely thereafter, unless terminated for cause or by Harvest. The management agreement will
terminate in the event that the affiliates of Harvest sell more than 66.6% of the shares of the Company’s common stock they owned on May
23, 2001. The total management fee paid to Harvest for the 2004 “Harvest Year” (beginning on February 1, 2004 and ending on January
31, 2005) is $937,500.
 
6. UNCOMPLETED CONTRACTS
 
The Heat Recovery Equipment segment enters into contracts that allow for periodic billings over the contract term. At any point in time,
each project under construction could have either costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings or billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings. The Auxiliary Power Equipment segment typically bills customers only at the completion of contracts and no earnings
are recognized by the Auxiliary Power Equipment segment until contract completion.
 
Costs, earnings and billings related to uncompleted contracts consist of the following:
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 27,
2003

 
   (in thousands)  
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts   $ 614,066  $ 811,140 
Earnings recognized on uncompleted contracts    128,478   131,385 
     

Total    742,544   942,525 
Less - billings to date    734,390   955,112 
     

Net   $ 8,154  $ (12,587)
     

 
The net amounts are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets under the following headings:
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 27,
2003

 
   (in thousands)  
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings   $ 60,861  $ 40,706 
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings    (52,707)  (53,293)
    

Net   $ 8,154  $ (12,587)
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7. LONG-TERM DEBT
 
The Company’s long-term debt consisted of the following:
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 27,
2003

 
   (in thousands)  
Term loan, $23,750 bearing interest at Eurodollar rate plus margin (4.43% at December

31, 2004 and 2.46% at December 27, 2003), principal and interest payable quarterly, as
defined through October 2009   $ 23,750  $ 24,938 

Convertible senior subordinated notes at 4.25%, interest payable semiannually as defined
through November 2011    69,000   —   

Other    2,854   25 
    
    95,604   24,963 
Less current maturities    (16,854)  (14)
    
Total long-term debt   $ 78,750  $ 24,949 
    

 
Future maturities of long-term debt as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):
 

2005   $16,854
2006    5,000
2007    5,000
2008    5,000
2009    3,750
Thereafter    60,000
   

Total   $95,604
   

 
During the first quarter of 2004, the Company entered into two loan agreements with banks in China. The agreements allow for the
Company to borrow a total of $4.8 million at a weighted average rate of 5.21%. The agreements expire April 1, 2005. As of December 31,
2004, approximately $2.8 million has been borrowed under the loan agreements with an interest rate of 5.31%. The loans are collateralized
by letters of credit issued under the Company’s senior credit facility. Once these loan agreements expire and the amounts are repaid, any
borrowings necessary in China are expected to occur under the senior credit facility.
 
Senior Credit Facility
 
On October 1, 2004, the Company replaced its amended and restated senior credit facility with a new credit facility. The new credit facility
provides for a term loan of $25.0 million and revolving credit facility of up to $75.0 million. The credit facility includes a $65.0 million
sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit. Up to $15.0 million of the revolving credit facility may consist of foreign currency loans to
the Company’s subsidiaries. The credit facility will be used for working capital, issuance of letters of credit and other lawful corporate
purposes.
 
At the closing of the new credit agreement, on October 1, 2004, the Company borrowed $25.0 million under the term loan. The Company
had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility at October 1, 2004. Approximately $16.6 million of the proceeds from
the term loan were used to pay in full the outstanding balance on the existing amended and restated senior credit facility. While the existing
amended and restated credit facility was terminated effective October 1, 2004, all letters of credit under that facility were outstanding as of
October 1, 2004. A standby letter of credit in the amount of approximately $32.7 million securing letters of credit issued under the existing
amended and restated senior credit agreement was issued under the new credit facility to Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas. The
standby letter of credit has been and will continue to be reduced as letters of credit under the amended and restated senior credit facility
expire or are replaced by letters of credit under the new credit facility. As of December 31, 2004, the balance of the standby letter of credit
was approximately $7.4 million.
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At the time of the termination of the amended and restated senior credit facility, $0.2 million of unamortized loan fees were written off by
the Company. In addition, the Company incurred approximately $1.9 million in new loan fees related to the new credit facility, which were
capitalized and subject to amortization over the life of the new credit facility.
 
At the Company’s option, amounts borrowed under the new credit agreement will bear interest at either the Eurocurrency rate or an
alternate base rate, plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The applicable margin will range from 1.75% to 2.75% in the case of a
Eurocurrency rate loan, and from 0% to 1.00% in the case of a base rate loan, in each case, based on a leverage ratio. At December 31,
2004, the $23.8 million of term debt bore interest at an average rate of 4.43%.
 
All amounts outstanding under the term loan will be due and payable on October 1, 2009. All amounts outstanding under the revolving
credit facility will be due and payable on October 1, 2008. On that date, the Company will have the option, subject to certain conditions, to
convert all or a portion of the revolving loans then outstanding to term loans due and payable on October 1, 2009. Borrowings under the
revolving credit facility bear interest in the same manner as the senior credit facility described above, and the Company pays an unused
facility fee of 0.35%. As of December 31, 2004, there was no balance outstanding under the revolver.
 
The new credit agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants, such as limitations on the creation of new indebtedness
and on certain liens, restrictions on certain transactions and payments and maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio, a consolidated
fixed charge coverage ratio and a consolidated asset coverage ratio. A default under the credit agreement may be triggered by events such
as a failure to comply with financial covenants or other covenants under the credit agreement, a failure to make payments when due under
the credit agreement, a failure to make payments when due in respect of or a failure to perform obligations relating to debt obligations in
excess of $5.0 million, a change of control of the Company or certain insolvency proceedings. A default under the credit agreement would
permit the participating banks to restrict the Company’s ability to further access the credit facility for loans, require the immediate
repayment of any outstanding loans with interest and require the cash collateralization of outstanding letter of credit obligations.
 
The credit agreement prohibits the Company from paying cash dividends to its stockholders. The credit agreement is:
 
 •  guaranteed by all of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries; and
 

 
•  secured by a lien on all of the property and assets of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries, including, without limitation, a pledge

of all capital stock owned by the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, subject to a limitation of 65% of the voting stock of any
foreign subsidiary.

 
The Company is currently in compliance with all covenant requirements of the senior credit agreement.
 
The Company uses letters of credit in its normal course of business. Letters of credit totaling $40.8 million were issued and outstanding as
of December 31, 2004 under the revolving credit facility. While no amounts had been drawn upon these letters of credit, the letters of credit
outstanding reduces amounts available for borrowing under the revolver.
 
Senior Credit Facility – Amendment One
 
On November 23, 2004, the Company entered into an amendment (the First Amendment) to the senior credit agreement.
 
Among other things, the First Amendment:
 
 •  modifies the definition of the term “Permitted Acquisition” to include the acquisition of WISG;
 
 •  excludes borrowings under the Notes from the prohibition on the creation of additional indebtedness;
 
 •  amends various financial and operating covenants;
 
 

•  requires the Company to repay certain outstanding loans under the senior credit agreement with the net proceeds from the sale of
the Notes if the acquisition of WISG is not completed prior to June 30, 2005; and
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•  requires the Company to escrow the net proceeds from issuance of the Notes. The net proceeds of approximately $57.7 million

are included in restricted cash as of December 31, 2004, and the Company expects to use this amount to finance the WISG
acquisition in April 2005.

 
Senior Credit Facility – Amendment Two
 
On March 14, 2005, the Company entered into an amendment (the Second Amendment) to the senior credit agreement.
 
Among other things, the Second Amendment:
 
 

•  waives our compliance with the “Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” included in the credit agreement solely for the
period ended March 31, 2005;

 
 •  amends our senior and total leverage ratios;
 
 •  increases our letter of credit sub-limit from $65 million to $75 million; and
 
 

•  increases the applicable rate under any Eurocurrency rate loans, letters of credit, base rate loans and swing line loans by 0.50
percent per annum during any period in which our Consolidated Leverage Ratio exceeds 4.00 to 1.00.

 
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes
 
On November 23, 2004, the Company completed a private placement of $69.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.25% convertible
senior subordinated notes due 2011 (the Notes). The Company intends to use the net proceeds of the offering, together with borrowings
under its senior credit facility and cash on hand, to fund the purchase of WISG as described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
 
The Notes were issued under a Securities Purchase Agreement (the Securities Purchase Agreement), among the Company and various
investors. The Securities Purchase Agreement and form of note provide, among other things, that the Notes will bear interest at a rate of
4.25% per year, which interest is payable semi-annually beginning May 2005. During the occurrence of an “Event of Default” under the
Notes, the Notes will bear interest at a rate of 9.25% per year. The Notes are convertible into shares of the Company common stock at an
initial conversion price of $10.61 per share of common stock, which is equal to approximately 122% of the volume weighted average price
of the Company’s common stock on November 22, 2004. The conversion price is subject to certain anti-dilutive provisions, as defined in
the agreement.
 
The Notes will be subordinate in right of payment to the Company’s existing and future “Senior Indebtedness,” including all secured
indebtedness of the Company under its credit facility and certain “Indebtedness” permitted under its credit facility, pari passu with certain
other Indebtedness permitted under its credit facility and senior in right of payment to any of the Company’s other indebtedness. The
Company’s obligations under the Securities Purchase Agreement, Notes and other transaction documents are guaranteed by all of the
Company’s domestic subsidiaries which are borrowers under or guarantors of its senior credit facility. Upon the occurrence of an “Event of
Default” under the Notes, the holders of the Notes may require the Company to redeem all or any portion of the Notes. The term “Event of
Default” includes, among other things (i) any failure by the Company to pay principal and interest when and as due under the Notes and, in
the case of interest, the continuation of such failure for a period of five days and (ii) any payment default or non-payment default on other
indebtedness with an unpaid principal amount in excess of $5 million, provided such non-payment default continues for a period of at least
30 consecutive days after the earlier to occur of any executive officer of the Company becoming aware of such default and the receipt of
written notice from the holder of such default. As long as the Notes are outstanding, the Company and its subsidiaries will not be permitted
to incur any indebtedness other than “Permitted Indebtedness,” which includes “Senior Bank Indebtedness” not exceeding the greater of (i)
the sum of $100 million plus “Available Cash” or (ii) three times consolidated EBITDA of the Company for the four prior calendar
quarters, and “Indebtedness” permitted under the credit facility. A “Triggering Event” will be deemed to occur if the Company incurs any
indebtedness in addition to “Permitted Indebtedness,” and at the time of such incurrence, the Company’s trailing 12 months “Consolidated
EBITDA” does not equal or exceed $30.0 million or, as a result of the incurrence, the Company’s “Consolidated Leverage Ratio” exceeds
4.75 to 1.0. Within 30 days of the occurrence of a Triggering Event, the Company will be required to offer to redeem all or any portion of
the Notes then outstanding at a redemption price equal to the principal balance of the Notes plus all accrued and unpaid interest. If at any
time prior to the incurrence of a Triggering Event, the weighted average price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds 150% of
the conversion price then in effect for a period of 15 out of 30 consecutive trading days, the restrictions on “Permitted Indebtedness” will
be removed.
 
The Company may redeem all or any portion of the Notes, at its option, at any time on or after November 23, 2007 if the weighted average
price of the Company’s common stock exceeds 165% of the conversion price then in effect for a period of 20 out of 30 consecutive trading
days. At any time beginning on May 23, 2005 and continuing until August 2, 2005, the Investors may, at their option, require the Company
to redeem up to $9.0 million of the Notes at par plus accrued but unpaid interest. Beginning on November 23, 2009, the Investors may, at
their option, require the Company to redeem all or any portion of the Notes. In such event, the Company may elect, at its option and
subject to certain conditions, to pay up to 50% of the redemption price in shares of the Company common stock valued at 94% of the
weighted average price of the Common Stock for the 20-day trading period immediately preceding the redemption date. The redemption
price is at par.
 
The Company escrowed $9.0 million of the proceeds from the sale of the Notes to meet its obligation to redeem up to $9.0 million of the
Notes at the option of the Investors. If on or prior to April 30, 2005, the contemplated acquisition of WISG has not been consummated, the
Company will be required to escrow an additional $7.65 million of the proceeds from the sale of the Notes for the benefit of the Investors
until the WISG acquisition is consummated. The terms of the Notes agreement require the Company to keep a cash balance of at least
$7.65 million until April 30, 2005. Both the $9.0 and $7.65 million are reflected as restricted cash on the balance sheet at December 31,



2004.
 
The Investors have a right of redemption at a premium to principal and unpaid interest upon the occurrence of an event of default under the
Notes or a change of control of the Company. The redemption price in respect of an event of default will be equal to the greater of (i) the
110% of the amount to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest and (ii) the product of the conversion rate in effect at such time with
respect to the amount to be redeemed and the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock on the date immediately preceding such
event of default. The redemption premium in respect of a change in control will range from a minimum of 10% to a maximum equal to the
product of 120% of the amount to be redeemed and the quotient determined by dividing the closing sale price of the common stock
immediately following the public announcement of such proposed change of control by the conversion price of the Notes. In addition, the
terms of the Notes provide certain anti-dilution protection for the Investors. Finally, the convertible notes agreement stipulates that an event
of default under the senior credit facility would result in a default under the convertible notes agreement.
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8. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Preferred Stock / Preferred Units
 
Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had authorized and issued 1,008,968 preferred units with a $100 par value. The preferred units
were not convertible and had no voting rights. Preferred unit members were entitled to an eight percent annual preferred dividend computed
on the members’ aggregate preferred equity balance. Preferred units had liquidation preference to the common units in the event of a
liquidation of the Company and had priority on all equity distributions. The Board of Directors could, at its sole option, redeem all or any
part of the preferred units at a price equal to their aggregate preferred capital contribution plus accrued but not yet paid preferred dividends.
Upon completion of the IPO these preferred units were converted to 5,044,839 shares of common stock. The Company’s new capital stock
includes 5,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, of which no shares are outstanding.
 
The board of directors, without stockholder approval, can issue preferred stock with voting and conversion rights.
 
Common Stock / Common Units
 
Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had authorized and issued 1,122,280 current common units with a $10 par value. Common units
were entitled to one vote. Prior to the Recapitalization, the Company had authorized 52,106,800, 6,513,350 and 2,709,554 of Class A, B
and Junior Units, respectively. Prior Class A and Junior units had one vote per unit. Class B units were nonvoting. All previously
outstanding prior common units were converted to common stock as part of the IPO.
 
Upon completion of the IPO these common units were converted to 31,558,501 shares of common stock. The Company’s new capital stock
includes 100,000,000 authorized shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, of which 46,770,314 are outstanding at December 31,
2004.
 
Stock Incentive Plans
 
In conjunction with the IPO all common unit option amounts previously granted under the 2000 Plan have been restated to give effect to
the conversion of common units to common shares using the 28.1 to 1.0 ratio.
 
In May 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2004 Plan). Under the provisions of the 2004 Plan, the Company
may issue up to 1,500,000 options to purchase stock, restricted stock awards or performance shares. Options to purchase common stock are
based on an exercise price equal to the fair value on the date of grant. Vesting provisions are at the discretion of the board of directors
along with the period of time during which options may be exercised, but in no event may it be more than 10 years from the grant date of an
option. Restricted shares of stock are issued under the 2004 Plan based on the relevant “award agreement” given to the employee.
Performance shares are shares of stock issued based on meeting targets of objective performance established by the board of directors. As
of December 31, 2004, 760,000 stock options and 10,000 shares of restricted stock have been issued under the 2004 Plan. The 10,000
restricted shares vest one-third each year for three years. The related deferred compensation is presented in the equity section of the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004.
 
In April 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Option Plan (the 2001 Plan). The 2001 Plan provides options to purchase up to 1,500,000
shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to fair value on the date of grant. Vesting provisions are at the discretion of the board of
directors along with the period of time during which options may be exercised, but in no event may it be more than 10 years from the grant
date of an option. As of December 31, 2004, 1,500,000 options have been granted under the 2001 Plan with 1,210,000 options outstanding
at the end of 2004.
 
In August 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Option Plan (the 2000 Plan). The 2000 Plan provided for granting of up to 3,440,257
options to purchase common units of the Company. Initially, forty percent of the common units available for grant under the 2000 Plan
were to vest over four years and sixty percent of the common units available for grant under the 2000 Plan were to vest over the earlier of
nine years or when certain performance vesting criteria are met. In conjunction with our IPO all options under this plan became
immediately one hundred percent vested. Options granted under this plan subsequent to the IPO were also fully vested. However, none of
the shares acquired upon exercise of the options under this plan were allowed to be sold until May, 2003. As of December 31, 2004,
3,433,804 options have been granted and 6,453 options are available to be granted. Total options exercised under the 2000 Plan totaled
2,622,729 as of the end of 2004.
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As part of the Recapitalization, all options outstanding under a previous option plan (whether or not exercisable or vested) were cancelled
and holders of the cancelled options were paid an amount equal to the options’ fair value, resulting in a recapitalization charge of $38.1
million.
 
Information with respect to the Company’s stock option plans is summarized as follows:
 

   

Number of Common Shares

   

Options
Outstanding

  

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 29, 2001   3,433,804  $ 2.71
Granted   750,000   4.87
Forfeited   (4,000)  14.47
Exercised   (23,339)  0.36

    
Outstanding at December 28, 2002   4,156,465   3.10

Granted   739,000   6.10
Forfeited   (40,500)  6.65
Exercised   (1,231,251)  0.36

    
Outstanding at December 27, 2003   3,623,714   4.60

Granted   780,000   9.69
Forfeited   (173,200)  13.21
Exercised   (1,552,384)  1.13

    
Outstanding at December 31, 2004   2,678,130  $ 4.77
    
Exercisable at December 28, 2002   3,406,465  $ 2.73
    
Exercisable at December 27, 2003   2,242,214  $ 4.03
    
Exercisable at December 31, 2004   918,530  $ 7.68
    
 

   

Stock option grant prices

   

$0.36

  

$4.87

  

$6.10

  

$6.86

  

$9.76

  

$14.47

Options outstanding:                   
Number outstanding   298,630  526,000  664,000  20,000  760,000  409,500

Weighted average remaining contractual life (years)   5.60  7.96  8.96  9.42  9.97  6.83

Options exercisable:                   
Number exercisable   298,630  210,400  —    —    —    409,500
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9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Employment Agreements
 
The Company enters into employment agreements with terms of two to three years with certain members of management with automatic
one-year renewal periods at expiration dates. The agreements provide for, among other things, compensation, benefits and severance
payments.
 
Litigation
 
The Company is involved in legal actions which arise in the ordinary course of its business. Although the outcomes of any such legal
actions cannot be predicted, in the opinion of management, the resolution of any currently pending or threatened actions will not have a
material adverse effect upon the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.
 
Warranty
 
Estimated costs related to product warranty are accrued as revenue is recognized and included in cost of sales. Estimated costs are based
upon past warranty claims and sales history. Warranty terms vary by contract but generally provide for a term of three years or less. We
manage our exposure to warranty claims by having our field service and quality assurance personnel regularly monitor our projects and
maintain ongoing and regular communications with the customer.
 
A reconciliation of the changes to our warranty accrual for 2004 and 2003 is as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Balance at beginning of period   $15,004  $ 19,460 
Changes to previous estimates    (1,831)  (2,559)
Accruals during the period    3,377   9,614 
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during the period    (6,792)  (11,511)
    
Ending balance   $ 9,758  $ 15,004 
    

 
Leases
 
The Company leases machinery, transportation equipment and office, warehouse and manufacturing facilities, which are noncancellable
and expire at various dates. Total rental expense for all operating leases for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2.7 million, $2.5 million and $2.9
million, respectively.
 
Future minimum annual lease payments under these noncancellable operating leases at December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):
 

2005   $2,149
2006    1,710
2007    1,638
2008    1,429
2009    1,289
Thereafter    827
   

Total   $9,042
   

 
None of the leases include contingent rental provisions.
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Employee Benefit Plans
 
Deltak maintains a profit-sharing plan for employees. Deltak’s expense for this plan totaled $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.8 million for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition to the Deltak profit-sharing plan, GPEG maintains a 401(k) plan covering substantially all of
Deltak, Braden and Corporate’s employees. Expense for the GPEG 401(k) plan for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $0.9 million, $0.9 million and
$1.0 million, respectively.
 
Braden participates in a defined benefit multi-employer union pension fund covering all union employees. As required by labor contracts,
Braden made contributions totaling $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These contributions
are determined in accordance with the provisions of negotiated labor contracts and generally are based on the number of hours worked.
Braden may be liable for its share of unfunded vested benefits, if any, related to the union pension fund. Information from the union pension
fund’s administrators indicates there are no unfunded vested benefits.
 
Purchase Agreement
 
As discussed in Note 14, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement to acquire WISG. The acquisition is expected to close in April
2005.
 
10. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
 
Changes in current operating items were as follows (in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Accounts receivable   $ 7,723  $ 23,262  $ 40,338 
Inventories    (64)  1,390   1,570 
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings    (20,155)  21,583   69,066 
Accounts payable    4,812   (6,399)  (26,232)
Accrued expenses and other    (13,918)  749   (3,704)
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings    (3,509)  (53,949)  (38,280)
     
   $(25,111) $(13,364) $ 42,758 
     

 
Supplemental cash flow disclosures are as follows (in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Cash paid (received) during the period for:             
Interest   $ 557  $ 1,671  $ 3,867
Income taxes    (6,188)  3,751   29,415

Non-cash transactions:             

Settlement of customer accounts receivable against estimated costs    —     12,600   —  
Settlement of customer accounts receivable against amounts owed to customer

included in accounts payable    —     4,400   —  
Tax benefit of stock options exercised    5,392   2,392   —  
Asset held for sale reclassified to other assets

   1,209   —     —  
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION
 
The “management approach” called for by SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” has been
used by the Company management to present the segment information which follows. The Company considered the way its management
team organizes its operations for making operating decisions and assessing performance and considered which components of its enterprise
have discrete financial information available. Management makes decisions using a product group focus and its analysis resulted in two
operating segments, Heat Recovery Equipment and Auxiliary Power Equipment. The Company evaluates performance based on net
income or loss not including certain items as noted below.
 
Accounting policies used by the segments are the same as those described in Note 2. Intersegment revenues and transactions were not
significant. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and deferred tax assets. Capital expenditures do not include amounts arising from the
acquisition of businesses. Expenses associated with the loss on debt extinguishment have not been allocated. Interest income has not been
allocated as cash management activities are handled at a corporate level. In the first quarter of 2004, the Company changed the basis by
which it allocates corporate general and administrative expenses to the operating segments. This new method of allocating corporate
expenses better reflects the use of corporate resources by the operating segments. Prior year amounts were reclassified to conform to the
2004 presentation.
 
The following table presents information about segment income and assets:
 

   

Heat
Recovery

Equipment

  

Auxiliary
Power

Equipment

 
   (in thousands)  
2004      

Revenues   $117,316  $116,376 
Interest expense    780   1,140 
Depreciation    1,551   1,981 
Income tax provision (benefit)    2,034   (2,247)
Segment income (loss)    3,347   (3,662)
Assets    108,108   104,976 
Capital expenditures    979   963 

2003          

Revenues   $119,893  $143,885 
Interest expense    812   1,260 
Depreciation    1,334   2,175 
Income tax provision    1,416   11,027 
Segment income    2,238   18,067 
Assets    77,027   97,545 
Capital expenditures    75   226 

2002          

Revenues   $308,628  $278,177 
Interest expense    1,784   2,624 
Depreciation    1,428   2,218 
Income tax provision    11,505   22,124 
Segment income    17,994   34,605 
Assets    139,637   106,763 
Capital expenditures    569   2,281 
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The following tables present information which reconciles segment information to consolidated totals:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (in thousands)  
Income from Continuing Operations              
Total segment income (loss)   $ (315) $20,305  $52,599 
Unallocated interest income    639   560   198 
Other    (1,029)  (1,081)  (920)
     
Consolidated net income (loss)   $ (705) $19,784  $51,877 
     

 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 27,
2003

   
   (in thousands)    
Assets            
Total segment assets   $ 213,084  $ 174,572   
Corporate cash and cash equivalents    17,238   42,172   
Restricted cash    74,357   —     
Other unallocated amounts, principally deferred tax assets    62,215   64,252   

        
Consolidated assets   $ 366,894  $ 280,996   

        
 

   

2004

   

Segment
Totals

  

Adjustments

  

Consolidated
Totals

   (in thousands)
Other Significant Items             
Interest expense   $1,920  $ —    $ 1,920
Interest income    —     639   639
Expenditures for assets    1,942   —     1,942
Depreciation    3,532   51   3,583

 

   

2003

   

Segment
Totals

  

Adjustments

  

Consolidated
Totals

   (in thousands)
Other Significant Items             
Interest expense   $2,072  $ —    $ 2,072
Interest income    8   560   568
Expenditures for assets    301   110   411
Depreciation    3,509   54   3,563
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2002

   

Segment
Totals

  

Adjustments

  

Consolidated
Totals

   (in thousands)
Other Significant Items             
Interest expense   $4,408  $ —    $ 4,408
Interest income    —     198   198
Expenditures for assets    2,850   19   2,869
Depreciation    3,646   36   3,682

 
Fixed Assets by Regions
 
The following table represents assets by geographic region:
 

   

2004

  

2003

   (in thousands)

North America   $31,752  $33,722
Asia    1,122   790
Europe    7,026   3
     

Total   $39,900  $34,515
     

 
Product Revenues
 
The following table represents revenues by product group:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   (in thousands)
Heat Recovery Equipment Segment:             

HRSGs   $ 74,103  $ 86,667  $231,019
Specialty boilers    35,651   33,226   77,609
Industrial boilers    7,562   —     —  

       
    117,316   119,893   308,628
       
Auxiliary Power Equipment Segment:             

Exhaust systems   $ 39,412  $ 48,463  $ 67,375
Inlet systems    42,997   58,897   134,153
Other    33,967   36,525   76,649

       
    116,376   143,885   278,177
       

Total   $233,692  $263,778  $586,805
       

 
Geographic Revenues
 
The following table presents revenues by geographic region:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   (in thousands)
North America   $ 93,548  $180,766  $483,541
Asia    66,585   17,650   30,775
Middle East    39,766   14,439   5,744
Europe    24,282   38,988   48,481
South America    748   1,400   5,963
Other    8,763   10,535   12,301
       

Total   $233,692  $263,778  $586,805
       

 
Management attributed sales to geographic location based on the customer-determined destination of the delivered product.
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12. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY INFORMATION (unaudited)
 

   

First

  

Second

  

Third

  

Fourth

 
   (in thousands except per common share data)  
2004                  
Revenues   $ 55,126  $ 57,021  $ 59,720  $ 61,825 
Gross profit    11,813   9,129   9,099   9,216 
Operating income (loss)    1,552   588   330   (2,375)
Income tax provision (benefit)    514   181   55   (1,201)
Net income (loss)    838   296   90   (1,929)
Income per share:                  

Basic    0.02   0.01   0.00   (0.05)
Diluted    0.02   0.01   0.00   (0.05)

2003                  
Revenues   $ 77,026  $ 64,002  $ 57,301  $ 65,449 
Gross profit    21,218   16,950   13,847   19,482 
Operating income    11,754   8,295   5,269   8,096 
Income tax provision    4,390   3,081   1,928   2,727 
Net income    6,866   4,820   3,015   5,083 
Income per share:                  

Basic    0.16   0.11   0.07   0.10 
Diluted    0.15   0.11   0.07   0.10 

2002                  
Revenues   $203,527  $162,916  $112,673  $107,689 
Gross profit    36,728   35,890   28,498   30,350 
Operating income    26,273   25,069   17,360   20,552 
Income tax provision    9,746   9,346   6,322   7,753 
Net income    15,244   14,618   9,889   12,126 
Income per share:                  

Basic    0.35   0.33   0.22   0.28 
Diluted    0.33   0.32   0.22   0.27 

 
13. EMPLOYMENT AND OPERATIONAL RESTRUCTURING
 
In October 2003, we announced a management restructuring plan pursuant to which certain employees were offered either one-time
termination or retirement benefits. Certain employees that were offered the retirement incentive packages entered into consulting
agreements with us subsequent to their retirement. The expense related to the consulting agreements will be recognized as the services are
provided over the term of the agreements. In addition, retiring employees were offered the right to amend their stock option agreements to
extend the date such options remain exercisable from 90 days after termination of employment to one year after termination of employment.
In some cases, this plan also provided for the acceleration of vesting for certain unvested stock options. Under APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” we expensed the fair value of the options at the new measurement date. We recorded charges
of approximately $3.2 and $3.9 million during 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to the management restructuring plan.
 
Under the 2003 management restructuring plan, a retirement benefits agreement was entered into with our Chief Executive Officer, Larry
Edwards, pursuant to which he determines his own future retirement date. Subsequent to year end, Mr. Edwards announced his retirement
effective June 30, 2005. On June 30, 2005, Mr. Edwards will receive a payment of approximately $1.9 million, which has been accrued in
other current liabilities as of December 31, 2004.
 
The Company expects to incur approximately $2.5 million of management restructuring charges in the future, including an estimate of $2.2
million for the expected consulting fees and variable stock option expense related to the CEO’s retirement benefits agreement.
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In the second quarter of 2004, the Company merged the operations of Consolidated Fabricators, Inc. (CFI) with Braden Manufacturing,
L.L.C.(Braden). The plan of merger included the closing of CFI’s manufacturing facilities in Toluca, Mexico and Clinton, South Carolina.
The Toluca plant is a leased facility while the Company owns the Clinton plant. In addition, the merger plan called for Braden to assume
many of CFI’s administrative and management responsibilities.
 
Through December 31, 2004, the Company has incurred approximately $1.6 million of restructuring costs in connection with this merger.
The $1.6 million is comprised of severance payments, early lease termination penalties, write down a building to its fair market value less
selling costs, loss on disposal of fixed assets, moving expenses and plant clean up costs.
 
A reconciliation of the liability (included in other current liabilities) for the restructuring costs from December 27, 2003 to December 31,
2004 is as follows (in thousands):
 

Balance, December 27, 2003   $ 797 
Payments to employees    (797)

   
Balance, December 31, 2004   $ 0 
   

 
Approximately $1.7 million and $3.1 million of 2004 restructuring costs were allocated to the Heat Recovery Equipment and Auxiliary
Power Equipment segments, respectively. Approximately $1.1 million and $2.8 million of the fiscal year 2003 restructuring costs were
allocated to the Heat Recovery Equipment and Auxiliary Power Equipment segments, respectively.
 
14. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES
 
On July 30, 2004, the Company purchased a 90 percent interest in Nanjing Boiler Works (NBW) from Nanjing Machinery & Electronics
for approximately $10.9 million (including direct transaction costs of $0.6 million) in cash. In connection with acquisition, the Company
acquired $2.2 million of cash. Beginning in January 2006, the Company has the option to purchase the remaining 10 percent of NBW.
 
NBW designs and manufactures industrial and package boilers used by domestic customers in China for various applications where steam
is required. NBW has begun to manufacture heat recovery steam generating units for combined-cycle gas turbine power plants, as well as
specialty boiler systems for worldwide customers of Deltak LLC based on Deltak’s design and engineering specifications. NBW is located
in Jiangsu province in eastern China. As of the closing date, the Company changed NBW’s name to Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co.,
Ltd.
 
Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd.’s results of operations from the acquisition date through December 31, 2004 have been included
in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004. Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co.,
Ltd.’s results of operations were not significant to the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Proforma information has not been
presented due to the size of the acquisition.
 
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in thousands):
 

   

At July 30, 2004

Current assets, including cash acquired of $2.2 million   $ 13,356
Property, plant and equipment, net    6,108
Other assets    6,457
   
Total assets acquired    25,921
   
Current liabilities    9,007
Other long-term liabilities    4,371
Minority interest    1,659
   
Total liabilities assumed

   15,037
   
Net assets acquired   $ 10,884
   

 
The Company’s allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired did not result in reportable goodwill.
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Net assets acquired include an intangible asset valued at approximately $4.7 million. The intangible asset represents land use rights that
were granted to Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. by the Chinese government. The land use rights allow Deltak Power
Equipment (China) Co., Ltd. to utilize the land where the manufacturing plant is located for a period of 50 years, beginning October 2002.
The Company is amortizing the intangible asset over 48.2 years, which represents its remaining useful life as of July 30, 2004. From July
30, 2004 to December 31, 2004, the Company has recorded approximately $41,000 of amortization expense related to the intangible asset.
The Company plans to record approximately $98,000 of amortization expense in each of the next five years, as well as the remaining years
in the useful life of the intangible asset. The Company expects the land use rights will have no residual value at the end of the 48.2-year
period as the rights granted by the Chinese government will have expired. The intangible asset is included in other assets on the December
31, 2004 consolidated balance sheet.
 
On November 23, 2004, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement (the WISG Purchase Agreement) with Williams Group
International LLC, a Georgia limited liability company (Seller), to purchase all of the outstanding limited liability company interests of
Williams Specialty Services, LLC (Specialty Services), Williams Plant Services, LLC (Plant Services) and Williams Industrial Services,
LLC (Industrial Services), all Georgia limited liability companies. Specialty Services, Plant Services and Industrial Services are
collectively referred to as Williams Industrial Services Group, or “WISG.”
 
The purchase price will consist of an “Equity Purchase Price” payable at closing and a “Deferred Purchase Price.” The Equity Purchase
Price is $65.0 million, subject to certain customary adjustments. Of the total Equity Purchase Price, $59.5 million will be paid in cash to
Seller at closing, $5.0 million will be deposited by the Company with an escrow agent as an “Indemnity Escrow Amount” and held and
released pursuant to the terms and provisions of the WISG Purchase Agreement and an escrow agreement to be entered into at closing, and
an additional $0.5 million will be placed into escrow and released upon a final determination of the Equity Purchase Price. Payment of the
Deferred Purchase Price is contingent on the attainment by WISG of certain gross profit targets for 2005. The Deferred Purchase Price
payable to Seller will range from zero to $0.9 million and will be payable by the Company in cash in 2006.
 
The WISG Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and indemnification provisions which terminate at
varying times unless the indemnified party has, before the expiration of the right to indemnification, asserted a claim for indemnification to
the indemnifying party.
 
The WISG Purchase Agreement is subject to customary closing conditions. The Company currently expects to close the acquisition in
April of 2005.
 
The Company intends to use the proceeds from the issuance of the convertible senior subordinated notes, borrowings under its senior credit
facility and cash on hand to finance the purchase of WISG.
 
 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 
None
 
 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure based on the definition of “disclosure controls and
procedures” in Rule 13a-15(e). In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure
controls and procedures. We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2004. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level at December 31, 2004.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting is located in Item 8 “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” in this annual report on Form 10-K.
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Credit Agreement Amendment
 
On March 14, 2005, we entered into an amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2004, by
and among us, certain of our subsidiaries, the lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”), and Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank
of America”), as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer.
 
Among other things, the Second Amendment:
 
 

•  waives our compliance with the “Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” included in the credit agreement solely for the
period ended March 31, 2005;

 
 

•  provides that for the period beginning with the closing of the Credit Agreement and ending December 31, 2005, our
“Consolidated Senior Leverage Ratio” may be up to 3.00 to 1.00 for no more than two consecutive fiscal quarters;

 
 

•  provides that for the period beginning with the closing of the Credit Agreement and ending December 31, 2005, our
“Consolidated Leverage Ratio” may be up to 5.75 to 1.00 for no more than two consecutive fiscal quarters;

 
 •  increases our letter of credit sub-limit from $65 million to $75 million; and
 
 

•  increases the applicable rate under any Eurocurrency rate loans, letters of credit, base rate loans and swing line loans by 0.50
percent per annum during any period in which our Consolidated Leverage Ratio exceeds 4.00 to 1.00.

 
Other than in respect of the credit agreement and Second Amendment, there are no material relationships between us, our subsidiaries, the
Lenders and their respective affiliates, except that:
 
 

•  an affiliate of Bank of America acted as exclusive placement agent in connection with the private placement of the convertible
notes and financial advisor to us with respect to the acquisition of WISG; and

 

 
•  some of the Lenders, including Bank of America, and their affiliates have engaged and may engage in commercial and investment

banking transactions with us in the ordinary course of business, and also provide or have provided advisory and financial services
to us.

 
The Lenders and their affiliates will receive customary fees and commissions for these transactions.
 
 
 

PART III.
 
 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY
 
The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s directors and certain beneficial owners of the Company’s common
stock is incorporated herein by reference from the sections of the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) entitled “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”
The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s executive officers appears at Item 4A of Part I of this Form 10-K.
 
The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all directors, officers and employees, including the
principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer of the Company. The Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics is publicly available in the “Investor Relations” section of the Company’s website at www.globalpower.com under “Corporate
Governance.” If we make any amendments to, or any waivers from, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to the principal
executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer, or any person performing similar functions, we will disclose
such amendment or waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled “Executive
Compensation” and “Proposal One—Election of Directors.”
 
 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

 
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled “Principal
Stockholders and Security Ownership of Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information.”
 
 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the section of the Proxy Statement entitled “Certain
Transactions.”
 
 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the section of the Proxy Statement entitled “Audit Related
Matters.”
 
 

PART IV.
 
 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 

(a) 1.  Financial Statements.
     See Item 8 of Part II of this report.
  2.  Financial Statement Schedules
     Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
  3.  Exhibits
 

 

 

  

The following documents are included as exhibits to this Form 10-K. Those exhibits below incorporated by reference herein are
indicated as such by the information supplied in the parenthetical thereafter. If no parenthetical appears after an exhibit, such exhibit
is filed herewith.

 

 

 

  

2.1
    

Purchase Agreement dated November 23, 2004, between the Company and Williams Group International LLC (filed as
Exhibit 2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

 

 

 

  

3.1
    

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1(b) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001).

 

 

 

  

3.2

    

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Global Power Equipment Group Inc., as amended by the Board of Directors on October
23, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 27, 2003).

 

 

 

  

4.1
    

Form of Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed May 16, 2001 (No. 333-56832), as amended (the “S-1 Registration Statement”)).

 

 

 

  

4.2
    

Securities Purchase Agreement dated November 23, 2004, among the Company and the Investors, including form of Note
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

 

 

 

  

4.3
    

Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement dated November 23, 2004 among each of the subsidiaries of GEG party thereto and the
Investors (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

 

 

 

  

10.1
    

Management Agreement by and between Harvest Partners, Inc. and Global Energy Equipment Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the S-1 Registration Statement).

 

 

 

  

10.2

    

First Amendment to Management Agreement, dated April 27, 2001, by and between Harvest Partners, Inc. and Global Energy
Equipment Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2001).

 

 

 

  

10.3
    

Second Amendment to Management Agreement, dated October 26, 2004, by and between Harvest Partners, Inc. and the
Company (filed as Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 27, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

  10.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2001, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc., Harvest Partner
III, L.P., SMC Power Holding LLC, each of the other stockholders of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. listed on Exhibit A
thereto, Cascade Investment Partners, L.L.C., each of the management stockholders identified as such on Exhibit B thereto,



       

Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation and each of the other stockholders of GEEG Acquisition Holdings Corp.
identified as such on Exhibit C thereto, and each of the former members of GEEG Acquisition Holdings L.L.C. identified as
such on Exhibit D thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2001).

 

 

 

  

10.5
    

Registration Rights Agreement dated November 23, 2004, among GEG and the Investors (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).
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10.6

    

Letter, dated June 14, 2004, between and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Harvest Partners III, L.P.
and Harvest Partners III, GbR regarding certain registration rights (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 25, 2004).

 

 

10.7

    

Exchange Agreement by and among the members of GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. and Global Power Equipment Group
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 29, 2001).

 

 

10.8*
    

GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the S-1 Registration
Statement).

 

 

10.9*

    

Amendment No. 1 to the GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the
S-1 Registration Statement).

 

 

10.10*
    

Amendment No. 2 to the GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
S-1 Registration Statement).

 

 

10.11*
    

Amendment No. 3 to the GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2001).

 

 

10.12*
    

Global Power Equipment Group Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the S-1
Registration Statement).

 
 

10.13*
    

2003 Management Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003).

 

 

10.14*

    

Employment Agreement, dated May 1, 2002, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Larry D.
Edwards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 28, 2002).

 

 

10.15*

    

Retirement Benefits Agreement dated October 23, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and
Larry D. Edwards including forms of Extension Agreement and Consulting Services Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003).

 

 

10.16*

    

Separation Agreement dated October 23, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Michael H.
Hackner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 27, 2003).

 

 

10.17*

    

Consulting Agreement dated October 23, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Michael H.
Hackner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 27, 2003).

 

 

10.18*

    

Extension Agreement dated December 12, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Michael
H. Hackner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 27, 2003).

 

 

10.19*

    

Separation Agreement dated January 30, 2004, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Gary J.
Obermiller (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 27, 2004).

 

 

10.20*

    

Consulting Agreement dated January 30, 2004, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Gary J.
Obermiller (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 27, 2004).

 

 

10.21*

    

Employment Agreement, dated February 12, 2004, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc., Deltak,
L.L.C. and Monte E. Ness (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended March 27, 2004).

 

 

10.22*

    

Employment Agreement, dated April 22, 2004, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and James P.
Wilson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 26, 2004).

 

 

10.23*

    

Employment Agreement, dated April 22, 2004, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and John M.
Matheson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 26, 2004).
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10.24*

    

Employment Agreement, dated April 22, 2004, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc., Braden
Manufacturing, L.L.C., Consolidated Fabricators, Inc. and Gene F. Schockemoehl (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 26, 2004).

 

 

10.25*

    

Employment Agreement, dated April 22, 2004, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Candice L.
Cheeseman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 26, 2004).

 

 

10.26*
    

Employment Agreement, dated December 16, 2004, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and
Reynolds Alain Brousseau.

 

 

10.27*
    

Global Power Equipment Group Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the
Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement dated April 16, 2004).

 

 

10.28

    

Credit Agreement, dated October 1, 2004, among Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Subsidiaries, together
with Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender, and Letter of Credit Issuer, US Bank
National Association, as Syndication Agent, and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as Managing Agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 25,
2004).

 

 

10.29

    

First Amendment dated as of November 23, 2004, to Credit Agreement, among the Company, certain borrowing
subsidiaries of GEG, each of the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the Lenders, and Bank of America, as
Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated
by reference herein).

 

 

10.30

    

Second Amendment dated as of March 14, 2005, to Credit Agreement, among the Company, certain borrowing
subsidiaries of GEG, each of the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the Lenders, and Bank of America, as
Administrative Agent.

 

 

10.31*
    

2004 Global Power Equipment Group Inc. Management Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated February 24, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein).

  10.32*     2005 Global Power Equipment Group Inc. Management Incentive Compensation Plan.
 

 

10.33
    

Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 21, 2004).

 

 

10.34
    

Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-employee Directors 2004 Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 21, 2004).

 

 

10.35
    

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 21, 2004).

  10.36*     2004 Board of Directors Compensation.
  21.1     List of Subsidiaries.
  23.1     Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
  31.1     Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  31.2     Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 

 

32.1
    

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 

 

32.2
    

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SCHEDULE II – VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
 

GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULES OF VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

2002, 2003, 2004
 

Description

  

Balance
at Beginning

of Period

  

Charges to
Costs and

Expenses (a)

  

Payments/
Write-offs (b)

  

Balance
at End

of Period

   (in thousands)
For the year ended December 28, 2002:                 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 2,385  $ 357  $ (967) $ 1,775
Accrued warranty    16,489   9,825   (6,854)  19,460
Income tax valuation allowance    —     —     —     —  

For the year ended December 27, 2003:                 
Allowance for doubtful accounts    1,775   154   (604)  1,325
Accrued warranty    19,460   7,055   (11,511)  15,004
Income tax valuation allowance    —     —     —     —  

For the year ended December 31, 2004:                 
Allowance for doubtful accounts    1,325   644   (1,075)  894
Accrued warranty    15,004   1,546   (6,792)  9,758
Income tax valuation allowance    —     768   —     768

(a) No amounts were charged to other accounts in any period.
(b) There were no recoveries in 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 15, 2005.
 
Global Power Equipment Group Inc.

BY /s/ Larry Edwards
Larry Edwards
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March, 15 2005.
 

/s/ Larry Edwards
Larry Edwards
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Stephen Eisenstein
Stephen Eisenstein, Vice Chairman of the Board

/s/ James P. Wilson
James P. Wilson
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Adrian W. Doherty Jr.
Adrian W. Doherty Jr., Director

/s/ Edgar G. Hotard
Edgar G. Hotard, Director

/s/ Ira Kleinman
Ira Kleinman, Director

/s/ Jerry E. Ryan
Jerry E. Ryan, Director

/s/ Bengt Sohlen
Bengt Sohlen, Director
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
 
2.1

 

Purchase Agreement dated November 23, 2004, between the Company and Williams Group International LLC (filed as Exhibit 2
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1(b) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001).

3.2

 

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Global Power Equipment Group Inc., as amended by the Board of Directors on October 23,
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27,
2003).

4.1

 

Form of Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed May 16, 2001 (No. 333-56832), as amended (the “S-1 Registration Statement”)).

4.2
 

Securities Purchase Agreement dated November 23, 2004, among the Company and the Investors, including form of Note (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

4.3
 

Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement dated November 23, 2004 among each of the subsidiaries of GEG party thereto and the Investors
(filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.1
 

Management Agreement by and between Harvest Partners, Inc. and Global Energy Equipment Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the S-1 Registration Statement).

10.2

 

First Amendment to Management Agreement, dated April 27, 2001, by and between Harvest Partners, Inc. and Global Energy
Equipment Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2001).

10.3
 

Second Amendment to Management Agreement, dated October 26, 2004, by and between Harvest Partners, Inc. and the Company
(filed as Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 27, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.4

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2001, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc., Harvest Partner III,
L.P., SMC Power Holding LLC, each of the other stockholders of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. listed on Exhibit A
thereto, Cascade Investment Partners, L.L.C., each of the management stockholders identified as such on Exhibit B thereto,
Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation and each of the other stockholders of GEEG Acquisition Holdings Corp.
identified as such on Exhibit C thereto, and each of the former members of GEEG Acquisition Holdings L.L.C. identified as such
on Exhibit D thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2001).

10.5
 

Registration Rights Agreement dated November 23, 2004, among GEG and the Investors (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.6

 

Letter, dated June 14, 2004, between and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Harvest Partners III, L.P. and Harvest
Partners III, GbR regarding certain registration rights (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 25, 2004).

10.7

 

Exchange Agreement by and among the members of GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. and Global Power Equipment Group Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29,
2001).

10.8*  GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the S-1 Registration Statement).

10.9*
 

Amendment No. 1 to the GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the S-1
Registration Statement).

10.10*
 

Amendment No. 2 to the GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the S-1
Registration Statement).

10.11*
 

Amendment No. 3 to the GEEG Holdings, L.L.C. 2000 Option Plan. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2001).

10.12*
 

Global Power Equipment Group Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the S-1 Registration
Statement).

10.13*
 

2003 Management Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003).

10.14*

 

Employment Agreement, dated May 1, 2002, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Larry D. Edwards
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 28,
2002).

10.15*

 

Retirement Benefits Agreement dated October 23, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Larry D.
Edwards including forms of Extension Agreement and Consulting Services Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003).
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10.16*

 

Separation Agreement dated October 23, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Michael H. Hackner
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27,
2003).

10.17*

 

Consulting Agreement dated October 23, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Michael H. Hackner
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27,
2003).

10.18*

 

Extension Agreement dated December 12, 2003, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Michael H. Hackner
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27,
2003).

10.19*

 

Separation Agreement dated January 30, 2004, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Gary J. Obermiller
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 27,
2004).

10.20*

 

Consulting Agreement dated January 30, 2004, by and between Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and Gary J. Obermiller
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 27,
2004).

10.21*

 

Employment Agreement, dated February 12, 2004, by and among Global Power Equipment Group Inc., Deltak, L.L.C. and Monte
E. Ness (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
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Exhibit 10.26
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of December 16, 2004 (the “Effective Date”), by and between
Global Power Equipment Group Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Reynolds Alain Brousseau (the “Executive”).
Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in Section 1 of this
Agreement.
 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into an agreement regarding the employment by the Company of the
Executive effective as of the Effective Date; and
 

WHEREAS, the Executive is entrusted with knowledge of the particular business methods of the Company and its Subsidiaries
and is trained and instructed in the particular operation methods of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and the relationship between the
Company and the Executive is one in which the Company places special trust and confidence in the Executive.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of employment and in further consideration of these mutual covenants and agreements, the
parties hereto, each intending to be bound, covenant and agree as follows:
 

1. Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 

“Additional Employment Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d)(i) of this Agreement.
 

“Affiliate” means, when used with reference to a specified Person, any Person that directly or indirectly controls or is controlled
by or is under common control with the specified Person. As used in this definition, “control” (including, with its correlative meanings,
“controlled by” and “under common control with”) shall mean possession, directly or indirectly, of power to direct or cause the
direction of management or policies (whether through ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract
or otherwise). With respect to any Person who is an individual, “Affiliates” shall also include, without limitation, any member of such
individual’s Family Group.

 
“Base Salary” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c)(i) of this Agreement.

 
“Benefits” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c)(ii) of this Agreement.

 
“Board” means the Company’s Board of Directors.

 
“Bonus” means awards under the MIC Plan or a New MIC Plan.



“Bonus Year” means an annual bonus period under the MIC Plan or a New MIC Plan.
 

“Businesses” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(a) of this Agreement.
 

“Cause” means the occurrence of any one of the following as determined by the Board: (i) a material breach of the Executive’s
covenants under Section 4 or Section 5 of this Agreement; (ii) the commission by the Executive of a felony, or any crime involving
theft, dishonesty or moral turpitude; (iii) the commission by the Executive of act(s) or omission(s) which are willful and deliberate acts
intended to harm or injure the business, operations, financial condition or reputation of the Company or any Affiliate of the Company;
(iv) the Executive’s disregard of the directives of the Board; (v) the Executive’s drunkenness or use of drugs which interferes with the
performance of the Executive’s duties under this Agreement, which drunkenness or use of drugs continues after receipt of notice to the
Executive from the Company of his violation of this provision; or (vi) any attempt by the Executive to secure any personal profit in
connection with the business of the Company unless given prior written approval by unanimous consent of the Board.

 
“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a)(i) of this Agreement.

 
“Disability” means the inability, due to illness, accident, injury, physical or mental incapacity or other disability, of the Executive

to carry out effectively his duties and obligations to the Company or to participate effectively and actively in the management of the
Company for a period of at least 90 consecutive days or for shorter periods aggregating at least 150 days (whether or not consecutive)
during any twelve-month period, as determined in the judgment of the Board.

 
“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the opening paragraph of this Agreement.

 
“Employment Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d)(ii) of this Agreement.

 
“Employment Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d)(i) of this Agreement.

 
“Family Group” means, with respect to any Person who is an individual: (i) such Person’s spouse, former spouse and descendants

(whether natural or adopted), parents and their descendants and any spouse of the foregoing persons (collectively, “relatives”) or (ii)
the trustee, fiduciary or personal representative of such Person and any trust solely for the benefit of such Person and/or such Person’s
relatives.

 
“Geographical Area” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(a) of this Agreement.



“Good Reason” for resignation by the Executive means his resignation because of: (i) a reduction in the annual base salary of the
Executive, a material reduction in the employee benefits granted to the Executive, or a reduction in the Executive’s percentage
participation in the MIC Plan prior to the approval and adoption of a New MIC Plan or a reduction in the Executive’s percentage
participation in any New MIC Plan from the percentage previously awarded to the Executive if and when a New MIC Plan is approved
and adopted, (ii) a material modification to the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ Management Incentive Compensation Plan as in effect
on the date hereof which adversely affects the determination of the Executive’s bonus with respect to the 2005 calendar year or
thereafter if such Management Incentive Compensation Plan continues to be in effect for any calendar year after the 2005 calendar year
unless such modification is generally applicable to all participants in the such Management Incentive Compensation Plan and such
modification has been approved by (x) if the Board has less than three Management Board Members, then all such Management Board
Members or (y) if the Board has three or more Management Board Members, then any two of such Management Board Members, (iii) a
material modification to the MIC Plan or a New MIC Plan, which modification adversely affects the determination of the Executive’s
bonus for any calendar year for which the MIC Plan or such New MIC Plan is applicable, unless such modification is generally
applicable to all participants in the MIC Plan or such New MIC Plan and such modification has been approved by (x) if the Board has
less than three Management Board Members, then all such Management Board Members or (y) if the Board has three or more
Management Board Members, then any two of such Management Board Members, (iv) a requirement that the Executive be based at
any office or location more than 50 miles from Tulsa, Oklahoma, (v) a removal of the Executive as President and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company by action of the Board, or (vi) an assignment, by action of the Board, to the Executive of any duties and
responsibilities that are substantially inconsistent with or materially diminish the Executive’s position, in each case, other than with the
consent of the Executive.

 
“Initial Employment Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d)(i) of this Agreement.

 
“Management Board Member” means any member of the Board who is also a full-time employee of the Company or any of its

Subsidiaries.
 

“MIC Plan” means the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ Management Incentive Compensation Plan for the 2005 calendar year
and thereafter until a New MIC Plan is approved and adopted.

 
“New MIC Plan” means the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ Management Incentive Compensation Plan approved and adopted

by the Board to be effective for any calendar year after 2005.
 

“Noncompete Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(a) of this Agreement.



“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, an association, a limited liability company, a joint stock company, a
trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated organization or a governmental entity or any department, agency or political subdivision
thereof.

 
“Post-Termination Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(a) of this Agreement.

 
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association or other

business entity of which (i) if a corporation, a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the
occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by
that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof, or (ii) if a partnership, limited liability
company, association or other business entity, a majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interest thereof is at the time
owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by any Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof. For
purposes hereof, a Person or Persons shall be deemed to have a majority ownership interest in a partnership, limited liability company,
association or other business entity if such Person or Persons shall be allocated a majority of partnership, limited liability company,
association or other business entity gains or losses or shall be or control the managing director, manager or a general partner of such
partnership, limited liability company, association or other business entity.

 
“Termination Date” means the date that the Executive ceases to be employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for any

reason.
 

“Work Product” has the meaning set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement.
 

2. Employment.
 

(a) Employment. The Company agrees to employ the Executive, and the Executive hereby accepts employment with the
Company, upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement for the Employment Period (as herein defined).

 
(b) Positions and Duties.

 
(i) Commencing on the date hereof and continuing during the Employment Period, the Executive shall serve as an employee

and the President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company under the supervision and direction of the Board and shall have
the normal duties, responsibilities and authority of President and Chief Operating Officer of a corporation and such other duties
as shall be assigned to the Executive by the Board from time to time.

 
(ii) The Executive shall devote his best efforts and his full business time and attention (except for permitted vacation periods

and reasonable periods



of illness or other incapacity which does not constitute Disability) to the business and affairs of the Company. The Executive
shall perform his duties and responsibilities to the best of his abilities in a diligent, trustworthy, businesslike and efficient manner.
The foregoing shall not preclude the Executive from devoting reasonable time to civic and charitable affairs and with the consent
of the Board serving on a maximum of one board of a for-profit entity other than the Board or the board of directors of any
Subsidiary of the Company, provided that such activity does not interfere in any material respect with the performance of his
duties hereunder. The Executive shall perform all services in accordance with the policies, procedures and rules established by
the Company. In addition, the Executive shall comply with all laws, rules and regulations that are generally applicable to the
Company, its Subsidiaries and their employees, directors and officers.

 
(c) Base Salary and Benefits.

 
(i) Base Salary. During the Employment Period, the Executive’s base salary shall be in an amount set by the Board, but

under no circumstances will be less than $260,000 per annum (the “Base Salary”), which salary shall be paid by the Company in
regular installments in accordance with the Company’s general payroll practices and shall be subject to customary withholding.
On an annual basis, the Board shall review and determine the appropriateness of an increase in the Base Salary as in effect as of
the date of such review.

 
(ii) Benefits. During the Employment Period, in addition to the Base Salary payable to the Executive pursuant to Section

2(c)(i) hereof, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in the following employee benefit programs, plans and policies
(collectively, the “Benefits”):

 
(A) The employee benefit programs (including, but not limited to, option plans and benefit programs which provide

group pension, life and health insurance and other medical benefits) that the Company, with the approval of the Board,
now or hereafter makes available generally to its management as well as the employee benefits listed on Exhibit A hereto;
provided that any awards under any option plans shall be set by the Board, in its sole discretion;

 
(B) During calendar year 2005 and thereafter, the MIC Plan or any New MIC Plan, with any awards thereunder to be

set by the Board at a level of no less than a 55% target bonus (with the actual bonus ranging from 0% to 200% of such
target), it being understood and agreed that if the MIC Plan or a New MIC Plan is not in place during any calendar year,
the Executive will have substantially the same bonus opportunities as existed under the MIC Plan or a New MIC Plan
during the prior calendar year; and



(C) The Company’s Club Membership Policy (including without limitation payment of an initiation fee and the
monthly fees of a country club located in Oklahoma of the Executive’s choice).

 
(iii) Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for all reasonable and necessary business expenses incurred by

the Executive in performing his duties under this Agreement which are consistent with the Company’s policies in effect from time
to time with respect to travel, entertainment and other business expenses subject to the Company’s receipt of supporting
documentation in accordance with the Company’s customary reporting and documentation provisions.

 
(iv) One-Time Payment. The Company shall pay to the Executive the amount of $30,000 (less customary withholdings) as

consideration to Executive for entering into this Agreement.
 

(v) Relocation Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for the following expenses incurred by the Executive
in connection with the relocation of the Executive and his family to Tulsa, Oklahoma, subject to the Company’s receipt of
supporting documentation in accordance with the Company’s customary reporting and documentation provisions: (A) moving
expenses (limited to the lower of two bids obtained by the Executive from licensed household moving firms), (B) reasonable
expenses for transportation, meals and lodging for up to seven days for one round trip by the Executive and his family members in
order to search for a residence in Tulsa, Oklahoma, (C) reasonable expenses for transportation, meals and lodging incurred while
the Executive and his family members are in-transit to Tulsa, Oklahoma, (D) up to 90 days of reasonable temporary lodging and
meal expenses in the Tulsa, Oklahoma area prior to the Executive’s occupancy of a residence in such area, and (E) the following
expenses incurred in connection with any new home purchase in the Tulsa, Oklahoma area: (I) legal fees for the title search and
title opinion and representation at closing not to exceed the local prevailing rate, (II) state or local transfer taxes normally charged
to the buyer, (III) title insurance or abstracting fees, if required by the Executive’s lender, it being understood that title insurance
purchased for the benefit of the Executive is not reimbursable, (IV) recording fees, (V) credit report, and (VI) appraisal fees
charged by the Executive’s lender. The expenses provided for in this Section 2(c)(v) shall be subject to applicable federal and
state taxes.

 
(d) Term.

 
(i) This Agreement is an employment contract for a term of two (2) years beginning as of the Effective Date and ending on

the second anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Employment Term”). At the end of the Initial Employment Term, and at
the end of each Additional Employment Term (as herein defined), unless the Company (with the approval of the Board) has



provided the Executive with at least sixty (60) days advance written notice, so long as the Executive continues to be employed by
the Company, this employment contract shall automatically renew for a term of one (1) year (each such additional term, an
“Additional Employment Term”). The Initial Employment Term and each Additional Employment Term shall be referred to
herein as an “Employment Term.” Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Employment Term is subject to early termination (x) by
reason of the Executive’s death or Disability, (y) by resolution of the Board with or without Cause, or (z) upon the Executive’s
voluntary resignation with or without Good Reason. For all purposes under this Agreement, a delivery of a notice by the
Company to the Executive pursuant to this Section 2(d)(i) to avoid an Additional Employment Term shall be treated as if an
Employment Term has been terminated early by resolution of the Board without Cause.

 
(ii) The period of the Initial Employment Term together with each Additional Employment Term, if any, shall be referred to

herein as the “Employment Period.” Notwithstanding any termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company (such
termination, an “Employment Termination”), this Agreement shall remain a valid and enforceable contract between the parties,
including without limitation Sections 3, 4 and 5 hereof.

 
(e) Employment Termination.

 
(i) If any Employment Term is terminated early by resolution of the Board with Cause or by reason of the Executive’s

voluntary resignation without Good Reason, then the Executive shall be entitled to receive only all previously earned and accrued
but unpaid Base Salary and vacation time up to the date of the Employment Termination (and not any accrued but unpaid Bonus
as of the date of the Employment Termination).

 
(ii) If any Employment Term is terminated early by reason of the Executive’s death or Disability, then the Executive shall

be entitled to receive only (x) all previously earned and accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation time up to the date of the
Employment Termination, (y) if the date of the Employment Termination is 3 months after the commencement of a Bonus Year,
then a portion of the Bonus earned by the Executive during such Bonus Year in which such termination occurs determined on a
pro rated basis based on the number of days of the applicable Bonus Year prior to the date of the Employment Termination as
compared to the number of days in such Bonus Year, which payment will be made when such Bonus for such Bonus Year would
otherwise be payable and (z) any Bonus earned by the Executive during any Bonus Year which ended prior to the date of the
Employment Termination and which has not been paid as of such date, which payment will be made when such Bonus for such
Bonus Year would otherwise be payable.



(iii) If any Employment Term is terminated early by reason of the Executive’s voluntary resignation with Good Reason or
by resolution of the Board without Cause, then, subject to the last sentence of this section (iii), the Executive shall be entitled to
receive only the following: (v) all previously earned and accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation time up to the date of the
Employment Termination, (w) his Base Salary and the Benefits marked on Exhibit A with an “#” for the twelve-month period
beginning on the date of the Employment Termination; provided, however, that such twelve-month period shall be extended until
the date on which the Initial Employment Term would have ended if more than twelve months remained in the Initial
Employment Term on the date of the Employment Termination; provided, further, that in lieu of providing such benefits, the
Company may elect to pay to the Executive the cost of premiums for such benefits, (x) the Benefits referred to in Section 2(c)(ii)
(C) hereof for the three-month period beginning on the date of the Employment Termination, (y) if the date of the Employment
Termination is 3 months after the commencement of a Bonus Year, then a portion of the Bonus earned by the Executive during
such Bonus Year in which such termination occurs determined on a pro rated basis based on the number of days of the applicable
Bonus Year prior to the date of the Employment Termination as compared to the number of days in such Bonus Year, which
payment will be made when such Bonus for such Bonus Year would otherwise be payable and (z) any Bonus earned by the
Executive during any Bonus Year which ended prior to the date of the Employment Termination and which has not been paid as
of such date, which payment will be made when such Bonus for such Bonus Year would otherwise be payable. Notwithstanding
these payments or benefits, the period for which the Executive is entitled to health care continuation coverage under Section
4980B of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, shall begin to run on the date of the Executive’s termination. As a
condition to receiving any payments pursuant to this section 2(e)(iii), the Executive shall execute and deliver to the Company a
general release (with ancillary covenants not to sue and other similar standard provisions) of the Company and its Affiliates and
their respective officers, directors and employees from all claims of any kind whatsoever arising out of the Executive’s
employment or termination thereof (including without limitation, civil rights claims), in such form as reasonably requested by the
Company; provided, however, that the release will not affect any contractual rights the Executive may otherwise have under any
stock option plans of the Company or option agreements thereunder; and provided further that the release shall not apply to any
rights to which the Executive is entitled in accordance with plan provisions under any employee benefit plan or fringe benefit plan
or program of the Company and its Affiliates.

 
(iv) Except as expressly provided in this Section 2(e), the Executive hereby agrees that upon and after the Employment

Termination, no severance compensation of any kind, nature or amount (including by operation of law) shall be payable by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates to the Executive and the Executive hereby irrevocably waives any claim for
severance compensation of any kind, nature or amount (including by operation of law).

 
 



(v) Except as expressly provided in this Section 2(e), upon the Employment Termination, except as required by law, all of
the Executive’s rights to Benefits hereunder (if any) shall cease.

 
(vi) Subject to restrictive covenants contained in Section 5 hereof, the Executive may obtain other engagements or

employment after the date of an Employment Termination, and any compensation received or receivable by the Executive shall
not reduce any amounts which the Company is required to pay to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement.

 
3. Work Product. The Executive agrees that all inventions, drawings, improvements, developments, methods, processes, programs,

designs and all similar or related information which relates to the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ actual or anticipated business or
research and development or existing or future products or services and which are conceived, developed, contributed to or made by the
Executive (either solely or jointly with others) while employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (“Work Product”) shall be the
sole and exclusive property of the Company or any such Subsidiary. The Executive will promptly disclose such Work Product to the
Company and perform all actions requested by the Company (whether during or after employment) to establish and confirm such
ownership (including, without limitation, assignments, consents, powers of attorney and other instruments).
 

4. Confidential Information.
 

(a) The Executive acknowledges:
 

(i) That the Work Product, artificial intelligence systems, information, customer lists, goodwill, observations and data
disclosed to, developed by or obtained by him while employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries concerning the business
or affairs of the Company or any such Subsidiary (including without limitation the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ technology,
methods of doing business and supplier and customer information) (collectively, “Confidential Information”) are highly
confidential and uniquely valuable to the Company and its Subsidiaries;

 
(ii) That such Confidential Information is and shall continue to be the property of the Company or any such Subsidiary;

 
(iii) That the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has a proprietary interest in their respective Confidential Information,

including without limitation the identity of their respective customers and suppliers, solicited customers, customer and supplier
lists;



(iv) That the continued success of the Company and its Subsidiaries depends in large part on keeping the Confidential
Information from becoming known to competitors of the Company and its Subsidiaries; and

 
(v) That the Company and its Subsidiaries will be irreparably harmed by disclosure of any Confidential Information.

 
(b) Therefore, the Executive agrees:

 
(i) That, during his employment and for all times thereafter, except as required by law or court order, he shall not directly or

indirectly disclose to any unauthorized person or use for his own account any Confidential Information without the prior written
consent of the Company, unless and to the extent that the aforementioned matters become generally known to and available for
use by the public other than as a result of the Executive’s acts or omissions to act;

 
(ii) To use his best efforts and diligence to safeguard the Confidential Information and to protect it against disclosure,

misuse, espionage, loss or theft;
 

(iii) That upon the Employment Termination or at any other time the Company may request, for whatever reason, the
Executive shall deliver (and in the event of the Executive’s death or Disability, his representative shall deliver) to the Company
all computer equipment or backup files of or relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries, all memoranda, correspondence,
customer data, notes, plans, records, reports, manuals, photographs, computer tapes and software and other documents and data
(and copies thereof) relating to the Confidential Information, the Work Product or the business of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries which he may then possess or have under his control. If the Company requests, the Executive (or his representative)
agrees to provide written confirmation that the Executive has returned all such materials to the Company or one of its
Subsidiaries; and

 
(iv) That upon the Employment Termination or at any other time the Company may request, for whatever reason, the

Executive shall assign all rights, title and interest in the Confidential Information, the Work Product, all computer equipment or
backup files of or relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, all memoranda, correspondence, customer data, notes, plans,
records, reports, manuals, photographs, computer tapes and software and other documents and data (and copies thereof) relating to
the Confidential Information, the Work Product or the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which the Executive
may then possess, has under his control, or has ever developed, obtained, or contributed to during his tenure with the Company.



5. Noncompete, Nonsolicitation.
 

(a) The Executive agrees that, during the time he is employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and during any
applicable Post-Termination Period (as herein defined) (the “Noncompete Period”), he shall not directly or indirectly own, operate,
manage, control, participate in, consult with, advise, provide services for, or in any manner engage in any business (including by
himself or in association with any person, firm, corporate or other business organization or through any other entity) in competition
with, or potential competition with, the businesses of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as such businesses (the “Businesses”)
exist during the Executive’s employment by the Company, within the United States or any other geographical area in which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries engages or plans to engage in the Businesses (the “Geographical Area”). Nothing herein shall
prohibit the Executive from being a passive owner of not more than 2% of the outstanding stock of a corporation which is publicly
traded, so long as the Executive has no active participation in the business of such corporation. For purposes of this Section 5, “Post-
Termination Period” means the twelve (12) month period beginning on the Termination Date.

 
(b) During the Noncompete Period, the Executive shall not directly or indirectly through another entity (i) induce or attempt to

induce any employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to leave the employ of the Company or any such Subsidiary, or in any
way interfere with the relationship between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and any employee thereof, including without
limitation, inducing or attempting to induce any union, employee or group of employees to interfere with the business or operations of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) hire any person who was an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries at any
time during the Executive’s employment period, or (iii) induce or attempt to induce any customer, supplier, distributor, franchisee,
licensee or other business relation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to cease doing business with the Company or any such
Subsidiary, or in any way interfere with the relationship between any such customer, supplier, distributor, franchisee, licensee or
business relation and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

 
(c) The Executive agrees that: (i) the covenants set forth in this Section 5 are reasonable in geographical and temporal scope and

in all other respects, (ii) the Company would not have entered into this Agreement but for the covenants of the Executive contained
herein, and (iii) the covenants contained herein have been made in order to induce the Company to enter into this Agreement.

 
(d) If, at the time of enforcement of this Section 5, a court shall hold that the duration, scope or area restrictions stated herein are

unreasonable under circumstances then existing, the parties agree that the maximum duration, scope or area reasonable under such
circumstances shall be substituted for the stated duration, scope or area and that the court shall be allowed to revise the restrictions
contained herein to cover the maximum period, scope and area permitted by law.

 
(e) The Executive recognizes and affirms that in the event of his breach of any provision of this Section 5, money damages would

be inadequate and the Company



would have no adequate remedy at law. Accordingly, the Executive agrees that in the event of a breach or a threatened breach by the
Executive of any of the provisions of this Section 5, the Company, in addition and supplementary to other rights and remedies existing
in its favor, may apply to any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction for specific performance and/or injunctive or other relief
in order to enforce or prevent any violations of the provisions hereof (without posting a bond or other security).

 
6. Notices. All notices, demands or other communications to be given or delivered under or by reason of the provisions of this

Agreement shall be in writing and delivered personally, mailed by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid,
sent via a nationally recognized overnight courier, charges prepaid, or sent via facsimile. Such notices, demands and other communications
will be sent to the address indicated below:
 

To the Company:
 

Global Power Equipment Group Inc.
6120 South Yale, Suite 1480
Tulsa, OK 74136
Attention: Secretary
Facsimile No.: (918) 274-2367

 
To the Executive:

 
at the Executive’s last address or facsimile
number on the records of the Company

 
or such other address or to the attention of such other Person as the recipient party shall have specified by prior written notice to the
sending party; provided, that the failure to deliver copies of notices as indicated above shall not affect the validity of any notice. Any such
notice, demand or other communication shall be deemed to have been received (i) when delivered, if personally delivered, or sent by
nationally-recognized overnight courier or sent via facsimile or (ii) on the third business day following the date on which the piece of mail
containing such notice, demand or other communication is posted if sent by certified or registered mail.
 

7. Miscellaneous.
 

(a) Warranty by the Executive. The Executive represents and warrants to the Company that he is not a party to any agreement
containing a noncompetition provision or other restriction with respect to (i) the nature of any services or business which he is entitled
to perform or conduct for the Company under this Agreement, or (ii) the disclosure or use of any information which directly or
indirectly relates to the nature of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the services to be rendered by the Executive
under this Agreement.

 
(b) Severability. If any provision or clause of this Agreement, or portion thereof shall be held by any court or other tribunal of

competent jurisdiction to be illegal,



invalid, or unenforceable in such jurisdiction, the remainder of such provision shall not be thereby affected and shall be given full
effect, without regard to the invalid portion. It is the intention of the parties that, if any court construes any provision or clause of this
Agreement, or any portion thereof, to be illegal, void or unenforceable because of the duration of such provision or the area matter
covered thereby, such court shall reduce the duration, area, or matter of such provision, and, in its reduced form, such provision shall
then be enforceable and shall be enforced.

 
(c) Complete Agreement. This Agreement shall embody the complete agreement and understanding among the Executive, the

Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries and supersedes and preempts any prior understandings, agreements or representations by or
among such parties, written or oral, which may have related to the subject matter hereof in any way. This Agreement does not
supersede any agreements evidencing the grant of options to the Executive under the Company’s 2001 Option Plan or any future option
plan of the Company.

 
(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an original and all of

which taken together constitute one and the same agreement.
 

(e) Successors and Assigns, Transfer. This Agreement is intended to bind and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the
Executive and the Company and their respective successors, heirs and assigns.

 
(f) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware,

without giving effect to any rules, principles or provisions of choice of law or conflict of laws.
 

(g) Remedies. The Company and the Executive will be entitled to enforce its or his respective rights under this Agreement
specifically, to recover damages and costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) caused by any breach of any provision of
this Agreement and to exercise all other rights existing in its or his favor. The parties hereto agree and acknowledge that the Company
will suffer irreparable harm and money damages may not be an adequate remedy for any breach of the provisions of this Agreement by
the Executive and that the Company may in its sole discretion apply to any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction (without
posting any bond or deposit) for specific performance and/or other injunctive relief in order to enforce or prevent any violations of the
provisions of this Agreement.

 
(h) Amendment and Waiver. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended and waived only with the prior written consent of

the Company (with the approval of the Board) and the Executive.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.
 

GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name: Larry Edwards
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Reynolds Alain Brousseau

Reynolds Alain Brousseau



Exhibit A
 

Benefits Schedule
 

Reynolds Alain Brousseau
 
# Medical Insurance
# Dental Insurance

Short Term Disability
Long Term Disability
Salary Continuation*

# Life Insurance
Accidental Death & Dismemberment

# Travel Accident Insurance
9 Paid Holidays Per Year
4 Weeks Paid Vacation Per Year
Profit Sharing Plan
401(k) Plan
Flexible Benefit Plan
Preparation of Annual Taxes

* If disabled, the Company would pay the difference between his regular salary and the benefit Short Term Disability would pay for up
to six months
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WAIVER AND SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
 

This WAIVER AND SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of March 14, 2005, is by
and among GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), certain borrowing subsidiaries of
the Company party hereto (each a “Designated Borrower” and, together with the Company, the “Borrowers”), each subsidiary of the
Company party to the Subsidiary Guaranty (as defined below), each Lender (as defined below) party hereto, and BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer (the “Administrative Agent”). Capitalized terms used herein and not
otherwise defined shall have the meaning assigned such term in the Credit Agreement (as defined below).
 

RECITALS:
 

A. The Borrowers, the lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”), the Administrative Agent, US Bank National
Association, as Syndication Agent, and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as Managing Agent, are parties to that certain Credit Agreement, dated as
of October 1, 2004, (as amended by and together with this Amendment, the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November
23, 2004, and as otherwise amended or modified to the date hereof the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized terms used herein but not defined
herein shall have the meaning given such terms in the Credit Agreement).
 

B. The Subsidiary Guarantors and the Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, dated as of
October 1, 2004 (as amended to the date hereof, the “Subsidiary Guaranty”), and the Company and the Administrative Agent are parties to
that certain Company Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2004 (as amended to the date hereof, the “Company Guaranty”).
 

C. The Borrowers have requested that the Lenders (a) waive compliance with the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
pursuant to Section 7.17(c) of the Credit Agreement for the period ending March 31, 2005, as hereinafter set forth (the “Limited Fixed
Charge Coverage Waiver”), (b) modify the terms of the Maximum Consolidated Senior Leverage Ratio and Maximum Consolidated
Leverage Ratio in clauses (a) and (b), respectively, of Section 7.17 of the Credit Agreement and (c) agree to an increase in the Letter of
Credit Sublimit to $75,000,000.
 

D. The Lenders are, on the terms and conditions stated below, willing to enter into this Amendment and grant the Limited Fixed
Charge Coverage Waiver.
 

E. The parties hereto have agreed to amend the Credit Agreement as set forth below.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as
follows:
 

SECTION 1.01 Limited Fixed Charge Coverage Waiver. Effective as of the Amendment Effective Date, the undersigned Lenders
hereby waive compliance with the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio requirement set forth in Section 7.17(c) of the Credit
Agreement solely for the period ending March 31, 2005.



SECTION 1.02 Amendments to Credit Agreement.
 

(a) Amendment to Section 1.01. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of “Applicable
Rate” in its entirety and replacing it with the following definition:
 

“Applicable Rate” means, from time to time, the following percentages per annum, based upon the Consolidated Leverage Ratio
as set forth in the most recent Compliance Certificate received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.02(b):

 
APPLICABLE RATE

 

Pricing Level

  

Consolidated
Leverage

Ratio

  

Eurocurrency
Rate Loans and
Letters of Credit

  

Base Rate
Loans and Swing

Line Loans

  

Commitment
Fees

 
I

  

Greater than or
equal to 2.50 to 1.00   

2.75%
 

1.00%
 

.50%

II

  

Greater than or
equal to 2.00 to 1.00
but less than 2.50 to
1.00   

2.50%

 

.75%

 

.50%

III

  

Less than 2.00 to
1.00 but greater than
or equal to 1.50 to
1.00   

2.25%

 

.50%

 

.50%

IV

  

Less than 1.50 to
1.00 but greater than
or equal to 1.00 to
1.00   

2.00%

 

.25%

 

.375%

V
  

Less than 1.00 to
1.00   

1.75%
 

0%
 

.35%

 
provided, however, that if at any time the Consolidated Leverage Ratio as set forth in the most recent Compliance Certificate

received by the Administrative Agent is greater than 4.00 to 1.00, then the Applicable Rate shall mean the percentage per annum set
forth in Pricing Level I plus .50% with respect to Eurocurrency Rate Loans, Letters of Credit, Base Rate Loans and Swing Line Loans.

 
Any increase or decrease in the Applicable Rate resulting from a change in the Consolidated Leverage Ratio shall become

effective as of the third Business Day immediately following the date a Compliance Certificate is delivered pursuant to Section
6.02(b); provided, however, that if a Compliance Certificate is not



delivered when due in accordance with such Section 6.02(b), then Pricing Level I (or, if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio set forth on
the most recently delivered Compliance Certificate was greater than 4.00 to 1.00, Pricing Level I plus .50% with respect to Loans) will
be applicable until the date three Business Days after the appropriate Compliance Certificate is delivered, whereupon the Applicable
Rate shall be adjusted based on the information contained in the Compliance Certificate. The Applicable Rate in effect during the
period from the Closing Date until the initial quarterly Compliance Certificate is delivered shall be determined based upon Pricing
Level V.

 
(b) Amendment to Section 1.01. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of “Letter of

Credit Sublimit” in its entirety and replacing it with the following definition:
 

“Letter of Credit Sublimit” means an amount equal to the lesser of (a) $75,000,000 and (b) the Revolving Commitments. The
Letter of Credit Sublimit is part of, and not in addition to, the Revolving Commitments.

 
(c) Amendment to Section 7.17(a). Section 7.17(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following new

Section 7.17(a) is inserted in replacement thereof
 

(a) Maximum Consolidated Senior Leverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Senior Leverage Ratio of the Company and its
Consolidated Subsidiaries at any time during (but measured on the last day of) any Four-Quarter Period ending during the periods set
forth below to be greater than the ratios for such periods set forth below; provided, however, that for the period from the Closing Date
through December 31, 2005, the Consolidated Senior Leverage Ratio of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries may be up to
3.00 to 1.00 for no more than two consecutive fiscal quarters during such period..

 
From the Closing Date through September 30, 2005   2.00 to 1.00

From October 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005   1.75 to 1.00

From January 1, 2006 and thereafter   1.50 to 1.00
 

(d) Amendment to Section 7.17(b). Section 7.17(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following new
Section 7.17(b) is inserted in replacement thereof:
 

(b) Maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Leverage Ratio of the Company and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries at any time



during (but measured on the last day of) any Four-Quarter Period ending during the periods set forth below to be greater than the ratios
for such periods set forth below; provided, however, that for the period from the Closing Date through December 31, 2005, the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries may be up to 5.75 to 1.00 for no more than two
consecutive fiscal quarters during such period.

 
From the Closing Date through December 31, 2005  3.50 to 1.00
From January 1, 2006 through June 30 2006  3.25 to 1.00
From July 1, 2006 through December 31, 2006  3.00 to 1.00
From January 1, 2007 and thereafter  2.75 to 1.00

 
SECTION 1.03 Representations and Warranties. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants to each Lender and the

Administrative Agent, on the Amendment Effective Date (as hereinafter defined), as follows:
 

(a) After giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and warranties set forth in Article V of the Credit Agreement and in
each other Loan Document, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Amendment
Effective Date with the same effect as if made on and as of the date hereof or the Amendment Effective Date, as the case may be, except to
the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an early date.
 

(b) No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
 

(c) The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrowers and each other Loan Party of this Amendment has been duly
authorized by the Borrowers and each other Loan Party, as applicable and there is no action pending or any judgment, order or decree in
effect which is likely to restrain, prevent or impose materially adverse conditions upon the performance by each Borrower or any other
Loan Party of its obligations under the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents.
 

(d) This Amendment constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of each Loan Party, enforceable against each such Loan Party
in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium,
reorganization or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights or by the effect of general equitable principles.
 

(e) The execution, delivery and performance by each Loan Party of this Amendment do not and will not conflict with, or constitute a
violation or breach of, or result in the imposition



of any Lien upon the property of each Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, by reason of the terms of (i) any contract, mortgage, lease,
agreement, indenture, or instrument to which such Loan Party is a party or which is binding upon it, (ii) any Requirement of Law applicable
to any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iii) the certificate or articles of incorporation or by-laws or the limited liability company or
limited partnership agreement, or analogous organizational document, of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries.
 

SECTION 1.04 Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective only upon satisfaction of the following conditions precedent
(the first date upon which each such condition has been satisfied being herein called the “Amendment Effective Date”):
 

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received duly executed counterparts of this Amendment which, when taken together, bear the
authorized signatures of the Borrowers, the Subsidiary Guarantors, the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders.
 

(b) The Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders shall be satisfied that the representations and warranties set forth in Section
1.03 of this Amendment are true and correct on and as of the Amendment Effective Date and that no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing on and as of the Amendment Effective Date.
 

(c) The Administrative Agent shall have received all fees and expenses to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to Section 1.05 of this
Amendment.
 

(d) The Administrative Agent shall have received such other documents, legal opinions, instruments and certificates relating to this
Amendment as it shall reasonably request and such other documents, legal opinions, instruments and certificates that shall be reasonably
satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders. All corporate proceedings taken or to be taken in
connection with this Amendment and documents incidental thereto whether or not referred to herein shall be reasonably satisfactory in form
and substance to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.
 

SECTION 1.05 Fees and Expenses.
 

(a) The Company shall pay to the Administrative Agent for its own account a fee in connection with this arrangement of this
Amendment as set forth in that certain letter agreement dated as of the date hereof among the Company, the Administrative Agent and
Banc of America Securities LLC.
 

(b) The Company shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of each Lender that executes and delivers this
Amendment as of the date hereof a fee equal to .25% of the sum of (x) such Lender’s Revolving Commitment and (y) such Lender’s
outstanding Term Loans, such fee to be paid within two Business Days of the Amendment Effective Date.
 

(c) The Borrower shall pay all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Administrative Agent in connection with the
preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Amendment, including, but not limited to, the reasonable fees and disbursements of
counsel to the Administrative Agent.



SECTION 1.06 Cross-References. References in this Amendment to any Section are, unless otherwise specified, to such Section of
this Amendment.
 

SECTION 1.07 Instrument Pursuant to Credit Agreement. This Amendment is a Loan Document executed pursuant to the Credit
Agreement and shall (unless otherwise expressly indicated herein) be construed, administered and applied in accordance with the terms and
provisions of the Credit Agreement.
 

SECTION 1.08 Further Acts. Each of the parties to this Amendment agrees that at any time and from time to time upon the written
request of any other party, it will execute and deliver such further documents and do such further acts and things as such other party may
reasonably request in order to effect the purposes of this Amendment.
 

SECTION 1.09 Governing Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE INTERPRETED AND THE RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF
THE PARTIES HERETO DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK;
PROVIDED THAT THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS SHALL RETAIN ALL RIGHTS ARISING UNDER FEDERAL LAW.
 

SECTION 1.10 Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto in
separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and
the same instrument.
 

SECTION 1.11 Severability. In case any provision in or obligation under this Amendment or the other Loan Documents shall be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of
such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
 

SECTION 1.12 Benefit of Agreement. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the
respective successors and assigns of the parties hereto; provided that the Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its interest hereunder
without the prior written consent of the Lenders.
 

SECTION 1.13 Integration. This Amendment represents the agreement of the Borrowers, the Subsidiary Guarantors, the
Administrative Agent and each of the Lenders signatory hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and there are no promises,
undertakings, representations or warranties relative to the subject matter hereof not expressly set forth or referred to herein or in the other
Loan Documents.
 

SECTION 1.14 Confirmation. Except as expressly amended by the terms hereof, all of the terms of the Credit Agreement and the
other Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. Each Subsidiary
Guarantor ratifies and confirms the Subsidiary Guaranty as in full force and effect after giving effect to this Amendment. The Company
ratifies and confirms the Company Guaranty as in full force and effect after giving effect to this Amendment



SECTION 1.15 Loan Documents. Except as expressly set forth herein, the amendments provided herein shall not by implication or
otherwise limit, constitute a waiver of, or otherwise affect the rights and remedies of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent under the
Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, nor shall they constitute a waiver of any Event of Default, nor shall they alter, modify,
amend or in any way affect any of the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any
other Loan Document. Each of the amendments provided herein shall apply and be effective only with respect to the provisions of the
Credit Agreement specifically referred to by such amendments. Except as expressly amended herein, the Credit Agreement and the other
Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the provisions thereof. As used in the Credit Agreement, the
terms “Agreement”, “herein”, “hereinafter”, “hereunder”, “hereto” and words of similar import shall mean, from and after the date hereof,
the Credit Agreement.
 

(Signature Pages Follow)



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused a counterpart of this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered
as of the date first above written.
 

BORROWERS AND GUARANTORS:

GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a
Delaware corporation

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

DELTAK, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability
company

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chief Executive Officer

BRADEN MANUFACTURING, L.L.C., a Delaware
limited liability company

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chief Executive Officer

DELTAK CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC., a
Wisconsin corporation

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chief Executive Officer

BRADEN CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC., a
Delaware corporation

By:
 
/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chief Executive Officer



GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES,
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chief Executive Officer

WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP,
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company

By:
 

/s/ Larry Edwards

Name:
 

Larry Edwards

Title:
 

Chief Executive Officer

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND LENDERS:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative
Agent and as a Lender

By:
 

/s/ Michael D. Earl

Name:
 

Michael D. Earl

Title:
 

Senior Vice President

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Lender

By:
 

/s/ Peter I. Bystol

Name:
 

Peter I. Bystol

Title:
 

Assistant Vice President



BANK OF OKLAHOMA, N.A., as a Lender

By:
 

/s/ Jamey C. Webb

Name:
 

Jamey C. Webb

Title:
 

Assistant Vice President

CITICORP NORTH AMERICA INC., as a Lender

By:
 

/s/ Cornelius P. Mahon

Name:
 

Cornelius P. Mahon

Title:
 

Vice President

M&I MARSHALL & ILSLEY BANK, as a Lender

By:
 

/s/ Ronald J. Carey

Name:
 

Ronald J. Carey

Title:
 

Vice President

By:
 

/s/ Thomas F. Bickelhaupt

Name:
 

Thomas F. Bickelhaupt

Title:
 

Vice President
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GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. – PLAN YEAR 2005
MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

 
SECTION 1 - PURPOSE

 
The Global Power Equipment Group Inc. (“Company”) Management Incentive Compensation Plan is designed to motivate and to reward
key personnel who contribute materially to the economic profit of the Company and thereby to aid the Company in attracting, retaining and
motivating personnel. The Company recognizes the important contribution of its employees to its success and adopts this Plan to reward
such contributions and sustain the incentive for making such contributions in the future.
 

SECTION 2 - DEFINITIONS
 
As used herein:
 
1. “Base Salary” shall mean the aggregate amount of wages and/or salary (but excluding any bonus, disability pay or severance pay)

earned by a Participant during the applicable Plan Year in which the Participant was eligible to participate in the Plan, determined in
accordance with Section 3 hereof.

 
2. “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.
 
3. “Bonus” shall mean the amount of incentive compensation earned by a Participant, determined in accordance with Section 4 hereof.
 
4. “Cause” shall mean fraud, dishonesty, and acts of gross negligence in the course of employment, material misrepresentation to

stockholders and directors of the Company or the commission of a felony.
 
5. “Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee appointed in accordance with Paragraph 1 of Section 6 of the Plan.
 
6. “Company” shall mean Global Power Equipment Group Inc.
 
7. “Disability” shall have the same meaning as such term or similar term as defined in the disability insurance policy maintained by the

Company which covers the Participant at the time of the alleged disability, or in the event the Company maintains more than one
disability insurance policy which covers the Participant at such time, the meaning in the disability policy most recently acquired by the
Company. If the Company maintains no such disability insurance policy at such time, “Disability” shall mean a mental or physical
impairment or illness, which, in the judgment of the President of the Company, totally and presumably permanently prevents the
individual from fully completing his normal job responsibilities for the Company.



8. “Participant” shall mean any officer or employee of the Company designated by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors as eligible to participate in the Plan.

 
9. “Plan” shall mean this Global Power Equipment Group Inc. Management Incentive Compensation Plan, as in effect from time to time.
 
10. “Year” shall mean the calendar year.
 
11. “EBITDA” shall mean Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization.
 

SECTION 3 - ELIGIBILITY
 
1. Individuals eligible to receive a Bonus pursuant to this Plan shall be such employees of the Company as the Compensation Committee

of the Board of Directors shall at any time designate. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall also designate the
classification level at which each eligible individual shall participate. In deciding who shall be eligible for participation in the Plan and
at which classification level an individual shall participate, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall be guided by
the principle that the Participants shall be employees whose area of responsibility provides them with a substantial opportunity to
significantly affect economic profit of the company or provides them with an opportunity to significantly influence the long-term
growth of the financial performance of the Company.

 
2. If a Participant’s employment with the Company terminates prior to the end of a Year as a result of termination by the Company for

Cause, the Participant shall forfeit any Bonus to which he may become entitled according to the Plan for the then current Year. If a
Participant’s employment with the Company terminates prior to the end of a Year as a result of voluntary termination by the
Participant, the Participant shall forfeit any Bonus to which he may become entitled according to the Plan for the then current Year. If a
Participant’s employment with the Company is terminated prior to the end of a Year by the Company without cause or if a Participant’s
employment with the Company terminates prior to the end of a Year as a result of his Death or Disability, the Participant shall be
entitled to receive a Bonus for the Year based upon the Base Salary earned by the Participant prior to termination. If a Participant’s
employment with the Company is terminated prior to the end of a Year as a result of his Retirement, the Participant shall be entitled to
receive a Bonus for the Year based upon the Base Salary earned by the Participant prior to his Retirement.

 
3. Any issues of eligibility not covered by the above will be determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors at the

time they arise.



SECTION 4 - DETERMINATION OF AMOUNT OF BONUS
 
The determination of the amount of bonus will be based on:
 

 

1. The individual participation level is outlined in your notification of participation in the Global Power Equipment Group Inc.
Management Incentive Compensation (MIC) plan. The participation level is based upon a target Bonus, with the actual Bonus
ranging from 0% (minimum) to 200% of target (maximum). For instance, if your participation level is defined as 10% then the
Bonus range is from 0% to 20%.

 
 

2. Actual Economic profit will be calculated at the end of the year as follows: Economic profit (EP) = Earnings Before Interest &
Taxes (EBIT) – (Capital Employed x 20%). See Attachment A for further details.

 

 
3. Economic Profit will be calculated for each individual based upon performance for the specific entity as outlined in the

Participant notification letter. For example, this will be calculated on the performance of either Global Power Equipment Group
Inc., Braden Manufacturing, LLC and CFI combined, or Deltak, LLC (as noted in your participation letter).

 

 
4. Actual Economic Profit will be compared to the Target Economic Profit as shown on the Award schedule, resulting in a payout

ranging from 0% (minimum) to 200% of target (maximum), subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4 (5), below. See
Attachment B for further details.

 

 

5. The final calculated Bonus would then be subject to adjustment due to a company-wide Global Power limitation, whereby total
Global Power (and subsidiaries) Bonuses (including MIC, Sales Bonuses, Profit Sharing and other Bonuses) cannot exceed 8% of
Global Power Equipment Group Inc. EBITDA. Each Participant’s payment amount will be reduced, if necessary, by an
appropriate amount, proportionate or prorata with/to the total adjustment made to overall bonus compensation, to comply with
this limitation.

 
SECTION 5 - PAYMENT OF BONUS

 
1. The Company shall pay the Bonus to the Participant as soon as practicable after its calculation, but in no event later than March 15 of

the Year following the Year to which it relates. The Bonus Payment shall be paid by payroll check (with applicable withholdings
deducted).



2. If a Participant’s employment with the Company terminates prior to the end of a Year, his eligibility to receive the Bonus shall be
determined in accordance with Section 3 hereof.

 
3. If a Participant is not living at the time his Bonus is payable to him in accordance with this Plan, any Bonus which would have been

payable to him shall be paid to the beneficiary, if any, designated in writing by the Participant, or if none, to his estate. A Participant
may at any time revoke or change his beneficiary by filing written notice of such revocation or change with the Company.

 
SECTION 6 - ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

 
1. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall direct the administration of the Plan.
 
2. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall have full power to amend, modify, rescind, construe and interpret the

Plan. Any action taken or decision made by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors arising out of, or in connection
with the construction, administration, interpretation or effect of the Plan or of any rules and regulations adopted thereunder shall be
conclusive and binding upon all Participants and all persons claiming under or through a Participant.

 
3. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may rely upon any information supplied to it by any officer of the Company

or by the Company’s independent public accountants and may rely on the advice of such accountants or of counsel in connection with
the administration of the Plan and shall be fully protected in relying upon such information or advice.

 
4. No employee, officer of the Company or member of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall have any liability for

any decision or action if made or done in good faith and the Company shall indemnify each director, employee, and officer of the
Company acting in good faith pursuant to this Plan against any loss or expense arising therefrom.

 
5. Nothing in this Plan shall be construed or interpreted as giving any employee the right to be retained by the Company or impair the

right of the Company to control its employees or to terminate the services of any employee at any time.
 
6. Delaware State law shall determine and govern the validity and construction of this Plan in all respects. If any term or condition herein

conflicts with applicable law, the validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby.



7. This Plan shall (a) be effective as of January 1, 2005; (b) replace and supersede any and all prior versions hereof or other incentive
bonus plans of the Company for employees of the Company; and (c) continue in effect until terminated by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors or in accordance with its terms.

 
8. This Plan shall not create any rights of future participation herein.
 
9. No person eligible to receive any payment shall have any rights to pledge, assign or otherwise dispose of all or any portion of such

payments, either directly or by operation of law, including but not by way of limitation, execution, levy, garnishment, attachment,
pledge or bankruptcy.

 
10. The Company shall have the right to deduct for the payment of a Bonus hereunder any federal, state or local taxes required by law to be

withheld with respect to such distribution.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Global Power Equipment Group Inc. Management Incentive Compensation Plan
to be signed by its duly authorized Senior Vice President, effective January 1, 2005.
 

GLOBAL POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.

By
 

/s/ John Matheson

  John Matheson
  Senior Vice President

Date January 1, 2005



Exhibit 10.36
 

2004 Board of Directors Compensation
 
Employee directors and directors who are affiliated with Harvest Partners, Inc., an affiliate of the Company’s largest stockholder, receive
no additional compensation for service on the Board of Directors or any committee thereof. Non-employee directors who are not affiliated
with Harvest Partners, Inc. (“Outside Directors”) received an annual retainer as well as compensation for service on a board committee, and
if applicable, service as a committee chairman during fiscal 2004 and will continue to receive compensation in 2005 as indicated in the
following table.
 

Annual Retainer

 

Committee Member
Annual Retainer

 

Committee Chairman
Additional Annual Retainer

$30,000  $10,000 - $12,500  $2,500
 
Outside Directors are also eligible to receive awards under the stock plans maintained by the Company. During fiscal 2004, Adrian W.
Doherty Jr., Ed Hotard, Jerry E. Ryan and Bengt Sohlen were each granted non-qualified stock options to purchase 20,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $9.76 per share (being the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant) under the
Company’s 2004 Incentive Stock Plan. Options vest in one-third increments each year, commencing 12 months from the date of grant. In
addition, all directors are reimbursed by the Company for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in connection with their service on the
Board of Directors and any committee thereof.
 



Exhibit 21.1
 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
 
Deltak, L.L.C. (Delaware)
 
Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C. (Delaware)
 
Deltak Construction Services, Inc. (Wisconsin)
 
Braden Construction Services, Inc. (Delaware)
 
Global Power Equipment Group International (Cayman Islands)
 
Deltak B.V. (Netherlands)
 
Braden-Europe B.V. (Netherlands)
 
Braden Manufacturing, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico)
 
CFI Mexicana, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico)
 
Global Power Equipment Group Brazil (Brazil)
 
Deltak Israel Ltd. (Israel)
 
Nanjing Deltak Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (China) (51%)
 
Shenzhen Deltak Energy Systems Co. Ltd. (People’s Republic of China) (60%)
 
Global Power Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (People’s Republic of China)
 
Global Power Asia Limited (Hong Kong)
 
Deltak Power Equipment (China) Co. Ltd. (People’s Republic of China) (90%)
 



Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-64510; 333-100926 and 333-
121198) and Form S-3 (Nos. 333-115507 and 333-121585) of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. of our report dated March 11, 2005
relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 15, 2005
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

I, Larry Edwards, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Global Power Equipment Group Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 15, 2005

/s/ Larry Edwards

Larry Edwards
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
 

Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

I, James P. Wilson, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Global Power Equipment Group Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 15, 2005

/s/ James P. Wilson

James P. Wilson
Chief Financial Officer and
Vice President of Finance



Exhibit 32.1
 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
In connection with the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. (the “ Company”) as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry Edwards, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 

1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
and

 
 

2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

 
/s/ Larry Edwards

Larry Edwards
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 2005



Exhibit 32.2
 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
In connection with the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, of Global Power Equipment Group Inc. (the “ Company”) as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James P. Wilson, Chief Financial Officer and
Vice President of Finance of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:
 
 

1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
and

 
 

2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

 
/s/ James P. Wilson

James P. Wilson
Chief Financial Officer and
Vice President of Finance
March 15, 2005
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